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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes forward-looking statementshimitthe meaning of Section 21E of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934, as amended, which are sulgjebtt
“safe harbor” created in Section 21E. In particuséatements about our expectations, beliefs, ptajectives or assumptions of future events ofoperance are
contained or incorporated by reference in this regdl statements other than statements of histbffiacts contained herein are forward-lookingestants. We have
based these forward-looking statements on our guengectations about future events. While we belibese expectations are reasonable, forwarddgaktatements
are inherently subject to risks and uncertaintigany of which are beyond our control. Our actuaules may differ materially from those suggestedh®sse forward-
looking statements for various reasons, includimasé discussed in this report under the headingk‘Ractors.” Given these risks and uncertainties,are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on our forward-loolstegements. The forward-looking statements includedlis report are made only as of the date heidfefdo not
undertake, and specifically decline, any obligatmmupdate any of these statements or to publimhpance the results of any revisions to any forwaotting statements
to reflect future events or developments. When uséide report, unless otherwise indicated, “we&lit”, “us”, the “Company” and “BioCryst” refer toi@Cryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Our Business

We are a biotechnology company that designs, opgisnand develops novel small molecule drugs tlakikey enzymes involved in the pathogenesis afadiss.
We focus on the treatment of rare diseases in wdigifificant unmet medical needs exist and aligth wur capabilities and expertise. We integratedileiplines of
biology, crystallography, medicinal chemistry amsinputer modeling to discover and develop small swéepharmaceuticals through the process knowtrastsre-
guided drug design. Structure-guided drug designdeug discovery approach by which we design stitttompounds from detailed structural knowledgjghe active
sites of enzyme targets associated with partiaiases. We use X-ray crystallography, computetetig of molecular structures and advanced cheyristhniques
to focus on the three-dimensional molecular stmeéc&nd active site characteristics of the enzymmatsdontrol cellular biology. Enzymes are proteirat act as catalysts
for many vital biological reactions. Our goal gaaibris to design a compound that will fit in thetiae site of an enzyme and thereby prevent italgét activity.
Molecules from our discovery efforts which are coenamally available or that are in development amasarized in the table below:

Therapeutic
Area(s) Phase Rights
Acute uncomplicated Influenz: Approved BioCryst (worldwide, except Jape

Drug/Drug Candidat
RAPIVAB ™

Drug Class
Intravenous Neuraminidase Inhibit

(peramivir injection) us) Taiwan, Korea and Israel)
RAPIACTA ® Intravenous Neuraminidase Inhibit Uncomplicated season Approved Shionogi
(peramivir injection, influenza (Japan) (Japan & Taiwan)
PERAMIFLU ® Intravenous Neuraminidase Inhibitor Uncomplicated seasonal Approved Green Cross
(peramivir injection, influenza (Korea) (Korea)
BCX4161 Oral Serine Protease Inhibitor Targeting Kallikr Hereditary angioeden Phase : BioCryst

(“HAE") (worldwide)

BCX7353 and other 24
generation HAE compoun

BCX4430

Forodesine

Oral Serine Protease Inhibitors Targeting Kallikr¢t AE

(intended to be once-daily treatments)

RNA dependel-RNA Polymerase Inhibitc

Filoviruses, including Ebol
and Marburg viruse

Oral Purine Nucleoside Phosphorylase Inhibitor Oncology

Preclinica BioCryst
(worldwide)

Phase ! BioCryst

(worldwide)

Phase 2 Mundipharma
(worldwide)




Business Strategy

Our business strategy is to create shareholdeewldocusing our discovery and development effont®ral drugs for rare diseases for which a sicgmit unmet
medical need exists. We select disease targetpraddct candidates in which a small molecule waifdr a significant benefit over existing produotsvould be the
first to market. We strive to advance our prodatdidate portfolio from discovery to commercial keds efficiently by utilizing a small group of taled and highly-
skilled employees working in conjunction with segit outsource partners. BioCryst is unique imfiproach to treat orphan diseases with small migeauilizing
crystallography and structure-guided drug desidre principal elements of our strategy are:

¢ Focusing on High Vali-Added Structur-Guided Drug Design TechnologieWe utilize structur-guided drug design in order to most efficiently eleyp
new therapeutic candidates. Structure-guided desggd is a process by which we design a produdtidate through detailed analysis of the enzyme
target, which the product candidate must inhibibider to stop the progression of the diseasesordier. We believe that structure-guided drug delsig
powerful tool for the efficient development of sirmmlolecule product candidates that have the patetttibe safe and effective. Our structure-guideyd
design technologies typically allow us to desigd apnthesize multiple product candidates that ibtiile same enzyme target, with the goal of ethirlg
broad patent protection and formulating compounitls @ompetitive advantage

«  Selecting Inhibitors that are Promising Product @atates We start by selecting disease targets with welleusihod biology and characteristics that fit
with our ability to utilize structure-guided drugsign capabilities to build potent and specificyene inhibitors. Next, we narrow our selection afgh
product candidates based on product characteristicd as initial indications of safety and biotogctivity on the targe

«  Developing our Product Candidates EfficienAn important element of our business strategy efficiently progress our product candidates thtotie
development process. In order to accomplish thisstrive for disease targets with a defined cliréeal regulatory pathway for approval. In additiom,
control fixed costs and overhead by outsourcindp witategic partners and contractors or enteritglicense agreements with third parties, includimg
U.S. Government. We maintain a streamlined corpdrdtastructure that focuses our expertise. Bytremting with the U.S. Government and outsourcing
certain aspects of our operations, we are ablertral overhead costs and focus financial resoullzestly where they provide the most benefit agduce
our business rist

We are a Delaware corporation originally founded®86. Our corporate headquarters is located & Eb@peror Blvd., Suite 200, Durham, North Carol7d03
and the corporate telephone number is (919) 852-1B@& more information about us, please visitwabsite at www.biocryst.com. The information on aabsite is
not incorporated into this Form 10-K.

RAPIVAB (peramivir injection)

Peramivir is an intravenous neuraminidase inhitafgeroved in multiple countries for the treatmeipatients with influenza, most recently in the tédi States as
RAPIVAB. Influenza is a seasonal virus with theltegt infection rates generally observed in coldentms. Intravenous (“i.v.”) peramivir injection halso been
approved in Japan (RAPIACTR) and Korea (PERAMIFLLP). In the countries for which peramivir is commailyi available, influenza occurs primarily durirget
September to April timeframe.

RAPIVAB was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Adstration (“FDA") on December 19, 2014 for theatment of acute uncomplicated influenza in patients
18 years and older who have been symptomatic fonore than two days. In December 2013, we subméttdéw Drug Application (“NDA”) which contained dat
from over 2,700 subjects treated with peramivi2 hclinical trials. We have made RAPIVAB availalide commercial sale through agreements with spigcial
distributorships during the 2014-2015 influenzassea Our current focus is to obtain a stock-pifimgcurement contract with the U.S. Government &ize the
strategic value of this program.

RAPIVAB was developed under a $234.8 million cocttfaom the Biomedical Advanced Research and Dgveént Authority within the United States
Department of Health and Human Services (“BARDA/HK & hich expired on June 30, 2014. See “Collabores and In-License Relationships—BARDA/HHBElow
for a further discussion of this development casttra

In January 2010, our partner Shionogi & Co., Lt8h{onogi”) received the first approval for perainiwmjection and launched it in Japan under the iw@mcial
name RAPIACTA® . It was initially approved for the treatment ofiétd with uncomplicated seasonal influenza, as athose at high-risk for complications associated
with influenza. In October 2010, Shionogi receiagbroval for an additional indication to treat dnéin and infants with influenza in Japan. In Aug2@t0, Green Crot
Corporation (“Green Cross”) received marketing amahufacturing approval from the Korean Food & DAdministration under the commercial name PERAMIFRU
to treat patients with influenza A & B viruses, liting pandemic H1IN1 and avian influenza. In additiwe have a regional collaboration for the dewelent and
commercialization of peramivir in Israel.




Hereditary Angioedema Drug Candidates

BCX4161 BCX4161 is our most advanced HAE product candidatesuite of molecules being developed as oratrments for the prevention of hereditary
angioedema (“HAE"gttacks. BCX4161 is positioned to be the first pralphylactic kallikrein inhibitor for the preveoti of HAE attacks. BCX4161 is a novel, selec
inhibitor of plasma kallikrein in development asamally-administered treatment for the preventibattacks in patients with HAE. By inhibiting plasrkallikrein,
BCX4161 suppresses bradykinin production. Bradykisithe mediator of acute swelling attacks in H#eients. HAE is a rare, severely debilitating aontentially
fatal genetic condition that occurs in approximatein 50,000 people. HAE symptoms include recuremisodes of edema in various locations, includirgghands, fee
face, genitalia and airway. Airway swelling is peutarly dangerous and can lead to death by asphigri. In addition, patients often have bouts afregiating
abdominal pain, nausea and vomiting caused by ingeti the intestinal wall.

In December 2014, and January 2015, the FDA gra®@X4161 “Orphan Drug” designation and “Fast Tradgsignation for the treatment of HAE. Orphan drug
designation is granted by the FDA Office of Orplranducts Development to novel drugs intended ferstife and effective treatment of a rare diseaserutition that
affects fewer than 200,000 patients in the U.Ss Tisignation provides certain incentives, inclgdaderal grants, tax credits, waiver of PresasipDrug User Fee Act
(“PDUFA”) filing fees, and a seven-year marketinglesivity period against competition once the pradcandidate is approved. The Fast Track desigmatiocess of
the FDA is designed to facilitate the developmenrt expedite the review and approval of drugs irnteno treat serious or life threatening conditiand that address
unmet medical needs. A drug that receives FaskTdasignation is usually eligible for more frequamitten communication and meetings with the FDAltscuss the
drug's development plan and the collection of apgiate data supporting drug approval. In additibe, Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products (“CONBf'the
European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) issued a positb@nion on the application for orphan drug desigmafor BCX4161 for the treatment of patients WHAE and
the European Commission recently affirmed thisgestion. Orphan drug designation by the EMA prosidegulatory and financial incentives for compardedevelop
and market therapies that treat a life-threatenimchronically debilitating condition affecting meore than five in 10,000 persons in the EuropeaiotJ(fEU").

On December 18, 2014, we announced the dosingedfri patient in OPuS-2@ ral P rophylaxiS-2), a blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled chhicial of
orally-administered BCX4161 in patients with HAEP@5-2 is a 12-week, three-arm, parallel cohortgatefsial to evaluate the efficacy and safety of theses of
BCX4161, 300 mg and 500 mg, administered threestidaly compared with placebo. This trial is becogducted in the U.S. and select European courgndss
expected to enroll approximately 100 HAE patiefitse primary efficacy endpoint for the trial will blee mean angioedema attack rate for each BCX4&64 group
compared to placebo.

On May 27, 2014, we announced positive results fagmoof of concept Phase 2a clinical trial in @ats with HAE (“OPuS-1" i.eQ ral P rophylaxiS-1). This
clinical trial evaluated 400 mg of BCX4161 admieitd three-times daily for 28 days in a randomipéatebo-controlled, two-period cross-over desigmenty-four
HAE patients who had a high frequency of attacksrénthan one per week) were enrolled. This study designed to provide proof of concept for oralikadin
inhibition as a treatment strategy for HAE. Thenmaiy goals of the trial were to estimate the degfexfficacy of BCX4161 in reducing the frequendyangioedema
attacks and to evaluate the safety and toleralmifi®8 days of BCX4161 treatment. The OPuS-1 imat its primary efficacy endpoint, several secopdsdpoints as
well as other objectives established for the clihtdal. Each of the twenty-four patients dosethpteted the trial. The primary efficacy endpoint fiee trial was the
mean angioedema attack rate. Treatment with BCX4le®ionstrated a statistically significant meancattate reduction of 0.45 attacks per week vertasepo, p<
0.001. The mean attack rate per week was 0.82 of¥BEL treatment, compared to 1.27 on placebo. @halinistration of BCX4161 was generally safe and-we
tolerated, with an adverse event profile similathat observed for placebo. Patient dosing compdian this trial was 98 percent.

2nd generation HAE compoundEhe goal of our second generation HAE discovergrmam is to discover and develop oral moleculedHemprevention of HAE
attacks which have a superior selectivity and tadability profile while maintaining similar poteg@s compared to BCX4161. In December 2013, we amred the
selection of two optimized plasma kallikrein intidys to advance into preclinical development asipiétl once-daily, oral prophylactic treatmentsH#E. Based on
early preclinical development studies, these stiradlyy different molecules have a similar mechanafraction as BCX4161 and have achieved the pratgpal of
improved bioavailability. Both compounds had roygfive times better bioavailability than BCX4161hd&se compounds demonstrated sub-nanomolar poteritg o
isolated enzyme and single digit nanomolar poténsyuppressing kallikrein activity in an ex-vivotizated normal human plasma kallikrein inhibitidaRKI") assay.
Plasma concentrations of each of the optimized cumgs exceeded the aPKI assay EC80 concentratishladurs after a single oral dose of 10 mg/kats,rindicatini
potential for oncedaily dosing. Based upon the product profile asditige of preclinical development, we expectdd gthase 1 development of BCX7353, one of t
two advanced second generation molecules, in ttensequarter of 2015. Given the other advancednskgeneration molecule’s inferior profile and semimolecular
composition to BCX7353, we have chosen only to adeeBCX7353. In addition to BCX7353, we continueviark on and advance other second generation conasou
that are at an earlier stage.

BCX4430

BCX4430 is a broad-spectrum antiviral (“‘BSAV”) reseh program and is currently being developed uadmmntract with the National Institute of Allergnd
Infectious Diseases (“NIAID/HHS”). The objective @fir BSAV program is to develop BCX4430 as a brepdetrum therapeutic for viruses that pose a thoeaatione
health and security. The primary focus of the paogrs treatment of hemorrhagic fever viruses. NIABS funding has supported BCX4430's developmerat as
treatment for Marburg virus and Ebola virus. In fa2014, BCX4430 was featured in an onlNeturepublication depicting successful efficacy resuftanimal
models of infection with Marburg virus and Ebolaug. BCX4430 completely protected cynomolgus maeadrom Marburg virus infection when administergd b
intramuscular injection 48 hours post-infectionsPexposure intramuscular administration of BCX448® protected rodents against Marburg virus dm&Evirus
infections. In addition, BCX4430 was shown to b#vacin vitro against a broad range of other RNAIses, including the emerging viral pathogen Midglet
Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (“MERS-CoV”). Theblication, which reported the protection of fwman primates from filovirus disease by BCX4438salibe:
efficacy results generated from an ongoing collation between scientists in the U.S. Army Medicas&arch Institute of Infection Diseases (“USAMRI)@hd
us. BCX4430 has been shown to be active againgt than 20 RNA viruses in nine different familias;luding filoviruses, togaviruses, bunyavirusespawviruses,
paramyxoviruses, coronaviruses and flavivirusesests conducted at USAMRIID, BCX4430 protectedrais against parenteral exposures to Marburg, EbudaRift
Valley Fever viruses and from exposures to aermsdlMarburg virus, an experimental condition desigto mimic an exposure scenario that could rekulhg a
bioterrorist attack.




On December 23, 2014, we announced results frame@essful proof-of-concept study of BCX4430 for treatment of experimental Ebola virus infection in
Rhesus macaques, conducted at USAMRIID. The primgaay of the study was to assess the effect of Bf3R4reatment on survival through Day 41 in aniniafiscted
with Ebola virus. Dosing of placebo or BCX4430 byramuscular (“i.m.”) injection was initiated 30-Q hinutes after virus challenge and continued twicky (“BID”)
for 14 days. Animals were dosed with either placdifomg/kg of BCX4430 BID or 25 mg/kg of BCX4430BISurvival at day 41 in the 16 mg/kg BID group of
BCX4430 treated animals was 4 of 6 (66.7%, p <Dd&impared to 0% survival in controls) and 6 ofi 8hie 25 mg/kg BID group (100%, p < 0.001 compdced
controls). The overall survival rate for BCX4436dted animals at day 41 was 10 of 12 (83%, p <l0c@fnpared to controls). Preliminary evaluatiorthef quantity of
virus in the blood showed an approximate 3-log céidu in Ebola virus RNA copies/mL of plasma, comguhwith control animals. This Rhesus macaque stualy
conducted following the completion, in November 204f a dose-ranging study of BCX4430 for the eipental treatment of cynomolgus macaques infectiéa w
Ebola virus. The cynomolgus macaque study was deditp evaluate whether BCX4430 showed a meanibgfufit for survival in Ebola virus non-human paite
(“NHP”) disease models and explore a dose rangghisrstudy BCX4430 demonstrated a statisticatiysicant prolongation of survival for the animalsthe highest
dose regimen tested, but no animals survived begadrahys. On December 15, 2014, we announced #ieglof the first subject in a randomized, placebatrolled
Phase 1 clinical trial to evaluate i.m. administratof BCX4430 in healthy volunteers. The main gaafi this first-in-human study are to evaluateghgety, tolerability
and pharmacokinetics of escalating doses of BCX4B0inistered via i.m. injection in healthy subgedh part one of the study, subjects will receiv@ngle dose of
BCX4430; and then subjects will receive BCX4430geven days in the second part of the study. Wixtsingle-dose cohorts and four multiple-dose czhwill be
evaluated, with a total of up to 88 volunteersipgrating.

In September 2013, NIAID/HHS contracted with Bio&irfor the development of BCX4430 as a treatmenifarburg virus disease, and subsequently Ebolesvir
disease. NIAID/HHS, part of the National InstitutdéHealth, made an initial award of $5.0 millianus. On February 12, 2015, NIAID/HHS exerciseddditional
option under the contract, which provides $2.7iomllto us for i.v. BCX4430 investigational new dr{itND") enablement and submission. $25.0 millichoption
funding has been awarded under the NIAID/HHS cant@date and total available funding under thetraet is $29.1 million, if all contract optionseagxercised. The
goals of this contract, including amendments, arfde IND applications for i.v. and i.m. BCX4430rfthe treatment of Marburg virus disease, to cohdu initial Phase
1 human clinical trial, as well as to study BCX4480a treatment for Ebola virus disease.

Forodesine

Forodesine is a Purine Nucleoside PhosphoryladdR"Pinhibitor in development by Mundipharma aseatment for cancer under a world-wide license
agreement. PNP is a purine salvage pathway enzyigle.doses of PNP inhibitors could be useful intfieatment of hematological malignancies. In Janad 3,
Mundipharma’s Japanese subsidiary, Mundipharma,Kni€iated enroliment in a phase 1/2 clinical to&forodesine in recurrent/refractory periphefatell lymphoma
patients. The objective of the Phase 1 portion sonfirm safety and tolerability in recurrent/aaftory peripheral T-cell ymphoma patients duriageated oral
administration of forodesine 300 mg twice-daily && days, to evaluate pharmacokinetics, and tamé@te the recommended dose for Phase 2. The gdiaé dthase 2
portion is to evaluate the efficacy, safety, andrpfacokinetics of the recommended dosage regimenndi@ed in the Phase 1 portion. The primary eéfjcandpoint
shall be objective response rate (“ORR”) basedvatuation by an image assessment committee.

On November 11, 2011, we entered into an AmendddRastated License and Development Agreement Aheethded and Restated Agreement”) with
Mundipharma, amending and restating the Februa?@6 exclusive, royalty-bearing Development arcehse Agreement for the development and commeraialn
of forodesine for use in the field of oncology. @ndhe terms of the Amended and Restated Agreeriemigipharma obtained worldwide rights to forodesiso
Mundipharma controls the worldwide development emhmercialization of forodesine and assumes alréutievelopment and commercialization costs. Therddad
and Restated Agreement is a multiple element aeraegt for accounting purposes in which we wereireduo deliver to Mundipharma both the worldwidghts to
forodesine and the transfer of product data andvidnow to permit Mundipharma to develop and comnaize forodesine (the “Knowledge Transfer”). Therldewide
license rights were granted to Mundipharma uporcetien of Amended and Restated Agreement and tlwviguge Transfer was completed in the first quasfe2012.
We have accounted for these elements as a combimiedf accounting as neither one has stand-alahgwo Mundipharma. Upon completion of the Knowled
Transfer, the unamortized deferred revenue andraefexpense of $7.8 million and $1.9 million, restpvely, were recognized in our Statements of Qaingnsive Los
in the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

We have licensed the PNP technology from Albersteim College of Medicine of Yeshiva University E&€OM”) and Industrial Research, Ltd. (“IRL") andlivi
owe sublicense payments to AECOM/IRL based onuhaé milestone payments and royalties receivedsilyom Mundipharma and any other partners for tvine
out-license our PNP inhibitors. On November 17,120te amended our agreement with AECOM/IRL wher@BZ OM/IRL agreed to accept a reduction of one-bélf
the percentage of Net Proceeds (as defined iridbiese agreement) received by us under our AmeadeédRestated Agreement with Mundipharma. This réglucloes
not apply to royalty payments made as a resulalefssof licensed products by our sub licensees.




Corporate restructuring

On December 7, 2012, we announced a corporateicasting intended to significantly reduce our cststicture and to implement a focused strategy varcke ou
HAE and antiviral programs. The corporate restmistuincluded a workforce reduction of approximut80% of our headcount, or 38 positions. We restinec our
operations and implemented a focused R&D strategyder to have sufficient liquidity to advance &IAE and antiviral programs to reach near-term @ahilestones.
The restructuring and R&D focus significantly redd®ur cost structure. We recorded a restructuatirzgge of $1.8 million in the fourth quarter of 201

Collaborations and In-License Relationships

U.S. Department of Health and Human Servi¢d&ARDA/HHS3) . In January 2007, BARDA/HHS awarded us a $102.6oniltontract for the advanced
development of peramivir for the treatment of iefi@a. During 2009, peramivir clinical developmerifted to focus on intravenous delivery and thatimeent of
hospitalized patients. To support this focus, at&aper 2009 contract modification was awarded ¢oeiase funding by $77.2 million. On February 24, 20ve
announced that BARDA/HHS had awarded us a $55.lomitontract modification, intended to fund contjaa of the Phase 3 development of intravenous.{Ji.
peramivir for the treatment of patients hospitalizgth influenza. This contract modification broughe total award from BARDA/HHS to $234.8 milli@md provided
funding to support the filing of an NDA to seek uégory approval for i.v. peramivir in the U.S. Tbentract expired on June 30, 2014 according teitss. In
December 2014, the FDA approved RAPIVAB (peramivjiection) for treatment of uncomplicated influenmgatients 18 years and older who have been symstic
for no more than two days, and we made RAPIVAB labé for commercial sale through our specialtyriigtors on December 26, 2014.

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseaqd NIAID/HHS') . In September 2013, NIAID/HHS contracted with ustfee development of BCX4430 as a
treatment for Marburg, and subsequently, Ebolasvifisease. NIAID/HHS, part of the National Insesibf Health, made an initial award of $5.0 milltorus. On
February 12, 2015, NIAID/HHS exercised an additi@mion under the contract, which provides $2.7iam to us for i.v. BCX4430 IND enablement and sufsion.
$25.0 million of option funding has been awardederthe NIAID/HHS contract to date and total furglimder the contract could be up to $29.1 milliéaJl contract
options are exercised. The goals of this contiackiding amendments, are to file IND applicatidosi.v. and i.m. BCX4430 for the treatment of Marj virus disease,
to conduct an initial Phase 1 human clinical trga well as to study BCX4430 as a treatment fold&bious disease.

The contract with NIAID/HHS is a cost-plus-fixedefeontract. That is, we are entitled to receivenbeirsement for all costs incurred in accordanch thi¢
contract’s provisions that are related to the dgwelent of BCX4430 plus a fixed fee, or profit. NDXHHS will make periodic assessments of progrersd,the
continuation of the contract is based on our perforce, the timeliness and quality of deliverabdes] other factors. The government has rights ucel¢ain contract
clauses to terminate this contract. This contgtgiminable by the government at any time for &inea without cause.

Shionogi & Co., Ltd.“(Shionodi ). On February 28, 2007, we entered into a Licensgeldpment and Commercialization Agreement (as amgnslipplemented
or otherwise modified, the “Shionogi Agreement’),exclusive license agreement with Shionogi to tigvand commercialize peramivir in Japan for tleatment of
seasonal and potentially life-threatening humaluérfza. In October 2008, we and Shionogi amende&kiionogi Agreement to expand the territory covdrethe
agreement to include Taiwan and to provide rigbtsShionogi to perform a Phase 3 clinical triaHong Kong. Under the terms of the Shionogi Agreeim@hionogi
obtained rights to injectable formulations of peranin Japan in exchange for a $14.0 million upfrpayment. The license provided for developmeihstone
payments (up to $21.0 million), which have all beaid, and for commercial milestone payments (up9%®.0 million) in addition to double-digit (betwe&0% and
20%) royalty payments on product sales of peramivir

Generally, all payments under the Shionogi Agredraemnon-refundable and non-creditable, but tmeysabject to audit. Shionogi is responsible for al
development, regulatory, and marketing costs imdaphe term of the Shionogi Agreement is from Baby 28, 2007 until terminated. Either party mayri@ate in the
event of an uncured breach. Shionogi has the afjtermination without cause. In the event of teration, all license and rights granted to Shiorsbgill terminate and
shall revert back to us. We developed peramivirarzdicense from the University of Alabama Birntiagn (‘UAB”) and have paid sublicense payments tdBLbh the
upfront payments and will owe sublicense paymentary future event payments and/or royalties rexkby us from Shionogi.

Shionogi Royalty Monetization and NBecourse Notes Payabl®©n March 9, 2011, we completed a $30.0 millioraficing transaction to monetize certain
future royalty and milestone payments under the®gi Agreement, pursuant to which JPR Royalty Sub (“Royalty Sub”) a wholly-owned subsidiary of &Cryst,
issued the PhaRMA Notes discussed below. We ret@igeproceeds of $22.7 million from this transawti

As part of the transaction, we entered into a pasetand sale agreement dated as of March 9, 2@ Rayalty Sub, whereby we transferred to Royaiip,S
among other things, (i) its rights to receive dertayalty and milestone payments from Shionogsiag under the Shionogi Agreement, and (ii) thétrig receive
payments under a Japanese yen/US dollar foreigeray hedge arrangement (as further described bétewCurrency Hedge Agreement”) put into placeulyin
connection with the transaction. Royalty paymeritshe paid by Shionogi in Japanese yen and mitesfmayments will be paid in U.S. dollars. Our dodieation with
Shionogi was not impacted by this transaction.




On March 9, 2011, Royalty Sub completed a privédegment to institutional investors of $30.0 miflim aggregate principal amount of its PhaRMA Senio
Secured 14.0% Notes due 2020 (the “PhaRMA Notd&$ig. PhaRMA Notes were issued by Royalty Sub undéndenture, dated as of March 9, 2011 (the “Indesi},
by and between Royalty Sub and U.S. Bank Natiorsab&iation, as Trustee. Principal and interesherPhaRMA Notes issued are payable from, and arees by,
the rights to royalty and milestone payments utiderShionogi Agreement transferred by us to Roy&lltly and payments, if any, made to Royalty Sub utide
Currency Hedge Agreement. The PhaRMA Notes beardst at 14% per annum, payable annually in ar@a&eptember 1st of each year (the “Payment Dat¢s)
remain entitled to receive any royalties and milestpayments related to sales of peramivir by Sigofollowing repayment by Royalty Sub of the PhaRMotes.

Royalty Sub’s obligations to pay principal and et on the PhaRMA Notes are obligations solelR@jalty Sub and are without recourse to any otkesqn,
including the Company, except to the extent ofgadge of its equity interests in Royalty Sub ipport of the PhaRMA Notes. We may, but are notgattéd to, make
capital contributions to a capital account that rhayused to redeem, or on up to one occasion paingarest shortfall on, the PhaRMA Notes.

In September 2013, Royalty Sub paid $1.8 milliointérest on the PhaRMA Notes from royalty paymeeteived from RAPIACTA® sales from the preceding
four calendar quarters. This payment resulted inldigation shortfall of approximately $2.4 milli@ssociated with accrued interest due Septemt2913. As
stipulated under the PhaRMA Notes Indenture, ifahmunt available for payment on any Payment Baitesufficient to pay all of the interest due oRayment Date,
the shortfall in interest will accrue interest lag interest rate applicable to the PhaRMA Notespmmded annually. Accordingly, commencing in Sefiten?013,
interest began to accrue at 14% per annum on teeest shortfall of $2.4 million. In March, Junedafugust of 2014, Royalty Sub paid additional ietgrof $446,000,
$1.9 million and $70,000, respectively, bringing 8hortfall down to $222,000 as of September 30420nder the terms of the Indenture, Royalty Subébility to pay
the full amount of interest payable in Septembdr30y the next succeeding Payment Date for the RFAaRotes, which was September 1, 2014, constitareévent o
default. Accordingly, we have classified the PhaRMates and related accrued interest as currerilitied on our balance sheet. As a result of thenéwf default unde
the PhaRMA Notes, the holders of the PhaRMA Notag pursue acceleration of the PhaRMA Notes, magcfose on the collateral securing the PhaRMA Nates
the equity interest in Royalty Sub and exerciseotbmedies available to them under the Indenturespect of the PhaRMA Notes. In such event, we moarealize
the benefit of future royalty payments that migtiteswise accrue to us following repayment of thaR¥MA Notes and we might otherwise be adverselycédfe Due to
the non-recourse nature of the PhaRMA Notes, iretleat of any potential acceleration or foreclosure believe the primary impact to us would beltiss of future
royalty payments from Shionogi and legal costs @ased with retiring the PhaRMA Notes. In additiore may incur costs associated with liquidatingrédated
Currency Hedge Agreement, which would no longerdogiired in the event of foreclosure or if the PRERNotes cease to be outstanding. As the PhaRM/Adlate
the obligation of Royalty Sub, we do not curreripect the event of default on the PhaRMA Notdsatee a significant impact on our future resultepérations or ca:
flows. In addition to the 2013 interest shortf&byalty Sub was unable to make the 2014 interggnpat of $4.2 million on the September 1, 2014 RaynDate.
Accordingly, commencing in September 2014, we beggamuing interest at 14% per annum on the 20%ktest shortfall of $4.2 million.

The Indenture does not contain any financial comenahe Indenture includes customary representatind warranties of Royalty Sub, affirmative andative
covenants of Royalty Sub, Events of Default andtezl remedies, and provisions regarding the dafise Trustee, indemnification of the Trustee, atiter matters
typical for indentures used in structured finansiogthis type. The PhaRMA Notes are redeemaltleeadption of Royalty Sub at any time at a redeampfirice equal t
100% of the outstanding principal balance of theFMA Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpicst through the redemption date on the PhaRid#es
being redeemed.

Foreign Currency Hedgén connection with the issuance by Royalty SuthefPhaRMA Notes, we entered into a Currency Hedgreément to hedge certain
risks associated with changes in the value of éipadese yen relative to the U.S. dollar. UndeCilneency Hedge Agreement, we have the right totmase dollars and
sell yen at a rate of 100 yen per dollar for whighmay be required to pay a premium in each yean 2015 through 2020, provided the Currency Hedgedment
remains in effect. A payment of $2.0 million wikk lbequired if, on May 18 of the relevant year, th8. dollar is worth 100 yen or less, as determineatcordance with
the Currency Hedge Agreement.

The Currency Hedge Agreement does not qualify émige accounting treatment; therefore, mark-to-nia@teistments are recognized in our Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Loss. Cumulative markddket adjustments resulted in gains of $5.5 amilli$5.3 million, and a loss of $749,000 for theliwe months
ended December 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respsctivel are also required to post collateral in catioa with the mark-to-market adjustments basedefined
thresholds. As of December 31, 2014, no collatses posted under the Currency Hedge Agreement. Waat/be required at any time to post collaterateeding the
maximum premium payments remaining payable undeCirrency Hedge Agreement. The maximum amounédfé collateral we would be required to post is 11
million. We are required to maintain a foreign ety hedge at 100 yen per dollar under the agresrgemerning the PhaRMA Notes.

Green Cross In June 2006, we entered into an agreement witkerG@ross to develop and commercialize peramivitdrea. Under the terms of the agreement,
Green Cross is responsible for all developmentle¢gry, and commercialization costs in Korea. \&eived a one-time license fee of $250,000. Thlem&e provides
that we will share in profits resulting from thdesaf peramivir in Korea, including the sale of aivir to the Korean government for stockpiling poses. Furthermore,
Green Cross will pay us a premium over its costujgply peramivir for development and any future keting of peramivir products in Korea. Both partiesre the right
to terminate in the event of an uncured materieabh. In the event of termination, all rights, dataterials, products and other information wowdrdansferred to us.
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In August 2010, we announced that Green Crossdwived marketing and manufacturing approval freenKorean Food & Drug Administration for i.v.
peramivir, under the commercial name PERAMIFRUPERAMIFLU is intended to treat patients with irdhza A & B viruses, including pandemic HIN1 anav
influenza. Green Cross received the indicationmajle dose administration of 300 mg i.v. peramigince PERAMIFLU’s approval, Green Cross has baepriting
discussions with the Korean National Health Insaea@orporation and has yet to agree to a formydece. PERAMIFLU's distribution to date has beenited to a
case-by-case basis and significant sales havecoatred.

Other Peramivir Collaborationdn addition to our collaborations with Shionogi @&ceen Cross, in March 2011 we entered into amgement with Neopharm
Scientific Limited, granting certain commercial agidtribution rights for peramivir in Israel.

Mundipharma In February 2006, we entered into an exclusivealtgybearing right and license agreement with Mphedrma for the development and
commercialization of forodesine, a PNP inhibitar, @ise in oncology (the “Original Agreement”). Undiee terms of the Original Agreement, Mundiphawbéained
rights to forodesine in markets across Europe, ,Asid Australasia in exchange for a $10.0 milliprfiont payment. In addition, Mundipharma contrimit
$10.0 million of the documented out-of-pocket depehent costs incurred by us in respect of the otiaad planned trials as of the effective datehefagreement, and
Mundipharma would conduct additional clinical tsi@t their own cost up to a maximum of $15.0 milli®he Original Agreement provided for the poséipibf future
event payments totaling $155.0 million for achigvspecified development, regulatory and commeemsiahts (including certain sales level amounts Valhg a
products launch) for certain indications. In addition, thdginal Agreement provided that we would receivgalties (ranging from single digits to mid teebhased on
percentage of net product sales, which varies aépgrupon when certain indications receive NDA appt in a major market country and can vary by ¢oun
depending on the patent coverage or sales of geo@mpounds in a particular country. Generallypalyments under the Original Agreement were nondhle and
non-<reditable, but they are subject to audit. We gehforodesine and other PNP inhibitors from AEC{®RW/and will owe sublicense payments to AECOM/IRL all
milestone payments and royalties received by us ftundipharma.

On November 11, 2011, we entered into the Amenddd=estated Agreement with Mundipharma. Underehag of this Amended and Restated Agreement,
Mundipharma obtained worldwide rights to forodesiméhe field of oncology. Mundipharma will contrible development and commercialization of forodesind
assume all future development and commercializatgmts. The Amended and Restated Agreement profodése possibility of future event payments titgl
$15.0 million for achieving specified regulatoryeens for certain indications. In addition, the Arded and Restated Agreement provides that we veiive tiered
royalties ranging from mid- to high-single digitrpentages of net product sales in each countryevioeodesine is sold by Mundipharma. These royatie subject to
downward adjustments based on the then-existirenpabverage and/or the availability of generic poonds in each country. Generally, all paymenteutite
Amended and Restated Agreement are nonrefundalleamcreditable, but they are subject to audit.

Mundipharma will also have a right of exclusive aggtions with us for a limited period of time iey initiate negotiations for a specified backugPFhhibitor.
Otherwise, they will be able to participate in #zene negotiations process we enter into with anathrapany for the backup PNP inhibitor. The Amended Restated
Agreement will continue for the commercial lifetbe licensed products, but may be terminated eeparty following an uncured material breachhmy ather party c
in the event the pre-existing third party licensthvAECOM/IRL expires. It may be terminated by Mupltrma upon 60 days written notice without causenaler
certain other conditions as specified in the Amenaled Restated Agreement. If Mundipharma terminieg\mended and Restated Agreement, Mundipharnédwm
longer have any rights in forodesine and the rigfdsld revert back to us; provided, however, thathie event the we determine to subsequently @sdata developed
under the Amended and Restated Agreement for dewelnt and commercialization of forodesine in tleddfiof oncology, then we would have to pay Mundiphe
150% of the cost of such data for such use.

Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva @mity and Industrial Research, Ltd AECOM _and" IRL” respectively) In June 2000, we licensed a series of
potent inhibitors of PNP from AECOM and IRL, (cddtevely, the “Licensors”). The lead product candetafrom this collaboration are forodesine and edide. We
have obtained worldwide exclusive rights to devedag ultimately distribute these, or any otherdpiei candidates that might arise from researctheset inhibitors. W
have the option to expand our license agreemehttivit Licensors to include other inventions infibll made by the investigators or employees ofllsensors. We
agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts teldp these drugs. In addition, we have agreedyocprtain milestone payments for each licensedymto(which
range in the aggregate from $1.4 million to aln®s0 million per indication) for future developmagitthese inhibitors, single digit royalties on sates of any resultir
product made by us, and to share approximatelyqaaeter of future payments received from othedtparty partners, if any. In addition, we have agreo pay annual
license fees, which can range from $150,000 to $BI) that are creditable against actual royadtirebother payments due to the Licensors. This aggaemay be
terminated by us at any time by giving 60 days adeanotice or in the event of material uncured d¢hdsy the Licensors.

In May 2010, we amended the license agreementghrainich we obtained worldwide exclusive rightslevelop and ultimately distribute any product cdatks
that might arise from research on a series of Riibitors, including forodesine and ulodesine. Urttie terms of the amendment, the Licensors agreadcept a
reduction of one-half in the percentage of futuagrpents received from third-party sub licenseeb@ficensed PNP inhibitors that must be paid éolticensors. This
reduction does not apply to (i) any milestone paytsigre may receive in the future under our licaagreement with Mundipharma and (i) royalties reedifrom its
sub licensees in connection with the sale of liedrEroducts, for which the original payment raté gmain in effect. The rate of royalty paymerdgte Licensors
based on net sales of any resulting product madesbgmains unchanged.

In consideration for these modifications in 201@, issued to the Licensors shares of our commolk stith an aggregate value of $5.9 million and pthiel

Licensors $90,000 in cash. Additionally, at ouresoption and subject to certain agreed upon camditiany future non-royalty payments due to be pgids to the
Licensors under the license agreement may be mtae & cash, in shares of our common stock, @ aombination of cash and shares.
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On November 17, 2011, we further amended our aggatmvith the Licensors whereby the Licensors abte@ccept a reduction of one-half in the peragntaf
Net Proceeds (as defined in the license agreemen#jved by us under our Amended and Restated Agnetewith Mundipharma that will be paid to AECOMIR

On June 19, 2012, we further amended our agreeméhitshe Licensors whereby the parties clarified tlefinition of the field with respect to PNP ibition and
the Licensors agreed to grant an exclusive worldvimense of BCX4430 to us for any antiviral use.

The University of Alabama at Birmingham (“UAB”"We currently have agreements with UAB for influemeauiraminidase and complement inhibitors. Under the
terms of these agreements, UAB performed spe@&8§earch for us in return for research paymentdiesmase fees. UAB has granted us certain rightsodiscoveries
in these areas resulting from research developediA® or jointly developed with us. We have agreegay single digit royalties on sales of any résglproduct and t
share in future payments received from other thady partners. We have completed the researchr tineéJAB agreements. These two agreements hatia 2b-year
terms, are automatically renewable for five-yeamgethroughout the life of the last patent andtemminable by us upon three months’ notice and B Wnder certain
circumstances. Upon termination both parties steske using the other parties’ proprietary andidenfial information and materials, the partiesligoantly own joint
inventions and UAB shall resume full ownership biEAB licensed products. There is currently noigtt between us and UAB on these agreements, hetwwe
license this technology, such as in the case oBttienogi and Green Cross agreements, or commieeci@oducts related to these programs, we will suldicense fee
or royalties on amounts it receives.

Government Contracts

In January 2007, BARDA/HHS awarded us a $102.6ionilcontract for the advanced development of peraufur the treatment of influenza. During 2009,
peramivir clinical development shifted to focusintravenous delivery and the treatment of hosgialipatients. To support this focus, a Septemhb@® 20ntract
modification was awarded to increase funding by.$Tillion. On February 24, 2011, we announced BRDA/HHS had awarded us a contract modificati6$%6.0
million, intended to fund completion of the Phasge®elopment of i.v. peramivir for the treatmenpatients hospitalized with influenza. This contmaodification
brought the total award from BARDA/HHS to $234.8limh and provided funding to support the filing afi NDA to seek regulatory approval for i.v. peraimin the
U.S. The contract expired on June 30, 2014 accgitdiits terms. In December 2014, the FDA apprde&&®IVAB (peramivir injection) for treatment of uneplicated
influenza in patients 18 years and older who haenlsymptomatic for no more than two days.

Under the defined scope of work in the contrach/dARDA/HHS for the development of peramivir, a pegs was undertaken to validate a U.S.-based
manufacturer and the related method for producamgmercial batches of peramivir active pharmacebiicaedient (“AP1”). As a required outcome of thialidation
process, large quantities of peramivir AP| weredpiced. In accordance with our accounting practiwesiecorded all costs associated with this vabdgbrocess as
research and development expenses in our Conslidatements of Comprehensive Loss. Simultaneaesignue from the BARDA/HHS contract was also reed
in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive iro2009. BARDA/HHS subsequently reimbursed ugtiese costs and upon reimbursement from BARDA/HHS,
the associated peramivir APl became property of & Government.

Under the terms of the contract, if we determireeamount of peramivir AP| produced under the cattisain excess of what is necessary to completedmtract,
we can acquire any excess peramivir AP| at cosséofor our own purposes. We believe that as dtrefstine manufacturing campaign described abowenperamivir
API has been produced than what was required tpsstip).S. regulatory approval. If we use any ex@g3kfor our other contracts or activities, we wited to reconci
through an appropriate acquisition process with BARHHS and to determine the appropriate acquisifioztess remuneration for this API.

In September 2013, NIAID/HHS contracted with ustfue development of BCX4430 as a treatment for Magband subsequently, Ebola virus disease.
NIAID/HHS, part of the National Institutes of Healtmade an initial award of $5.0 million to us. Bebruary 12, 2015, NIAID/HHS exercised an additiamion
under the contract, which provides $2.7 milliorugofor i.v. BCX4430 IND enablement and submiss&#b.0 million of option funding has been awardedarnthe
NIAID/HHS contract to date and total funding undlee contract could be up to $29.1 million, if adintract options are exercised. The goals of thigract, including
amendments, are to file IND applications for i.nda.m. BCX4430 for the treatment of Marburg vidisease, to conduct an initial Phase 1 human elitii@l, as well
as to study BCX4430 as a treatment for Ebola wissase.

Our contract with NIAID/HHS is a cost-plus-fixedefeontract. That is, we are entitled to receivenbeirsement for all costs incurred in accordanch thi¢
contract’s provisions that are related to the dgwelent of BCX4430 plus a fixed fee, or profit. NDXHHS will make periodic assessments of our prograsd the
continuation of the contract is based on our peréorce, the timeliness and quality of deliverabdesi other factors. The government has rights uceigain contract
clauses to terminate this contract. The contraterisinable by the government at any time for bnearcwithout cause. In addition, the governmentthagight to audit
costs hilled to them under the contracts and relytioonducts audits on our contracts. Any findiagsociated with these routine audits are geneefligcted
prospectively in our operating results upon thengte agreement and resolutions of the audit figslin
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Patents and Proprietary Information

Our success will depend in part on our ability bbain and enforce patent protection for our prosiuctethods, processes and other proprietary tecties|
preserve our trade secrets, and operate withaungirig on the proprietary rights of other partiesth in the United States and in other countiés.own or have rights
to certain proprietary information, proprietaryteology, issued and allowed patents and patenicapiphs which relate to compounds we are devetppivie actively
seek, when appropriate, protection for our produmisprietary technology and proprietary informatlyy means of U.S. and foreign patents, trademamiiscontractual
arrangements. In addition, we rely upon trade $geumed contractual arrangements to protect ceofadnir proprietary information, proprietary techogy and products.

The patent positions of companies like ours aregaly uncertain and involve complex legal anddattjuestions. Our ability to maintain and solidiiyr
proprietary position for our technology will depemwl our success in obtaining effective patent cdamd enforcing those claims once granted. We tlemaw whether
any of our patent applications or those patentiegibns that we license will result in the issuanf any patents. Our issued patents and thoseatssue in the
future, or those licensed to us, may be challengedlidated, rendered unenforceable or circumgntdich could limit our ability to stop competigofrom marketing
related products or the length of term of patentegmtion that we may have for our products. In &olidj the rights granted under any issued pateats mot provide us
with competitive advantages against competitork wiinilar compounds or technology. Furthermore,ammpetitors may independently develop similar medbgies or
duplicate any technology developed by us in a matia does not infringe our patents or other lattlial property. Because of the extensive timeired for
development, testing and regulatory review of @&ptigl product, it is possible that, before anpof product candidates or those developed by atingrz can be
commercialized, any related patent may expire wraie in force for only a short period following corercialization, thereby reducing any advantag&efpatent.

As of December 31, 2014, we have been issued ajppatedy 13 U.S. patents that expire between 20872830 and that relate to our HAE program compounds
neuraminidase inhibitor compounds, BSAV and PNPpmmds. We have licensed a number of compoundsgteat by certain composition of matter patents from
AECOM and IRL, plus additional manufacturing pagenbtaling 16 additional U.S. patents that expgwveen 2017 and 2027. Additionally, we have apprately 9
PCT or U.S. patent applications pending relatedA& program compounds, neuraminidase inhibitor conmgls, BSAV and PNP compounds. Our pending apgitsit
may not result in issued patents, our patents magaover the products of interest or may not bersfable in all, or any jurisdictions and our p&enay not provide L
with sufficient protection against competitive puots or otherwise be commercially viable. After iexfion of composition of matter patents for ouogucts and produ
candidates, we may rely on data exclusivity, ame cases, method of use patents. The enfort¢galbithese patents varies from jurisdiction tagdiction and may
not be allowed or enforceable in some territoribeme we may seek approval. We may not have thesfimdontinue patent prosecution or to defendfauo existing
patents in our current patent estate and may sefgcabandon patents or patent families worldwaedén certain territories.

Our success is also dependent upon the skills, letlge and experience of our scientific and techieesonnel, none of which is patentable. To hetgrt our
rights, we require all employees, consultants, satgi and partners to enter into confidentialityeagnents, which prohibit the disclosure of configgnhformation to
anyone outside of BioCryst and, where possiblajireglisclosure and assignment to us of their idéegelopments, discoveries and inventions. Thgseaments may
not provide adequate protection for our trade $eckmow-how or other proprietary information iretvent of any unauthorized use or disclosureetaiful
development by others of such information.

Competition

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industriesraemsely competitive. Many companies, includimatéchnology, chemical and pharmaceutical compaaies
actively engaged in activities similar to ours,lining research and development of drugs for thattnent of rare medical conditions. Many of thesamanies have
substantially greater financial and other resoureeger research and development staffs, and sxdemsive marketing and manufacturing organizatibas we do. In
addition, some of them have considerable experianpeeclinical testing, clinical trials and othegulatory approval procedures. In addition, tregeealso academic
institutions, governmental agencies and other reke@rganizations that are conducting researcieéasain which we are working. We expect to encawsitificant
competition for any of the pharmaceutical prodwegsplan to develop. Companies that successfullypbet clinical trials, obtain required regulatoppeaovals and
commence commercial sales of their products maieeeta significant competitive advantage.

Antivirals: The pharmaceutical market for products that prewefrteat influenza is very competitive. Key conifpeg factors for RAPIVAB™ (peramivir injectiol
include, among others, efficacy, ease of use,\sgbeice and cost-effectiveness, storage and hagdéquirements and reimbursement. A number ofameunidase
inhibitors are currently available in the U.S. andither counties, including Japan, for the preeentr treatment of influenza, including seasohabvfccines and F.
Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd.’s (“Roche”) TAMIFLU®, GlaxafithKline plc's (“GSK”) RELENZA® and Daiichi Sanky€o., Ltd.’s INAVIR®. In addition, FUJIFIM
Corporation’s favipiravir, a polymerase inhibiteg,approved in Japan. Rochaieuraminidase inhibitor is also approved for pytgxis of influenza, and both Roche ¢
GSK have i.v. formulations in clinical trial develment.
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In January 2011, GSK announced initiation of a raduntry Phase 3 study of i.v. zanamivir (the samiéve ingredient as in RELENZA) in hospitalizeatipnts
with influenza. The GSK study is expected to bé/fahrolled in the 2014-2015 flu season. In additio these companies with neuraminidase inhibitbese are other
companies working to develop additional antiviralgs to be used against various strains of inflae@urrently, there are a number of other compadesgloping
potential new influenza therapies. Various govemineatities throughout the world are offering intbess, grants and contracts to encourage additiomaktment into
preventative and therapeutic agents against inflyjewhich may have the effect of further increashgnumber of our competitors and/or providingadeages to
certain competitors.

BCX4430 is a product candidate in our BSAV reseg@ryram and is currently being developed undardract with NIAID/HHS. The objective of our BSAV
program is to develop BCX4430 as a broad-spectharapeutic for viruses that pose a threat to natibealth and security. The U.S. Government isstiug in a
number of programs intended to address gaps imdtfical countermeasure plan. Due to the Ebola eakbin West Africa in 2014, investment in medical
countermeasures has increased worldwide. Theragawaiilucts with potentially promising data to treabla include FUJIFILM Corporation’s favipiravipglymerase
inhibitor), Tekmira Pharmaceuticals CorporationkM-Ebola (RNAI interference based) and Mapp Biophaceutical, Inc.’s ZMapp (antibody-based). Both TKM
Ebola and ZMapp have been used in Ebola patients.

HAE : HAE is an autosomal dominant disease charactehiygrhinful, unpredictable, recurrent attacks ofdmfmation affecting the hands, feet, face, abdomen,
urogenital tract, and the larynx. The inflammatoam be disfiguring, debilitating, or in the casdasfngeal attacks, life-threatening. PrevalenceHAE is uncertain but
is estimated to be approximately 1 case per 50p@@€ons without known differences among ethnic gsand is caused by deficient (Type ) or dysfuoral (Type 1)
levels of C1- Inhibitor (“C1-INH"), a naturally ocering molecule that is known to inhibit kallikreibradykinin, and other serine proteases in thedl left untreated,
HAE can result in a mortality rate as high as 40%narily due to upper airway obstruction. There amumber of licensed and developmental therapieldAE,
including the following:

« C1-INH therapy is available as an acute therapyifet ®) and as a prophylactic therapy (Cinryze®hese therapies are available intravenously and
work by replacing the missing or malfunctioning-INH protein in patients

« Kallikrein Inhibition - Kablbitor® is a specific recombinant plasma kabikr inhibitor that halts the production of bradyikiand can be dosed
subcutaneously in an inpatient setti

- Bradykinin receptor antagoni- Firazyi® (icatibant) is a competitive antagonist of the bikadiyn B2 receptor Firazyr is approved for the treant of acut
attacks and is administered by subcutaneous adnaitis.

« Other medication- Prophylactic administration of synthetic attenuaedrogens (generically available as danazol oogtol) has been utilized
reduce the frequency or severity of attacks. Howdaag-term use of danazol or stanozolol may taswirilization and arterial hypertension. Six-ntb
liver function tests, annual lipid profiles, aneébhial hepatic ultrasound are recommended bechase tedications increase production of C1-INHhén t
liver.

In addition to BCX4161, BCX7353 and our other setganeration compounds, there are a number of btA&rtherapies in development. These include a
prophylactic plasma derived C1-INH delivered byaithneous injection in Phase 3 (CSL Behring); D&% monoclonal antibody administered by subcutase
injection for prophylactic treatment of HAE in Plakb (Dyax Corp) and ISIS-PKK, , a RNA-targeted antisense drug to inhibit prekegiin for prophylactic treatment

of HAE in Phase 1 (ISIS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.).

In order to compete successfully in these and dtterapeutic areas, we must develop proprietaritipos in patented drugs for therapeutic markeds kiave not
been satisfactorily addressed by conventional rekestrategies and, in the process, expand ourtisg@é structure-based drug design. Our prodactidates, even if
successfully tested and developed, may not be eddypt physicians over other products and may rfet economically feasible alternatives to otherdipées.

Research and Development

We initiated our research and development actwitie1986. We have assembled a scientific resestathwith expertise in a broad base of advancedah
technologies including protein biochemistry, X-@ystallography, chemistry and pharmacology. Oseaech facilities, located in Birmingham, Alabannajude
protein biochemistry and organic synthesis laboiegotesting facilities, X-ray crystallography,neputer and graphics equipment and facilities toenadoduct
candidates on a small scale for early stage clitrigds. During the years ended December 31, 20043 and 2012, our research and development esperere $51.8
million, $41.9 million and $49.2 million, respeatiy.

Compliance

We conduct our business in an ethical, fair, hoaadtlawful manner. We act responsibly, respegtfafid with integrity in our relationships with gatis, health
care professionals, collaborators, governmentsilaggyy entities, stockholders, suppliers and vesdo

In order to ensure compliance with applicable lawd regulations, our Chief Financial Officer, Ge&ounsel and Vice President of Human Resourcessee
compliance training, education, auditing and mamitg; enforce disciplinary guidelines for any irdt@ns of our corporate polices; implement new@es and
procedures; respond to any detected issues; amatakd corrective action procedures. Our contrdtbess compliance with laws and regulations theegopublic
pharmaceutical companies including, but not limiigdhe following: federal and state law, suchihesSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the U.S. For€gmupt
Practices Act of 1977; NASDAQ listing requiremerite regulations of the Financial Industry Regulathuthority; the Securities and Exchange Commissthe FDA;
and the United States Department of Health and HuBsavices. Our standard operating proceduresesigrted to provide a framework for corporate goaeae in
accordance with ethical standards and best legatipes.
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Government Regulation
The FDA regulates the pharmaceutical and biotedyyoindustries in the U.S., and our product cartélare subject to extensive and rigorous domestic
government regulations prior to commercializatibhe FDA regulates, among other things, the devedspintesting, manufacture, safety, efficacy, redaeping,
labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promqtgaie and distribution of pharmaceutical productf$oreign countries, our products are also sulifpextensive
regulation by foreign governments. These governmegilations will be a significant factor in theoduction and marketing of any pharmaceutical presitiat we
develop. Failure to comply with applicable FDA asttier regulatory requirements at any stage duhirgégulatory process may subject us to sanctiodsiding:
. delays;
e warning letters
. fines;
e product recalls or seizure
. injunctions;
¢ penalties
« refusal of the FDA to review pending market appt@gplications or supplements to approval applore)
« total or partial suspension of productit
. civil penalties;
«  withdrawals of previously approved marketing apgiicns; anc
¢ criminal prosecutions
The regulatory review and approval process is ngixpensive and uncertain. Before obtaining r&guy approvals for the commercial sale of any povsl we
or our partners must demonstrate that our procaradidates are safe and effective for use in hunfdresapproval process takes many years, substarpahses may |
incurred and significant time may be devoted toicél development.
Before testing potential product candidates in msnave carry out laboratory and animal studiessterminine safety and biological activity. After cdeting
preclinical trials, we must file an IND, includirsgproposal to begin clinical trials, with the FDPirty days after filing an IND, a Phase 1 humabnichl trial can start,
unless the FDA places a hold on the trial.

Clinical trials to support a NDA are typically camtted in three sequential phases, but the phasgswvedap.

Phase 1—During Phase 1, the initial introductiothefdrug into healthy volunteers, the drug iseeg$d assess metabolism, pharmacokinetics and plafogical
actions and safety, including side effects assediaiith increasing doses.

Phase 2—Phase 2 usually involves trials in a liditatient population to: (1) assess the efficachefdrug in specific, targeted indications; (Jess dosage
tolerance and optimal dosage; and (3) identify inbssdverse effects and safety risks.

Phase 3 (pivotal) —If a compound is found to beeptilly effective and to have an acceptable sgjatile in Phase 2 evaluations, Phase 3 clinitalst also
called pivotal studies, major studies or advandmical trials, are undertaken to further demortstidinical efficacy and to further test for safetithin an expanded
patient population at geographically dispersedddirrial sites. In general, the FDA requires thgkeast two adequate and well-controlled Phad®al trials be
conducted.

Initiation and completion of the clinical trial pbes are dependent on several factors includingghtmt are beyond our control. For example, timécell trials
cannot begin at a particular site until that s#teeives approval from its Institutional Review BbgiiRB”), which reviews the protocol and relatedcdiments. This
process can take from several weeks to severalh®olnt addition, clinical trials are dependent atignt enroliment, but the rate at which patiem®k in the study
depends on:

« willingness of investigators to participate in adst;

« ability of clinical sites to obtain approval frotnetr IRB;

« the availability of the required number of eligilsiebjects to be enrolled in a given tr
« the availability of existing or other experimendaligs for the disease we intend to tr

« the willingness of patients to participate; ¢
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« the patients meeting the eligibility criter
Delays in planned patient enrollment may resuih@mreased expense and longer development timelines.

After successful completion of the required clihiggsting, generally an NDA is submitted. Upon iptef the NDA, the FDA will review the applicatidior
completeness. Within 60 days, the FDA will detemnifiithe application is sufficiently complete tonant full review and will consider the applicatitfiled” at that
time. Also upon receipt of the application, the FId# assign a review priority to the applicatidPriority review applications are usually revieweithin 8 months;
standard review applications are usually reviewéHim12 months. The FDA will usually refer NDAsrfoew molecular entities to an appropriate advisanymittee
for review and evaluation in regards to providingeommendation as to whether the application shbelapproved. The FDA is not bound to follow the
recommendation of an advisory committee.

Following the review of the application, which miaglude requests for additional information frone tponsor and results from inspections of manufiactand
clinical sites, the FDA will issue an “action letten the application. The action letter will eith@e an “approval letter,” in which case the prdduay be lawfully
marketed in the United States, or a “complete nespdetter.”A complete response letter will state that the FéaAnot approve the NDA in its present form andaligL
will describe all of the specific deficiencies thlaé FDA has identified in the application. The qbete response letter, when possible, will incltiteFDA’s
recommended actions to place the application ionalition for approval. Deficiencies can be minag(glabeling changes) or major (e.g., requirindithal clinical
trials). A complete response letter may also beeidbefore the FDA conducts the required faciligpection and/or reviews labeling, leaving the ibilgy that
additional deficiencies in the original NDA could bubsequently cited. An applicant receiving a detegesponse letter is permitted to resubmit tBANddressing tt
identified deficiencies (in which case a new twasiormonth review cycle will begin), or withdrawettNDA. The FDA may consider a failure to take attigthin one
year of a complete response letter to be a requ@gthdraw, unless the applicant has requesteskgension of time in which to resubmit. If the FBfproves an NDA,
the marketing of the product will be limited to tharticular disease states and conditions of ueteatte described in the product label.

We and all of our contract manufacturers are aspired to comply with the applicable FDA currerdd@ Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, regulationsrdy
clinical development and to ensure that the prodantbe consistently manufactured to meet the Spetoons submitted in an NDA. The cGMP regulatiomsude
requirements relating to product quality as welttescorresponding maintenance of records and deetation. Manufacturing facilities must be approbgdhe FDA
before they can be used to manufacture our prodBated on an inspection, the FDA determines whetla@ufacturing facilities are in compliance withpéicable
regulations. Manufacturing facilities in non-Unit8tates countries that are utilized to manufaatuugs for distribution into the United States dsoa&ubject to
inspection by the FDA. Additionally, failure to ceiy with local regulatory requirements could affpovduction and availability of product in relevamarkets.

Human Resources

As of January 31, 2015, we had approximately 50leyees, of whom approximately 35 were engagederréisearch and development function of our opersitio
Our research and development staff, 20 of whom Rbld. or M.D. degrees, have diversified experiendgochemistry, pharmacology, &y crystallography, synthe
organic chemistry, computational chemistry, meditohemistry, clinical development and regulatdifsies.

Our employees are not represented by any collebtivgaining agreements, and we have never expedemwork stoppage. Employees are required to éxecu
confidentiality and assignment of intellectual pedy agreements. We consider our relations withemoployees to be satisfactory.

Available Information

We have available a website on the Internet. Odres$ is www.biocryst.com. We make available, &leeharge, at our website our Annual Reports omFboK,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reportsam 8-K, and amendments to those reports filedimished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofEkehange
Act as soon as reasonably practicable after werehgcally file such material with, or furnish ih,tthe SEC. We also make available at our webepés of our audit
committee charter, compensation committee charteporate governance and nominating committee ehand our code of business conduct, which apfiedi our
employees as well as the members of our Board reicRirs. Any amendment to, or waiver from, our coflbusiness conduct will be posted on our website.

Financial Information

For information related to our revenues, profies, Ipss and total assets, in addition to othemfired information, please refer to the Financiat8&ments and Nott
to Financial Statements contained in this Annugld®e Financial information about revenues derifrech foreign countries is included in Note 1 to ffiaancial
Statements contained in this Annual Report.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our stock involves risks. You khcarefully read this entire report and considbetfollowing uncertainties and risks, which mayexdely affect
our business, financial condition or results of @i®ns, along with all of the other informationcinded in our other filings with the Securities @xtchange
Commission, before deciding to buy our common stock

Risks Relating to Our Business
We have incurred losses since our inception, exgeatontinue to incur such losses, and may neverpbefitable.

Since our inception, we have not achieved profitgbMWe expect to incur additional losses for theeseeable future, and our losses could incremseiraresearc
and development efforts progress. We expect that ksses will fluctuate from quarter to quarted éssses and fluctuations may be substantial.

To become profitable, we, or our collaborative pars, must successfully manufacture and develogpustacandidates, receive regulatory approval, and
successfully commercialize and/or enter into pablie agreements with other parties. It could bersgwears, if ever, before we receive signifia@venue from any
current or future license agreements or revenuesttli from product sales.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertaintiexiased with developing our product candidatestaed potential for commercialization, we are ureatul
predict the extent of any future losses. Even ifd@echieve profitability, we may not be able tstain or increase profitability on a quarterly anaal basis. If we are
unable to achieve and sustain profitability, thekatvalue of our common stock will likely decline.

Our success depends upon our ability to advance praducts through the various stages of developmespecially through the clinical trial process.

To receive the regulatory approvals necessanhfsale of our product candidates, we or our pestmeist demonstrate through preclinical studiesdinéal
trials that each product candidate is safe andtffe The development process is complex and teiceBecause of the cost and duration of clinigals, we may
decide to discontinue development of product catdilthat are unlikely to show good results inclivécal trials, unlikely to help advance a prodtethe point of a
meaningful collaboration, or unlikely to have aseaable commercial potential. We may suffer sigaiit setbacks in pivotal pre-clinical studies almtiaal trials (e.g.
BCX4430, BCX4161 and our second generation HAE pecbdandidates), even after earlier clinical treiew promising results. Clinical trials may notdzkequately
designed or executed, which could affect the p@katitcome and analysis of study results. Anywfmroduct candidates may produce undesirableedfdets in
humans. These side effects could cause us or tegukuthorities to interrupt, delay or halt cliaidrials of a product candidate. These side effeotld also result in t!
FDA or foreign regulatory authorities refusing fgpaove the product candidate for any targeted attins. We, our partners, the FDA or foreign retpriaauthorities
may suspend or terminate clinical trials at anyetifve or they believe the trial participants farecceptable health risks. Clinical trials may taidemonstrate that o
product candidates are safe or effective and hesepgable commercial viability. Regulatory authiestmay interrupt, delay or halt clinical trialg @product candidate
for any number of reasons.

Our ability to successfully complete clinical tdas dependent upon many factors, including butimited to:

e our ability to find suitable clinical sites and &stigators to enroll patient

« the availability of and willingness of patientsparticipate in our clinical trials

« the ability to maintain contact with patients teyide complete data after treatme

« our product candidates may not prove to be eithfer ar effective

¢ clinical protocols or study procedures may not teecmately designed or followed by the investigat

« manufacturing or quality control problems couldeatfthe supply of product candidates for our triated

« delays or changes in requirements by governmegtai@es

Clinical trials are lengthy and expensive. We ar partners incur substantial expense for, and @esighificant time to, preclinical testing and atad trials, yet we

cannot be certain that the tests and trials wilreresult in the commercial sale of a product. &@mple, clinical trials require adequate suppfedrug and sufficient
patient enrollment. Lack of adequate drug supplgiedays in patient enrollment, including in ourmpiad clinical trials for HAE, can result in incredscosts and longer

development times. Even if we or our partners ssgfcély complete clinical trials for our productnchdates, we or our partners might not file theuregyl regulatory
submissions in a timely manner and may not receigalatory approval for the product candidates.
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Our clinical trials may not adequately show that oproduct candidates are safe or effective.

Progression of our product candidates through lihieal development process is dependent uponra@ls indicating our product candidates have adegsafety
and efficacy in the patients being treated by achgepre-determined safety and efficacy endpointoeding to the clinical trial protocols. Failueedchieve either of
these in any of our programs, including BCX4161 andsecond generation HAE product candidatesdo@gult in delays in our trials or require thefpemance of
additional unplanned trials. This could result @lays in the development of our product candidatescould result in significant unexpected costthertermination of
programs.

If we fail to reach milestones or to make annual miinum payments or otherwise breach our obligatiamsder our license agreements, our licensors may
terminate our agreements with them and seek additibremedies.

If we are unable or fail to meet payment obligasigmerformance milestones relating to the timingegulatory filings, or development and commerdiigence
obligations, are unable or fail to make milestoagments or material data use payments in accordsitit@pplicable provisions, or fail to pay the immum annual
payments under our respective licenses, our ligarmsay terminate the applicable license or seegrattailable remedies. As a result, our developroktite respective
product candidate or commercialization of the patduould cease.

If we fail to obtain additional financing or accepble partnership arrangements, we may be unableamplete the development and commercialization of 0
product candidates or continue operations.

As our programs advance, our costs are likely ¢eeimse. Our current and planned discovery, précaliand clinical trials plus the related developte
manufacturing, regulatory approval process requéres) and additional personnel resources and gesquired for supporting the development of owdpict
candidates will consume significant capital resear®©ur expenses, revenues and cash utilizatiercoatd vary significantly depending on many fastancluding: our
ability to raise additional capital; the developrnprogress of our collaborative agreements forppaduct candidates; the amount of funding we rex&ivm
NIAID/HHS or other government agencies for BCX448Grom other new partnerships with third partiesthe development of our product candidates, dioly
BCX4161 and our second generation HAE product akatds; the amount or profitability of any orders RAPIVAB (peramivir injection) or BCX4430 by any
government agency or other party; the progressesults of our current and proposed clinical trfatsour most advanced product candidates, incy@&€X4161,
BCX7353 and our second generation HAE product ciatds; the progress made in the manufacturing ofiead products and the progression of our othegnams. W
expect that we will be required to enter into onenore acceptable partnership arrangements in todsrmplete the development of ulodesine for thatiment of gout.

We expect that we will be required to raise addaiccapital to complete the development and comialération of our current product candidates andmas
seek to raise capital at any time. Additional fumgdiwhether through additional sales of securitiesollaborative or other arrangements with corfpartners or from
other sources, including governmental agenciegireml and from any BARDA/HHS or NIAID/HHS contragiecifically, may not be available when neededror
terms acceptable to us. The issuance of preferredromon stock or convertible securities, with ternd prices significantly more favorable than ¢hosthe currently
outstanding common stock, could have the effedilafing or adversely affecting the holdings orhtig of our existing stockholders. In addition, abbrative
arrangements may require us to transfer certaienahtights to such corporate partners. Insuffitieinds or lack of an acceptable partnership reguire us to delay,
scale-back or eliminate certain of our researchdaw&lopment programs.

In order to continue future operations and contiowedrug development programs, we will be requicethise additional capital. In addition to segkatrategic
partnerships, transactions and government funeliegnay decide to access the equity or debt madkedsek other sources to meet liquidity needs.aDility to raise
additional capital may be limited and may greatpend upon the success of ongoing developmenedeiatour current drug development programs, incfugost
approval studies for peramivir, the progress, tineeéind ultimate outcome of the OPuS-2 clinicall ffprogress of our second generation HAE compquodsling for
and continued successful development of BCX4430 pmagress of our early discovery programs. In taldi constriction and volatility in the equity addbt markets
may restrict our future flexibility to raise capitahen such needs arise. Furthermore, we have axpts many different industries, financing partnand counterpartie
including commercial banks, investment banks amthpes (which include investors, licensing partnargl the U.S. Government) which may be unstabfeay becom
unstable in the current economic and political emvinent. Any such instability may impact these ipattability to fulfill contractual obligations tas or they might limit
or place burdensome conditions upon future traimsactvith us. Also, it is possible that supplieraynibe negatively impacted. Any such unfavorablea@uies in our
current programs or unfavorable economic conditmmdd place severe downward pressure on the stodlcredit markets, which could reduce the retuail@ble on
invested corporate cash, which if severe and sweslatould have a material and adverse impact oneguits of operations and cash flows and limitahility to
continue development of our product candidates.

If NIAID/HHS was to eliminate, reduce or delay furidg from our contract, this would have a significamegative impact on our revenues and cash flows.
Our projections of revenues and incoming cash flaressubstantially dependent upon NIAID/HHS reinseanent for the costs related to our BCX4430 program

If NIAID/HHS was to eliminate, reduce or delay thuading for these programs or disallow some ofiagurred costs, we would have to obtain additidnatling for
continued development or regulatory registratiarttiese product candidates or significantly redurcstop the development effort.
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Further, BARDA/HHS and NIAID/HHS may challenge acts that we have taken or may take under our atstveth them, which could negatively impact our
operating results and cash flows.

In contracting with BARDA/HHS and NIAID/HHS, we aselibject to various U.S. Government contract resmants, including general clauses for a cost-
reimbursement research and development contraathwaay limit our reimbursement or if we are founde in violation could result in contract terntina. U.S.
Government contracts typically contain extraordynarovisions that would not typically be found ionemercial contracts. For instance, government actgrpermit
unilateral modification by the government, intetpt®n of relevant regulations (i.e., federal asgign regulation clauses), and the ability to terae without cause. In
addition, U.S. Government contracts are subjeantm-process review, where the U.S. Governmeitrewiew the project and its options under the @it As such,
we may be at a disadvantage as compared to othenercial contracts. U.S. Government contracts apgest to audit and modification by the governmegrits sole
discretion. If the U.S. Government terminates afiysocontracts with us for its convenience, awvé default by failing to perform in accordance witile contract
schedule and terms, significant negative impaawrcash flows and operations could result.

Our government contracts with BARDA/HHS and NIAID/HS have special contracting requirements, which ate additional risks of reduction or loss of
funding.

We have recently completed work under a contrattt RARDA/HHS for the development of our neuramirsdanhibitor, peramivir. We also have entered ato
contract with NIAID/HHS for the development of BCX30 as a treatment for Marburg virus disease amdaBlirus disease. In contracting with these gomemnt
agencies, we are subject to various U.S. Governpwritact requirements, including general clauses fcost-reimbursement research and developmatract, which
may limit our reimbursement or, if we are found®in violation, could result in contract termimeiti U.S. Government contracts typically containmaxtdinary
provisions that would not typically be found in corercial contracts. For instance, government cotgtnaermit unilateral modification by the governmenterpretation
of relevant regulations (i.e., federal acquisitiegulation clauses), and the ability to terminaieut cause. In addition, U.S. Government congrace subject to the in-
process review described above. As such, we may aelisadvantage as compared to competitors ¢thavtdrely on U.S. Government contracts.

U.S. Government contracts typically contain unfade termination provisions and are subject toteautti modification by the government at its sokerition,
each of which subjects us to additional risks. Ehisks include the ability of the U.S. Governmentinilaterally:

« terminate or reduce the scope of our contract;
« audit and object to our contr-related costs and fees, including allocated intlicests.

The U.S. Government may terminate its contractk wét either for its convenience or if we defaulféling to perform in accordance with the contrachedule
and terms. Termination for convenience provisiogisegally enable us to recover only our costs iremiar committed, and settlement expenses and proftie work
completed prior to termination. Termination does permit these recoveries under default provisitmshe event of termination or upon expiratioreafontract, the
U.S. Government may dispute wind-down and termamatiosts and may question prior expenses undeotiiteact and deny payment of those expenses. Shauld
choose to challenge the U.S. Government for denggmhin payments under a contract, such a chaleagld subject us to substantial additional expemehich we
may or may not recover. Further, if the U.S. Goweent terminates its contracts with us for its camneece, or if we default by failing to perform in@rdance with the
contract schedule and terms, significant negatiygaict on our cash flows and operations could result

As a U.S. Government contractor, we are requirembtoply with applicable laws, regulations and stadd relating to our accounting practices and abgest to
periodic audits and reviews. As part of any sudfitaar review, the U.S. Government may review tHequacy of, and our compliance with, our intermadtml systems
and policies, including those relating to our pagihg, property, estimating, compensation and memagt information systems. Audits conducted byt
Government for the BARDA/HHS contract have beerigrared and concluded through fiscal 2009; all sgbset fiscal years are still open and auditableseBaon the
results of its audits, the U.S. Government may stdjur contract-related costs and fees, includilogated indirect costs. This adjustment could iotfiae amount of
revenues reported on a historic basis and coulddtngur cash flows under the contracts prospegtiveladdition, in the event BARDA/HHS or NIAID/HH&etermine
that certain costs and fees were unallowable @rahéhes that the allocated indirect cost rate vigisdr than the actual indirect cost rate, BARDA/H6INIAID/HHS
would be entitled to recoup any overpayment fromasia result. In addition, if an audit or reviewcovers any improper or illegal activity, we maysubject to civil ant
criminal penalties and administrative sanctionsluding termination of our contracts, forfeitureprbfits, suspension of payments, fines and suspeis prohibition
from doing business with the U.S. Government. Wdctalso suffer serious harm to our reputationlé@gations of impropriety were made against usaddition, under
U.S. Government purchasing regulations, some otosts may not be reimbursable or allowed undecontracts. Further, as a U.S. Government contractare
subject to an increased risk of investigationsniral prosecution, civil fraud, whistleblower lavitsuand other legal actions and liabilities as careg to private sector
commercial companies
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If we fail to successfully commercialize or estadflicollaborative relationships to commercialize tzn of our product candidates or if any partnerrminates
or fails to perform its obligations under agreemenith us, potential revenues from commercializatiof our product candidates could be reduced, deldyr
eliminated.

Our business strategy is to increase the asset elour product candidate portfolio. We believis th best achieved by retaining full product rgybt through
collaborative arrangements with third parties gaaepriate. As needed, potential third-party allesicould include preclinical development, clinidalelopment,
regulatory approval, marketing, sales and distidoubf our product candidates.

Currently, we have established collaborative retathips with Mundipharma for the development antroercialization of forodesine and with each of Bbigi
and Green Cross for the development and commerai@n of peramivir, in Japan, Taiwan and Southd&oiThe process of establishing and implementitighmrative
relationships is difficult, time-consuming and iwes significant uncertainty, including:

¢ our partners may seek to renegotiate or termithatie relationships with us due to unsatisfactdigical results, a change in business strategiamge of
control or other reason

e our contracts for collaborative arrangements magrex

e our partners may choose to pursue alternative tdabies, including those of our competitc

* we may have disputes with a partner that could teaitigation or arbitration

« we do not have day to day control over the acéisitf our partners and have limited control oveirttecisions

« our ability to generate future event payments aydlties from our partners depends upon theirtaslio establish the safety and efficacy of owdprct
candidates, obtain regulatory approvals and achiesdet acceptance of products developed from mdyzt candidate:

* we or our partners may fail to properly initiategintain or defend our intellectual property rightvvhere applicable, or a party may utilize ourppietary
information in such a way as to invite litigatidrat could jeopardize or potentially invalidate puoprietary information or expose us to potenigbility;

« our partners may not devote sufficient capitalesiources towards our product candidates;
« our partners may not comply with applicable govezntregulatory requiremen:

If we or our partners fail to fulfill our respondibes in a timely manner, or at all, our commai@ation efforts related to that collaboration kblbe reduced,
delayed or terminated, or it may be necessaryddowassume responsibility for activities that vabotherwise have been the responsibility of outnear If we are
unable to establish and maintain collaborativeticiahips on acceptable terms, we may have to agldjscontinue further development of one or mafreur product
candidates, undertake commercialization activatesur own expense or find alternative sourcesinodiing. Any delay in the development or commerzalon of our
product candidates would severely affect our bissinkeecause if our product candidates do not psedheough the development process or reach thieetriara timely
manner, or at all, we may not receive additionaire event payments and may never receive milesfpoduct sales or royalty payments

We do not have a great deal of experience in comeiadizing our products or technologies, and our fue revenue generation is uncertain.

We do not have a great deal of experience in comialging our products or technologies. We curnghtéve limited marketing capability, no direct birdl-party
sales force and limited distribution capabilitidée may be unable to establish or sufficiently iasethese capabilities for products we are, orfglacommercialize. In
addition, our revenue from collaborative agreemerdy be dependent upon the status of our prediaiwclinical programs. If we fail to advance th@sograms to th
point of being able to enter into successful caltaltions, we will not receive any potential futenent or other collaborative payments.

Our ability to receive revenue from products we omercialize presents several risks, including:

* we or our collaborators may fail to successfullynptete clinical trials sufficient to obtain FDA nkating approval

e many competitors are more experienced and havéisarily more resources, and their products coakth the market faster, be more cost effectiveawe ¢
better efficacy or tolerability profile than ourgoluct candidate:

* we may fail to employ a comprehensive and eféecintellectual property strategy, which could teBudecreased commercial value of our Companyamnd
products;
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* we may fail to employ a comprehensive and effeatagulatory strategy, which could result in a dedayailure in commercialization of our produc
* our ability to successfully commercialize our protuis affected by the competitive landscape, whatmot be fully known at this tim
« reimbursement is constantly changing, which coutshtly affect usage of our products; ¢

« future revenue from product sales would dependuwrability to successfully complete clinical stusli@btain regulatory approvals, and manufactureketanc
commercialize our approved dru

If our development collaborations with third partse such as our development partners and contrasie@rch organizations, fail, the development of qumoduct
candidates will be delayed or stopped.

We rely heavily upon other parties for many impottstages of our product candidate developmenitjdirgy but not limited to:
« discovery of compounds that cause or enable bicdébgeactions necessary for the progression ofisease or disorder, called enzyme targ
« licensing or designing of enzyme inhibitors for dimpment as product candidat
« execution of some preclinical studies and-stage development for our compounds and produclidates;
« management of our clinical trials, including meditenitoring and data manageme
« execution of additional toxicology studies that neyrequired to obtain approval for our productdidates; ant

* manufacturing the starting materials and drugstaure required to formulate our products and tbdyct candidates to be used in our clinical triedgicology
studies and any potential commercial prod

Our failure to engage in successful collaboratitnsny one of these stages would greatly impacbosiness. If we do not license enzyme targetshibitors
from academic institutions or from other bioteclugyl companies on acceptable terms, our drug demelopefforts would suffer. Similarly, if the conttaesearch
organizations that conduct our initial or late-gtatjnical trials, conduct our toxicology studiesanufacture our starting materials, drug substandeproduct candidates
or manage our regulatory function breached thdigations to us or perform their services incoreistith industry standards and not in accordarite tive required
regulations, this would delay or prevent both teeedlopment of our product candidates and the avilifiaof any potential commercial product.

If we lose our relationship with any one or moretafse parties, we could experience a significatetydin both identifying another comparable provided then
contracting for its services. We may be unablestain an alternative provider on reasonable teifmas all. Even if we locate an alternative providiéis likely that this
provider may need additional time to respond tormeds and may not provide the same type or ldsgrgice as the original provider. In additiony gmovider that we
retain will be subject to applicable FDA currentd@dd_aboratory Practices (“cGLP"), current Good Miaeturing Practices (“*cGMP”) and current Good Gladi
Practices (“cGCP™and comparable foreign standards. We do not havea@ver compliance with these regulations bysthproviders. Consequently, if these pract
and standards are not adhered to by these proyvitlerdevelopment and commercialization of our pop@andidates could be delayed, and our busifirascial
condition and results of operations could be mallgradversely affected.

Commercialization of RAPIVAB is subject to the potéal commercialization risks described herein andmerous additional risks. Any potential revenue
benefits to us are highly speculative.

Commercialization success of RAPIVAB is uncertaid & subject to all the risks and uncertaintisgldsed in our other risk factors relating to ddegelopment
and commercialization. In addition, commercialiaatof RAPIVAB is subject to further risks and commaialization may be negatively impacted by a nundfdactors,
including, but not limited to, the following:

« RAPIVAB may not prove to be safe and sufficientfieetive for market approval in the major marketises than the United State
* necessary funding for post marketing commitmentkfarther development of RAPIVAB may not be avaldatimely, at all, or in sufficient amount

« flu prevention or pandemic treatment concerns nwymaterialize at all, or in the near futu

« advances in flu vaccines or other antivirals, idalg competitive i.v. antivirals, could substarijiakplace potential demand for RAPIVA

20




any substantial demand for pandemic or season@eftments may not exist in the futu

RAPIVAB may not be accepted by patients and phgeias a treatment for seasonal influenza comparntbeé other currently marketed antiviral drugsjaht
would limit revenue from nc-governmental entitie:

numerous large and w-established pharmaceutical and biotech companiebevcompeting to meet the market demand for flugd and vaccine:

the only major markets in which patents relatm@RAPIVAB have issued or been allowed are the éthBtates, Canada, Japan, Australia and many ctngra
and extension states of the European Union, anghtent applications or issued patents for RAPIVABEN other potentially significant marke

regulatory authorities may not make needed accomatiwt to accelerate the drug testing and apprregless for RAPIVAB outside the United Staf

a limited number of governmental entities are etgkto be the primary potential stockpiling custosrfer RAPIVAB and if we are not successful at nedirkg
RAPIVAB to these entities for any reason, we wdl neceive substantial revenues from stockpilirdecs;

government and third party payors may not provigfiéicsent coverage or reimbursement which wouldategly impact the demand for RAPIVAI
we may not be able to maintain sufficient and atadgdp commercial manufacturing ourselves or thrathgia-party manufacturer:

the commercial demand and acceptance for RAPI\dpRealthcare providers and by patients may nastiffecient to result in substantial revenues of
RAPIVAB;

effectiveness of our marketing efforts, especialhce we have no sales force for RAPIVAB and weehdevoted limited resources to its commercializat
market satisfaction with existing alternative thees;

perceived efficacy relative to other available Hpées;

disease prevalenc

cost of treatmen

pricing and availability of alternative produc

marketing and sales activities of competitt

shifts in the medical community to new treatmemag@ms or standards of care; ¢

relative convenience and ease of administra

If any or all of these and other risk factors oceue will not attain significant revenues or grosargins from RAPIVAB and our stock price and orfclisws

may be adversely affected.

We are subject to various federal and state lawgulating the marketing of RAPIVAB and, if we do nabmply with these regulations, we could face

substantial penalties

Our sales, promotion and other activities relateRAPIVAB, or any of our other products under depehent following their regulatory approval, are jggbto

regulatory and law enforcement authorities in addito the FDA, including the Federal Trade Comimissthe Department of Justice, and state and poatrnments.
We are subject to various federal and state lawtsipéng to health care “fraud and abuse,” inclgdioth federal and state anti-kickback laws. Altjlowe seek to
comply with these statutes, it is possible thatpractices, or those of our distributors, mighthallenged under anti-kickback or similar laws. ldtmns of fraud and
abuse laws may be punishable by civil or crimiradcdions, including fines and civil monetary peiealt and future exclusion from participation in ggvment
healthcare programs.
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We have a number of outstanding post-marketing cioments to the FDA, which we may not complete sastidly or on time for any number of reasons,
including but not limited to lack of funds to comef@ the studies or insufficient interest by appedprsites, investigators or study subjects. Fangle, as a condition of
the approval of RAPIVAB, we are required to comglatpediatric patient study of RAPIVAB and to subimeé final results of this clinical trial to thédA. Depending
on the outcome of this clinical trial, we may beble to expand the indication for RAPIVAB or we m@gy/required to include specific warnings or litidas on dosing
this product, which could negatively impact ouresadf RAPIVAB. We may be subject to penalties iffaiéto comply with post-approval legal and redatg
requirements and our products could be subjeabitirmual recordkeeping and reporting requiremenetgew and periodic inspections by the FDA and otkgulatory
bodies. Regulatory approval of a product may bgestito limitations on the indicated uses for whilch product may be marketed or to the other atistei conditions ¢
approval that limit our ability to promote, sell distribute a product. Furthermore, RAPIVAB, ang ather future product candidates’ approval, maytain
requirements for costly post-marketing testing smdeillance to monitor its safety or efficacy.

Our advertising and promotion are subject to samid-DA rules and oversight. In particular, therokin our promotional materials and activities tries
consistent with the FDA approvals for our produats] must be appropriately substantiated and faalgnced with information on the safety risks hmitations of the
products. We must review adverse event informatmmcerning our products and make expedited anddieradverse event reports to the FDA and otharladory
authorities.

In addition, the research, manufacturing, distidnytsale and promotion of products are potentigligject to regulation by various federal, state lacal
authorities in addition to the FDA, including ther@ers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, othésitins of the U.S. Department of Health and Hur8arvices, the
U.S. Department of Justice and individual U.S. At&y offices within the Department of Justice, atate and local governments. Pricing and rebatgranas must
comply with the Medicaid rebate requirements of@mnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990, as adeeh and the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992pended. If
products are made available to authorized usetsedfederal Supply Schedule of the General Serfidesinistration, additional laws and requiremergplg. All of
these activities are also potentially subject ttefal and state consumer protection and unfair etitign laws.

If our operations are found to be in violation ofyaf the healthcare fraud and abuse laws descebede or any other governmental regulations thplyao us,
we may be subject to penalties, including civil @nichinal penalties, damages, fines and the cuntit or restructuring of our operations. Any paasjtdamages, fines,
curtailment or restructuring of our operations coadiversely affect our ability to operate our basgand our financial results. Although compligoicegrams can
mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecufionviolations of these laws, the risks cannot bgrely eliminated. Any action against us for viite of these laws,
even if we successfully defend against it, coulaseaus to incur significant legal expenses andrdowe management's attention from the operatioouofbusiness.
Moreover, achieving and sustaining compliance \aittapplicable federal and state fraud and abuss taay be costly.

We are subject to new legislation, regulatory prajats and healthcare payor initiatives that may iease our costs of compliance and adversely affectability
to market our products, obtain collaborators andisa capital.

In March 2010, the President signed the PatierteBtion and Affordable Care Act, or PPACA, whichkes extensive changes to the delivery of healtb icathe
U.S. The PPACA includes numerous provisions thi@capharmaceutical companies, some of which beafeetive immediately and others of which will ta&king
effect over the next several years. For examp&PIRACA seeks to expand health care coverage tmihsured through private health insurance refantsan
expansion of Medicaid. The PPACA will also imposeéstantial costs on pharmaceutical manufacturacsy as an increase in liability for rebates paitegicaid, new
drug discounts that must be offered to certainl&r@s in the Medicare prescription drug benefitaanual fee imposed on all manufacturers of braedqpiption drugs
in the U.S., and an expansion of an existing progrequiring pharmaceutical discounts to certairesypf hospitals and federally subsidized clinidee PPACA also
contains cost containment measures that could esghilmbursement levels for health care items andcgs generally, including pharmaceuticals. lbaksll require
reporting and public disclosure of payments an@mottansfers of value provided by pharmaceuticaiganies to physicians and teaching hospitals. Waatgredict
what effect the PPACA or other healthcare reforitiatives that may be adopted in the future wilv&an our business. Further, it remains unclearthdrehere will be
any changes made to provisions of the PPACA orrdtealth care laws through acts of Congress iriutuge. The continuing efforts of the governmensurance
companies, managed care organizations and othergaj/health care services to contain or redusésaaf health care could result in decreased nenrees from our
pharmaceutical products and decrease potentiahsefrom our development efforts. In addition, phaceutical and device manufacturers will also logired to report
and disclose investment interests held by physicéar their immediate family members during the@ding calendar year. Failure to submit requinddrimation may
result in civil monetary penalties for paymentansfers of value or ownership or investment intsrest reported in an annual submission. Compliavitethe PPACA
and state laws with similar provisions is difficaltid time consuming, and companies that do not owith these state laws face civil penalties. Bessaof the breadth
of these laws and the narrowness of the safe t&gribds possible that some of our business a@ivitould be subject to challenge under one or mbsech laws. Such
challenge could have a material adverse effectuobosiness, financial condition, results of operat and growth prospects.
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In addition, there have been a number of otheslative and regulatory proposals aimed at chantjiagoharmaceutical industry. In particular, ledistahas been
enacted in certain states and proposed at a fddgedlthat requires development of an electroeidigree to track and trace each prescription drtigeasaleable unit
level through the distribution system. Compliandthuhese electronic pedigree requirements mayeas®s our operational expenses and impose sigriifican
administrative burdens. In addition, our compliantay be deemed insufficient and we could fact eenedtadverse effect on our business, financiatldam, results of
operations and growth prospects. As a resultedgdtand other new proposals, we may determineatogehour current manner of operation, provide aiit benefits
or change our contract arrangements, any of whodldchave a material adverse effect on our busjriessicial condition and results of operations.

Managed care organizations are increasingly chgiligrthe prices charged for medical products amde®s and, in some cases, imposing restrictionthen
coverage of particular drugs. Many managed cararizgtions negotiate the price of medical servémasproducts and develop formularies which estalpitcing and
reimbursement levels. Exclusion of a product frofaranulary can lead to its sharply reduced usageérmanaged care organization’s patient populafibe process
for obtaining coverage can be lengthy and costig,we expect that it could take several monthsrieedgparticular payor initially reviews our prodactd makes a
decision with respect to coverage. For examplediparty payors may require cost-benefit analysisidrom us in order to demonstrate the cost-effecess of
RAPIVAB or any other product we might bring to merkFor any individual third-party payor, we mayt be able to provide data sufficient to gain reimsiement on a
similar or preferred basis to competitive produotsat all which may have a material adverse efd@cour business, financial condition and resuitsperations.

There are risks related to the potential governmesse or sale of RAPIVAB.

Government use or sale of RAPIVAB in emergencyagitins, or otherwise, may result in the use of RAKB which is outside of its approved use. To théeex
that RAPIVAB is used as a treatment for influengaahby government entity, there can be no assuriyatét will prove to be generally safe, well-taézd and effective.
Such government use of RAPIVAB may create cerfabilities for us. There is no assurance that wewrmanufacturers will be able to fully meet thegrgind for
RAPIVAB in the event of additional orders. Furthee may not achieve a favorable price for additianders of RAPIVAB in the United States or in aster country.

Our competitors may develop products that couldmetawith or replace RAPIVAB. We may face competitin markets where we have no existing intelldctua
property protection or are unable to successfuifpiree our intellectual property rights.

There is no assurance that the non-U.S. partner g we have entered into for RAPIVAB will resmitany order for RAPIVAB in those countries. Th&seo
assurance that RAPIVAB will be approved for any oswiill achieve market approval in additional ctiigs. In the event that any emergency use or maggroval is
granted, there is no assurance that any orderyoyp@m-U.S. partnership or commercialization of R¥RB in other countries will be substantial or wilé profitable to
us. The sale of RAPIVAB, emergency use or otherafig@APIVAB in any country may create certain liéi#s for us.

Because we have limited manufacturing experience, @epend on third-party manufacturers to manufactuour product, product candidates and the materials
for our product candidates. If we cannot rely onitt-party manufacturers, we will be required to inc significant costs and potential delays in findimew
third-party manufacturers.

We have limited manufacturing experience and ordynall scale manufacturing facility. We currengyyrupon third-party manufacturers to manufacthee t
materials required for our product, product cangisiaand most of the preclinical and clinical quiéegiof our product candidates. We depend on tthésk party
manufacturers to perform their obligations in agiyomanner and in accordance with applicable gawental regulations. Our third-party manufacturees/rancounter
difficulties with meeting our requirements, espégitor RAPIVAB and BCX4161, including but not lirred to problems involving:

¢ inconsistent production yield

e product liability claims

« difficulties in scaling production to commercialdamalidation sizes

« interruption of the delivery of materials requirfied the manufacturing proces

¢ scheduling of plant time with other vendors or ypested equipment failur

« potential catastrophes that could strike theirlitées or have an effect on infrastructu

«  potential impurities in our drug substance or paidihat could affect availability of product fanrcclinical trials or future commercializatio

e poor quality control and assurance or inadequategss controls; ar

« lack of compliance or cooperation with regulatiansl specifications or requests set forth by the EDAther foreign regulatory agencies, particuladgociate
with RAPIVAB and planned studies for BCX4161, BC»B3and BCX443C

For example, our product manufacturer for RAPIVA&s een issued a Warning Letter and a Form 483 therRDA. Failure to adequately address the
observations made in the Form 483 and subseqimetytsatisfactory inspections and other necesBBYA processes may result in issues with future supip
RAPIVAB.
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These contract manufacturers may not be able tafaeture the materials required for our productiidates at a cost or in quantities necessary teerttedm
commercially viable. We also have no control ovéether third-party manufacturers breach their ageses with us or whether they may terminate oridedb renew
agreements with us. To date, our third-party mastufars have met our manufacturing requirementsthgy may not continue to do so. Furthermore, gharin the
manufacturing process or procedure, including aghan the location where the drug is manufactareal change of a third-party manufacturer (inclgdRAPIVAB),
may require prior review and approval in accordanite the FDA’s cGMP and comparable foreign requieats. This review may be costly and time-consuraimd
could delay or prevent the launch of a product. FB& or similar foreign regulatory agencies at éinye may also implement new standards, or changje th
interpretation and enforcement of existing stansléod manufacture, packaging or testing of produ€tse or our contract manufacturers are unableotoply, we or
they may be subject to regulatory action, civii@ts or penalties.

If we are unable to maintain current manufactuongther contract relationships, or enter into r&reements with additional manufacturers on comialgre
reasonable terms, or if there is poor manufactyperformance or failure to comply with any reguigtagency on the part of any of our third-party nfasturers, we
may not be able to complete development of, seedlyi approval of, or market, our product candidates

Our raw materials, drug substances, and produdidates are manufactured by a limited group of Bepgand some at a single facility. If any of taesippliers
were unable to produce these items, this couldfgigntly impact our supply of product candidateteral for further preclinical testing and clinidaials.

Royalties and milestone payments from Shionogi unttee Company’s license agreement with ShionogigttShionogi Agreement”) will be required to be used
by Royalty Sub to service its obligations underPisaRMA Notes, and generally will not be availaliteus for other purposes until Royalty Sub has réghan full
its obligations under the PhaRMA Notes.

In March 2011, our wholly-owned subsidiary Roy&tyb issued $30.0 million in aggregate principal am@f PhaRMA Notes. The PhaRMA Notes are secured
principally by (i) certain royalty and milestoneypaents under the Shionogi Agreement, pursuant fohwlhionogi licensed from us the rights to magetamivir in
Japan and, if approved for commercial sale, TaiJigrrjghts to certain payments under a Japanes@y.S. dollar foreign currency hedge arrangemeninto place by
us in connection with the issuance of the PhaRMAelland (iii) the pledge by us of our equity ingtlie Royalty Sub. Payments from Shionogi to useurtde Shionoc
Agreement will generally not be available to usddrer purposes until Royalty Sub has repaid ihitabbligations under the PhaRMA Notes. Accordinghese funds
will be required to be dedicated to Royalty Sulbtdservice and not available to us for producetipment or other purposes. As of September 1,,28&4ayments
from Shionogi were insufficient for Royalty Subdervice its obligations under the PhaRMA Notesjltgsy in an event of default with respect to tHeRMA Notes.
As a result of this event of default, the holdeérthe PhaRMA Notes may be able to pursue acceterati the PhaRMA Notes and foreclose on the caidtecuring th
PhaRMA Notes and our equity interest in Royalty 8ol may exercise other remedies available to thaster the indenture or other documents relatebgd®haRMA
Notes. In such event, we may not realize the beakfuture royalty payments that might otherwiseraie to us following repayment of the PhaRMA Nptes may
incur legal costs and we might otherwise be adleeféected.

Because an event of default has occurred under BfaRMA Notes, the holders of the PhaRMA Notes mayable to pursue acceleration of the PhaRMA Notes
and foreclose on the collateral securing the PhaRNNMbtes and our equity interest in Royalty Sub, ilieh case we may not realize the benefit of futuogyalty
payments that might otherwise accrue to us follogiirepayment of the PhaRMA Notes and we could othieeabe adversely affected.

Royalty Subs ability to service its payment obligations inpest of the PhaRMA Notes, and our ability to berfefim our equity interest in Royalty Sub, is su
to numerous risks. Peramivir was first approvednfiarketing and manufacturing in Japan in Octob@92ihd has been offered for sale in Japan onleslaouary 201
As a result, there is limited sales history forgmeivir in Japan, and there can be no assuranceéhamivir will gain market acceptance in the Jasammarket. In
addition, Shionogs sales of peramivir are expected to be highlymedsand vary significantly from year to year, ahe market for products to treat or prevent infiza
is highly competitive. Under our license agreenweitih Shionogi, Shionogi has control over the conmeramprocess for peramivir in Japan and Taiwan.dRgySub’s
ability to service the PhaRMA Notes may be advegraéfected by, among other things, changes in grtammination of our relationship with Shionogiimbursement,
regulatory, manufacturing and/or intellectual pntpéssues, product returns, product recalls, peodability claims and allegations of safety issuas well as other
factors. As Royalty Sub has been unable to seitgagbligations under the PhaRMA Notes and an ev&default has occurred under the PhaRMA Noteshthiders of
the PhaRMA Notes may be able to pursue accelerafittle PhaRMA Notes and foreclose on the collarauring the PhaRMA Notes and our equity inteirest
Royalty Sub and may exercise other remedies avaitalihem under the indenture or other documesitded to the PhaRMA Notes. In such event, we noayealize
the benefit of future royalty payments that migtiteswise accrue to us following repayment of tha®MA Notes, we may incur legal costs and we mighéxwise be
adversely affected.
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Shionogi’s failure to successfully market and comroglize peramivir in Japan would have a materiatigerse effect on Royalty Sub’s ability to servite i
obligations on the PhaRMA Notes.

The successful commercialization of peramivir ipaladepends on the efforts of Shionogi and is betylea control of us or Royalty Sub. Sales by Shipepent
on many factors, including the incidence and séyefiseasonal influenza in Japan each year (botthich can vary very significantly from year toarg, the perceived
and actual efficacy and safety of peramivir, thpegience of physicians and patients with peramogntinued market acceptance, continued availglfisupply,
competition, sales and marketing efforts, goverrtalemegulation, and pricing and reimbursement pada Shionogi is responsible for the marketing sadd of
peramivir in Japan, including with respect to thieipg of peramivir in that market. There are noimum royalties, sales levels or other performaneasures required
of Shionogi under the Shionogi Agreement and Shgonould in its sole discretion reduce or ceassate efforts of peramivir in Japan, subject tcdsenant in the
Shionogi Agreement to use diligent efforts to contiadize peramivir in Japan. If Shionogi is unatdeor fails to, successfully market and commeizéaperamivir, it
would have a material adverse effect on Royalty<Sability to service its obligations under the RiA Notes and our ability to benefit from our equitterest in
Royalty Sub. To date, Shionogi royalties have hasafficient for Royalty Sub to service annual net obligations from the PhaRMA Notes and the RhARlotes are
in default.

We may be required to pay significant premiums undlee foreign currency hedge arrangement entereddrby us in connection with the issuance of the
PhaRMA Notes. In addition, because our potentialliglations under the foreign currency hedge are madkto market, we may experience additional quarger!
volatility in our operating results and cash flovadtributable to the foreign currency hedge arrangeimt.

In connection with the issuance by Royalty SuthefPhaRMA Notes, we entered into a foreign currdremjge arrangement to hedge certain risks assoeiatie
changes in the value of the Japanese yen relatitreetU.S. dollar. Under the foreign currency hedgeement, we may be required to pay an annualipne in the
amount of $2.0 million in each May, provided theeign currency hedge arrangement remains in effectjnuing through May 2020. Such payment willrbguired if,
in May of the relevant year, the spot rate of excgfeafor Japanese yen-U.S. dollars (determineddardance with the foreign currency hedge arrangé&nieruch that
the U.S. dollar is worth 100 yen or less. We wilfequired to mark-to-market our potential obligas under the currency hedge and post cash callatdrich may
cause us to experience additional quarterly vdhatit our operating results and cash flows assalteAdditionally, we may be required to pay sfg@nt premiums or a
termination fee under the foreign currency hedge@gent entered into by us in connection with #iseance of the PhaRMA Notes. The Company is redjtire
maintain a foreign currency hedge at 100 yen pdadonder the agreements governing the PhaRMA $ote

If we or our partners do not obtain and maintain gernmental approvals for our product candidates werdievelopment, we or our partners will not be abde
sell these potential products, which would signdittly harm our business because we will receiveraeenue.

We or our partners must obtain regulatory apprbefbre marketing or selling our future product deates. If we or our partners are unable to recesgelatory
approval and do not market or sell our future pmdandidates, we will never receive any revenamfsuch product sales. In the United States, vegiopartners must
obtain FDA approval for product candidates thatimtend to commercialize. The process of preparanghd obtaining FDA approval may be lengthy angeesive,
and approval is never certain. Products distribatetad are also subject to foreign governmentlaéign and export laws of the United States. Beeafghe risks and
uncertainties in biopharmaceutical development,psaduct candidates could take a significantly Emigme to gain regulatory approval than we expechay never
gain approval. If the FDA delays regulatory apptafsour product candidates, our management’s biiisli our value and our operating results mayfeufEven if the
FDA or foreign regulatory agencies approve a prodaaodidate, the approval may limit the indicatedsufor a product candidate and/or may require-gostoval
studies.

The FDA regulates, among other things, the recesplng and storage of data pertaining to poteptiarmaceutical products. We currently store mostuof
preclinical research data, our clinical data andranufacturing data at our facility. While we dore duplicate copies of most of our clinical daftsite and a
significant portion of our data is included in réggbackups of our systems, we could lose impodatd if our facility incurs damage, or if our vendliata systems fail,
suffer damage or are destroyed. If we receive a@bto market our potential products, whether i thnited States or internationally, we will conéno be subject to
extensive regulatory requirements. These requirésrame wide ranging and govern, among other things:

« adverse drug experience reporting regulati

e product promotion

¢ product manufacturing, including good manufactugngctice requirements; ai
¢ product changes or modificatior

Our failure to comply with existing or future regtory requirements, or our loss of, or changepr@viously obtained approvals, could have a mdtadaerse
effect on our business because we will not recgieeuct or royalty revenues if we or our partneysidt receive approval of our products for markgtin

We face intense competition, and if we are unatdecbompete effectively, the demand for our produdtsny, may be reduced.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industrieshaglely competitive and subject to rapid and sutitidatechnological change. There are many comganie
seeking to develop products for the same indicatibat we are working on. Our competitors in thééthStates and elsewhere are numerous and incuottmg others,
major multinational pharmaceutical and chemical panies and specialized biotechnology firms. Moghete competitors have greater resources tharoweaiuding
greater financial resources, larger research anelolement staffs and more experienced marketingngentlifacturing organizations. In addition, mosbof competitors
have greater experience than we do in conductingal trials and obtaining FDA and other regulgtapprovals. Accordingly, our competitors may stk obtainin
FDA or other regulatory approvals of product caatiid more rapidly than we do. Companies that campliical trials, obtain required regulatory apyals, and
commence commercial sale of their drugs before evendy achieve a significant competitive advantagguding patent and FDA exclusivity rights thatwie delay ou
ability to market products. We face, and will coni to face, competition in the licensing of ddsgalisease targets, licensing of desirable proclmtidates, and
development and marketing of our product candidiates academic institutions, government agenciesearch institutions and biotechnology and pharotaeg
companies. Competition may also arise from, amdhgrdhings:
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¢ other drug development technologi
* methods of preventing or reducing the incidencéiséase, including vaccines; a
« new small molecule or other classes of therapawfimts
Developments by others may render our product dabet or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive.

We and our partners are performing research oeweldping products for the treatment of severadrdisrs including HAE, recurrent/refractory peripdder-cell
lymphoma and broad spectrum antivirals which magéeeloped as medical countermeasures. We expenttiunter significant competition for any of the
pharmaceutical products we plan to develop. Congsathiat complete clinical trials, obtain requiredding or government support, obtain required r&iguy approvals
and commence commercial sales or stockpiling ordiettseir products before their competitors mayieeh a significant competitive advantage. Suchésdase with
Eisai Co. Ltd.'s TARGRETIN® for cutaneous T-celhtphoma and the current neuraminidase inhibitorketed by GSK and Roche for influenza and CINRYZEf@ a
FIRAZYR® for HAE, marketed by Shire Pharmaceutic#te., and KALBITOR® for HAE, marketed by Dyax Quaration. Therapeutic products with potentially
promising data to treat Ebola include Tekmira Plerentical s Corporation’s TKM-Ebola (RNAI interfere based) and Mapp Biopharmaceutical, Inc.’s ZMapp
(antibodybased) both of which have been used in Ebola fgati€aorther, several pharmaceutical and bioteclgydiioms, including major pharmaceutical comparaas
specialized structure-based drug design compamées, announced efforts in the field of structuredabdrug design and molecules in development ifi¢hds of HAE
and in other therapeutic areas where we have déisg@nd development efforts ongoing. If one or naireur competitors’ products or programs are ssisitg, the
market for our products may be reduced or elimihate

Compared to us, many of our competitors and pateadimpetitors have substantially greater:
«  capital resource:
« research and development resources, including peesand technology
¢ regulatory experienci
«  preclinical study and clinical testing experien
«  manufacturing and marketing experience;
¢ production facilities

Any of these competitive factors could impede aurding efforts, render technology and product cdetais non-competitive or eliminate or reduce denfandur
product candidates.

If we fail to adequately protect or enforce our gitectual property rights or secure rights to patsrof others, the value of those rights would dirisih.

Our success will depend in part on our ability #relabilities of our partners to obtain, protead anforce viable intellectual property rights irdilg but not
limited to trade name, trademark and patent prited¢or our Company and its products, methods, gsses and other technologies we may license ofage\e
preserve our trade secrets, and to operate withfyiriging the proprietary rights of third partiesth domestically and abroad. The patent positfdsiaiechnology and
pharmaceutical companies is generally highly uaderinvolves complex legal and factual questiom$ laas recently been the subject of much litigathdeither the
United States Patent and Trademark Office (‘USPT@®49 Patent Cooperation Treaty offices, nor thatsoof the United States and other jurisdictioagenconsistent
policies nor predictable rulings regarding the dibaf claims allowed or the degree of protectiffiorded under many biotechnology and pharmaceupants.
Further, we may not have worldwide patent protectar all of our product candidates and our intl@l property rights may not be legally proteate@nforceable in
all countries throughout the world. In some jurisidins, some of our product candidates in certadgiams, including our HAE program, may have shoro
composition of matter patent life and we may themefely on orphan drug exclusivity or data exalitgi There can be no assurance that we will obdghan drug
exclusivity or data exclusivity in every jurisdieti. Further, in some jurisdictions, we may relyfermulation patents or method of use patents. Bughability to achiev
issuance and the enforcement of formulation andhatedf use patents can be highly uncertain andzagnfrom jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and suchtpats may
therefore not adequately prevent competitors antenpial infringers in some jurisdictions. The véljd scope, enforceability and commercial valu¢hef rights protecte
by such patents, therefore, is highly uncertain.
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We also rely on trade secrets to protect technolloggses when we believe patent protection ispptopriate or obtainable. However, trade secretslifficult
to protect. If we cannot maintain the confidentiabf our technology and other confidential infottioa in connection with our collaborators and adss our ability to
receive patent protection or protect our proprietaformation may be imperiled.

Our success depends in part on avoiding the irgrimgnt of other parties’ patents and other inteli@gbroperty rights as well as avoiding the breafcany
licenses relating to our technologies and produitthe United States, patent applications filedeicent years are confidential for 18 months, whiitker applications are
not published until the patent issues. As a reauttiding patent infringement may be difficult and may inadvertently infringe third-party patentgpooprietary rights.
These third parties could bring claims againsbus partners or our licensors that even if resoimealur favor, could cause us to incur substaetg@enses and, if
resolved against us, could additionally cause ymjosubstantial damages. Further, if a paterniniggment suit were brought against us, our partmeosir licensors, we
or they could be forced to stop or delay reseateliglopment, manufacturing or sales of any infriggdroduct in the country or countries coveredhgypgatent we
infringe, unless we can obtain a license from tept holder. Such a license may not be availatlecoeptable terms, or at all, particularly if thied party is
developing or marketing a product competitive vtitl infringing product. Even if we, our partnersoor licensors were able to obtain a license, itiigs may be
nonexclusive, which would give our competitors asc the same intellectual property.

If we or our partners are unable or fail to adeglyanitiate, protect, defend or enforce our irgetlial property rights in any area of commercitdnest or in any
part of the world where we wish to seek regulatgpproval for our products, methods, processes trat technologies, the value of the product candgl produce
revenue would diminish. Additionally, if our prodacmethods, processes, and other technologiesr@oonmercial use of such products, processesoided
technologies, including but not limited to any eathme, trademark or commercial strategy infrifgeproprietary rights of other parties, we coulclinsubstantial
costs. The USPTO and the patent offices of othiésdictions have issued to us a number of patemtedr various inventions and we have in-licensagkgl patents
from various institutions. We have filed additiopaitent applications and provisional patent appiboa with the USPTO. We have filed a number ofesponding
foreign patent applications and intend to file &iddal foreign and U.S. patent applications, ageyppate. We have also filed certain trademark aade name
applications worldwide. We cannot assure you as to:

« the degree and range of protection any patentaffidtd against competitors with similar produc
« if and when patents will issu

« if patents do issue we cannot be sure that webeilible to adequately defend such patents and arratimot we will be able to adequately enforcehs
patents; o

« whether or not others will obtain patents claiméspects similar to those covered by our patenicgijuns.
If the USPTO or other foreign patent office uphogb@éents issued to others or if the USPTO grartenpapplications filed by others, we may have to:
«  obtain licenses or redesign our products or preésessavoid infringemen
¢ stop using the subject matter claimed in thosenpsiter
e pay damage:

We may initiate, or others may bring against uigdtion or administrative proceedings relatechteliectual property rights, including proceedihgfore the
USPTO or other foreign patent office. Any judgmadverse to us in any litigation or other proceediriging in connection with a patent or patent eapion could
materially and adversely affect our business, firercondition and results of operations. In addifithe costs of any such proceeding may be sufstesether or not
we are successful.

Our success is also dependent upon the skills, letlge and experience, none of which is patentableyr scientific and technical personnel. To haiptect our
rights, we require all employees, consultants, sargi and partners to enter into confidentialityeagnents that prohibit the disclosure of confidémi@rmation to
anyone outside of our company and require discépand assignment to us of their ideas, developmeistoveries and inventions. These agreementsnoiggyrovide
adequate protection for our trade secrets, know-ioather proprietary information in the event affainauthorized use or disclosure or the lawfuledtgyment by
others of such information, and if any of our piefary information is disclosed, our business wiiffer because our revenues depend upon our dliliiyense or
commercialize our product candidates and any suehts would significantly impair the value of symoduct candidates.

We face an inherent risk of liability in the evettitat the use or misuse of our products results irponal injury or death and our product liabilitynisurance
coverage may be insufficient.

If the use or misuse of RAPIVAB or any other FDApapved products we may sell in the future harmpfgeave may be subject to costly and damaging produ
liability claims brought against us by consumeeslthcare providers, pharmaceutical companiesi-fiarty payors or others. The use of our productiiciates in
clinical trials could also expose us to produdbility claims. We cannot predict all of the possilblarms or side effects that may result from tleeaiour products or the
testing of product candidates and, therefore, thewnt of insurance coverage we currently may nadegjuate to cover all liabilities or defense cessnight incur. A
product liability claim or series of claims brougigainst us could give rise to a substantial lighihat could exceed our resources. Even if claamesnot successful, the
costs of defending such claims and potential aéveublicity could be harmful to our business.
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We face an inherent risk of product liability exposrelated to the testing of our product cand&latédhuman clinical trials and will face even gezaisks upon
any commercialization by us of our product candidatWe have product liability insurance covering@ammercial sale of RAPIVAB and our clinical tsalClinical
trial and product liability insurance is becomimgrieasingly expensive. As a result, we may be en@bbbtain sufficient insurance or increase oustg coverage at a
reasonable cost to protect us against lossesdhét bave a material adverse effect on our busidesindividual may bring a product liability claiagainst us if one of
our products or product candidates causes, oaisiell to have caused, an injury or is found toriiitable for consumer use. Any product liabililgim brought
against us, with or without merit, could result in:

« liabilities that substantially exceed our produability insurance, which we would then be requitegbay from other sources, if availak
¢ anincrease of our product liability insurance saiethe inability to maintain insurance coveragéhe future on acceptable terms, or at
. withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers or patien
« damage to our reputation and the reputation opoadlucts, resulting in lower sale
¢ regulatory investigations that could require costigalls or product modification
¢ litigation costs; an
« the diversion of managem/s attention from managing our busine
Insurance coverage is increasingly more costly aditficult to obtain or maintain.

While we currently have insurance for our businpssperty, directors and officers, and our prodimssirance is increasingly more costly and narrawscope,
and we may be required to assume more risk inutued. If we are subject to claims or suffer a losdamage in excess of our insurance coverageiliviee required tc
bear any loss in excess of our insurance limitaelfare subject to claims or suffer a loss or danthgt is outside of our insurance coverage, weimay significant
uninsured costs associated with loss or damagedhiéd have an adverse effect on our operationdinadcial position. Furthermore, any claims madeoar insurance
policies may impact our ability to obtain or maintansurance coverage at reasonable costs or. at all

If our facility incurs damage or power is lost fa significant length of time, our business will sfeir.

We store clinical and stability samples at ourlfgcihat could be damaged if our facility incursysical damage or in the event of an extended péailere. We
have backup power systems in addition to backupmgeors to maintain power to all critical functipbsit any loss of these samples could result inifsignt delays in
our drug development process.

In addition, we store most of our preclinical afidical data at our facilities. Duplicate copiesmbst critical data are secured off-site. Any digant degradation
or failure of our computer systems could causeusaccurately calculate or lose our data. Losgaté could result in significant delays in our ddayelopment process
and any system failure could harm our businessopedations.

If we fail to retain our existing key personnel dail to attract and retain additional key personnehe development of our product candidates and
commercialization of our products and the relatedpansion of our business will be delayed or stopped

We are highly dependent upon our senior manageamehscientific team, the unexpected loss of wheséces might impede the achievement of our
development and commercial objectives. Competiiiorkey personnel with the experience that we nexjigi intense and is expected to continue to isere@ur inabilit
to attract and retain the required number of skilad experienced management, commercial, opeahtiol scientific personnel will harm our businkssause we rely
upon these personnel for many critical functionswfbusiness.

If because of our use of hazardous materials, welaie any environmental controls or regulations thapply to such materials, we may incur substantialsts
and expenses in our remediation efforts.

Our research and development involves the contrai$e of hazardous materials, chemicals and varaulisactive compounds. We are subject to fedstaie and
local laws and regulations governing the use, g@rhandling and disposal of these materials amsgaste products. Accidental contamination ominftom these
materials could occur. In the event of an accideetcould be liable for any damages that resultaamdliabilities could exceed our resources. Coamule with
environmental laws and regulations or a violatibsuch environmental laws and regulations couldiiregus to incur substantial unexpected costs, vviculd
materially and adversely affect our results of agiens.

Risks relating to investing in our common stock

Our existing principal stockholders hold a subst@tamount of our common stock and may be ablenéiuence significant corporate decisions, which may
conflict with the interest of other stockholders.

Several of our stockholders own greater than 5%uofoutstanding common stock. Our top five stoci#bd own more than 50% of BioCryst and can indiaityy
and as a group, influence our operations based thginconcentrated ownership. These stockholdetfsey act together, may be able to influencedhtome of
matters requiring approval of the stockholdersluiding the election of our directors and other cogpe actions.
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Our stock price has been, and is likely to continteebe, highly volatile, which could result in thealue of your investment in our common stock to tiee
significantly.

The market prices for securities of biotechnologgnpanies in general have been highly volatile aagt oontinue to be highly volatile in the future. Mover, our
stock price has fluctuated frequently, and thesetdiations are often not related to our finanaalits. For the twelve months ended December 3Y4,28e 52-week
range of the market price of our stock was fron2$70 $14.62 per share. The following factors,ddition to other risk factors described in thisteet may have a
significant impact on the market price of our conmstock:

« announcements of technological innovations or nesdycts by us or our competito

« developments or disputes concerning patents origtapy rights;

* additional dilution through sales of our commorcktor other derivative securitie

« status of new or existing licensing or collaboratagreements and government contr:

¢ announcements relating to the status of our progj

« developments and announcements regarding new euldntistrains of influenz:

e we or our partners achieving or failing to achieeselopment milestone

«  publicity regarding actual or potential medicaluks relating to products under development byrusup competitors
« publicity regarding certain public health conceforswhich we are or may be developing treatme

« regulatory developments in both the United Statesfareign countries

¢ public concern as to the safety of pharmaceuticzdyrcts;

¢ actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults;

« changes in financial estimates or recommendatigreeburities analyst:

« changes in the structure of healthcare paymengsigstincluding developments in price control legish;

* announcements by us or our competitors of signifiegquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint vees or capital commitment
* additions or departures of key personnel or memtiessir board of director:

* purchases or sales of substantial amounts of oak §ty existing stockholders, including officersdirectors;

* economic and other external factors or other désasir crises; an

« perioc-to-period fluctuations in our financial resul

Future sales and issuances of securities may diltite ownership interests of our current stockholdesind cause our stock price to decline.

Future sales of our common stock by current stolddrs into the public market could cause the mapkiee of our stock to fall. As of January 31, 20tttere wert
72,320,136 shares of our common stock outstantlifegmay from time to time issue securities in relatio a license arrangement, collaboration, mesgecquisition.

As of January 31, 2015, there were 11,067,975 siptibns and restricted stock units outstanding69,593 shares available for issuance under oumélieeand
Restated Stock Incentive Plan, and 538,293 shagslsible for issuance under our Employee Stock fage Plan. In addition, we could also make equitgpensation
grants outside of our Stock Incentive Plan. Theeshanderlying existing stock options, restrictextk units and possible future stock options, stgfreciation rights
and stock awards have been registered pursuasgitstnation statements on Form S-8.
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If some or all of such shares are sold or otherigisged into the public market over a short pedbtime, our current stockholders’ ownership ingtsemay be
diluted and the value of all publicly traded shaselékely to decline, as the market may not beedblabsorb those shares at tlarrent market prices. Additionally, st
sales and issuances may make it more difficuluforo sell equity securities or equity-related siies in the future at a time and price that oanagement deems
acceptable, or at all.

We have anti-takeover provisions in our corporateacter documents that may result in outcomes withieh you do not agree.

Our board of directors has the authority to issuéou4,800,000 shares of undesignated preferrett sted to determine the rights, preferences, pgés and
restrictions of those shares without further vataaion by our stockholders. The rights of thedieos of any preferred stock that may be issueddrfuture may
adversely affect the rights of the holders of comratmck. The issuance of preferred stock could nitakere difficult for third parties to acquire aajority of our
outstanding voting stock.

In addition, our certificate of incorporation prdes for staggered terms for the members of thedbafadtirectors and supermajority approval of thmegal of any
member of the board of directors and prevents tmakbolders from acting by written consent. Outifieate also requires supermajority approval of amendment of

these provisions. These provisions and other pimngsof our by-laws and of Delaware law applicableis could delay or make more difficult a mergender offer or
proxy contest involving us.

We have never paid dividends on our common stocll do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeableuiig.

We have never paid cash dividends on our stockcitently intend to retain all future earningsaify, for use in the operation of our business. Adiogly, we dc
not anticipate paying cash dividends on our comstook in the foreseeable future.

Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This filing contains forward-looking statementshiit the meaning of Section 21E of the Securitieshaxnge Act of 1934, as amended, which are sulgebget
“safe harbor” created in Section 21E. All statersasther than statements of historical facts cortiin this filing are forward-looking statementfiee forwardeoking
statements can generally be identified by the iseoads such as “may,” “will,” “intends,” “plans,’believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “estimatesgredicts,”
“potential,” the negative of these words or simgapressions. Statements that describe our futars pstrategies, intentions, expectations, ohjestigoals or prospects
are also forward-looking statements. Discussiomsaining these forward-looking statements are jjpadty contained in “Business,” “Risk Factors” atiddanagement
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &websults of Operations,” as well as any amendmeatmake to those sections in filings with the SERede forward-
looking statements include, but are not limitedstatements about:

« the initiation, timing, progress and results of pugclinical testing, clinical trials, and othesearch and development effol

« the potential funding from our contracts with BARIHS for the development and support of the NDAgjifor RAPIVAB and the potential fundir
from our contract with NIAID/HHS for the developntesf BCX4430;

« the potential for a government stockpiling ordepmfit from commercial sales of RAPIVAL
« the potential use of RAPIVAB as a treatment for HLN5N1, and H7N9 or other strains of influen

« the further preclinical or clinical development asainmercialization of our product candidates, idoig our HAE program, RAPIVAB, BCX4430, eal
stage discovery programs, forodesine, and otheriRNBitor development program

« the implementation of our business model, stratplgins for our business, product candidates arhtdogy;
* our ability to establish and maintain collaborati@r ou-license rights to our drug candidat

¢ plans, programs, progress and potential succemsrafollaborations, including Mundipharma for foesthe and Shionogi and Green Cross for perami
their territories

« Royalty Sul's ability to service its payment obligations inpest of the PhaRMA Notes, and our ability to berfeéim our equity interest in Royalty St
« the foreign currency hedge agreement entered ynteshin connection with the issuance by Royalty 8ithe PhaRMA Notes

« the scope of protection we are able to establishnaaintain for intellectual property rights coveyiour product candidates and technolc

« our ability to operate our business without infimgthe intellectual property rights of othe

*  estimates of our expenses, revenues, capital esgaints and our needs for additional financ

« the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings araghprovals

¢ our ability to raise additional capital to fund aperations

¢ our financial performance; ar

¢« competitive companies, technologies and our ingiu
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These statements relate to future events or téuburre financial performance and involve known aménown risks, uncertainties and other importaatdies that
may cause our actual results, performance or aehients to be materially different from any futugsults, performance or achievements expressedpbienrby these
forward-looking statements. Factors that may cagseal results to differ materially from currenpextations include, among other things, thosedisteder “Risk
Factors.” Any forward-looking statement reflects ourrent views with respect to future events anslibject to these and other risks, uncertaintidsaasumptions
relating to our operations, results of operatiamgustry and future growth. Except as requiredawy, lwe assume no obligation to update or revisgetifi@ward-looking
statements for any reason, even if new informdtecomes available in the future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease property in both Durham, North Carolind Brmingham, Alabama. Our headquarters, includingclinical and regulatory operations, are based i
Durham, while our principal research facilities breated in Birmingham. We lease approximately @6,8quare feet in Durham through June 30, 2020emse
approximately 35,000 square feet in BirminghamulgfoJune 30, 2016. Beginning in October 2015, wilegse an additional approximate 35,000 squagtife
Birmingham to house our new research facilities.&kjeect to begin construction on our new reseactitly in 2015. We believe that our facilities aéequate for our
current operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.

PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
Market Information

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Selatket under the symbol BCRX. The following tabkgs forth the low and high sales prices of our
common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Sélarket for each quarter in 2014 and 2013:

2014 2013
Low High Low High
First quartel $ 7.4 $ 13.3:  $ 112 % 2.04
Second quarte $ 72¢ % 12.8¢ $ 12¢ % 2.21
Third quartel $ 9.7¢ % 146z $ 151 $ 7.5¢
Fourth quarte $ 9.0z $ 13.2¢  $ 458 $ 7.84

The last sale price of the common stock on JanB@yR015 as reported by the NASDAQ Global Selectkdetawas $10.18 per share.

Holders

As of January 31, 2015, there were approximatel/Hd&ders of record of our common stock

Dividends
We have never paid cash dividends and do not pateipaying cash dividends in the foreseeabledutur

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph is not “soliciting mateti#,not deemed filed with the SEC and is not tarm®rporated by reference in any filing by us uritie
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whether maderbeor after the date hereof and irrespectivengf@eneral incorporation language in any suchdilifihe stock pric:
performance shown on the graph is not necessadigative of future price performance.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH FOR BIOCRYST
Indexed Comparison Since 2009

2250
100
2150 ——B{RXY
=@—HNasdag Stock Market
100 4 a— N asclagg Pharm Stocks
550
' 09 10 011 2012 013 2014
Beginning
Investment Investment Investment Investment Investment Investment
12/31/09 at 12/31/10 at 12/31/11 at 12/31/12 at 12/31/13 at 12/31/14
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, In $ 100.0C $ 80.0: $ 382 % 21.9¢ $ 117.68 $ 188.2¢
The NASDAQ Stock Marke 100.0( 117.5¢ 117.9: 137.2¢ 183.2¢ 206.0¢
NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Stoc| 100.0( 102.6( 120.5¢ 137.8: 186.9¢ 227.7

The above graph measures the change in a $10Qrimemisin our common stock based on its closingepoic$6.46 on December 31, 2009 and its year-evging
price thereafter. Our relative performance is tbempared with the CRSP Total Return Indexes foNASDAQ Stock Market (U.S.) and NASDAQ Pharmacealtic
Stocks.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities: None.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
There were no repurchases of our common stockasestsurrendered to satisfy tax obligations duttiegfourth quarter of 2014.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected Statement of Operations Data and 8al@heet data with respect to the years ended eredt, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011, and 2010 set bafibw
are derived from our consolidated financial statetsieThe selected financial data set forth belosukhbe read in conjunction with “Management’s Dission and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gytiems contained in ltem 7 below and our consadiddinancial statements and the notes thereto ajegeto this
annual report.

Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except per share amount:

Statement of Operations Data

Total revenue $ 13,60¢ $ 17,33. % 26,29: % 19,64: $ 62,38
Cost of product sol 1 — — — 86
Research and development expet 51,79¢ 41,94 49,16( 55,53¢ 82,47
General and administrative expen 7,461 6,007 9,13( 13,69: 13,14¢
Royalty expens 121 98 132 — —
Restructuring cost — — 1,75¢ — 1,03¢
Loss from operation (45,777 (30,717 (33,889 (49,587 (34,35)
Net loss (45,189 (30,109 (39,08)) (56,94¢) (33,85
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.68) $ (0.59) $ 079 $ (1.2¢) $ (0.7¢)
Weighted average shares outstanc 66,77 55,21¢ 49,47 45,14« 44,56«

As of December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data

Cash, cash equivalents and investm $ 114,03t  $ 40,78¢ $ 37,05¢ % 57,72t % 66,34:
Receivable: 9,49( 2,11t 4,56: 5,831 30,227
Inventory 682 — — 26% 89¢
Total asset 136,87 48,86¢ 57,43¢ 82,20¢ 109,44
Long-term deferred revent 3,552 4,73¢ 5,92( 7,102 15,94+
Non-recourse notes payat 30,00( 30,00( 30,00( 30,00( —
Accumulated defici (467,899 (422,709 (392,60)) (353,52() (296,577)
Total stockholder (deficit) equity 75,63 (2,126 (454) 14,80¢ 65,50:
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certaatesinents of a forward-looking nature relating teufe events or the future financial performanc@&mfCryst.
Such statements are only predictions and the aewahts or results may differ materially from tleesults discussed in the forwalabking statements. Factors that co
cause or contribute to such differences include¢hdiscussed below and elsewhere in this repostigdisas those discussed in other filings madeibZB/st with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

The following Management’s Discussion and Anal{/8##)&A”) is intended to help the reader understaodr results of operations and financial condition.
MD&A is provided as a supplement to, and shoulddael in conjunction with, our audited financial ttments and the accompanying notes to the finastaéément
and other disclosures included in this Annual RéparForm 10-K (including the disclosures underefit 1A. Risk Factors”).

Cautionary Statement

The discussion herein contains forward-lookingestaints within the meaning of Section 21E of theu8ges Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are
subject to the “safe harbor” created in Section.Hdfward looking statements regarding our finammadition and our results of operations thattzased upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have Ipgepared in accordance with accounting principkrsegally accepted within the United States (“U.8AB”), as well
as projections for the future. The preparatiorhese financial statements requires our managememake estimates and judgments that affect thetegpamounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, aatkdetlisclosure of contingent assets and lialsliti#e evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basise€imates are bas
on historical experience and on various other apsioms that are believed to be reasonable undesitbemstances. The results of our estimates fberbasis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assed liabilities that are not readily apparentrfrather sources.
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We operate in a highly competitive environment thablves a number of risks, some of which are Ipelyour control. We are subject to risks common to
biotechnology and biopharmaceutical companiesydiob risks inherent in our drug discovery, drugelepment and commercialization efforts, clinicéls,
uncertainty of regulatory actions and marketingrapals, reliance on collaborative partners, enforeet of patent and proprietary rights, the needuture capital,
competition associated with products, potential petition associated with our product candidatesratehtion of key employees. In order for any of product
candidates to be commercialized, it will be neagska us, or our collaborative partners, to cortdiimical trials, demonstrate efficacy and safetyhe product
candidate to the satisfaction of regulatory autresj obtain marketing approval, enter into manwii@geg, distribution and marketing arrangements| abtain market
acceptance and adequate reimbursement from govetameé private insurers. We cannot provide assertéirat we will generate significant revenues oli@chand
sustain profitability in the future. In additionevean provide no assurance that we will have saffidunding to meet our future capital requirense@tatements
contained in Management's Discussion and AnalysErmancial Condition and Results of Operations alséwhere in this report which are not historfeats are, or
may constitute, forward-looking statements. Forwlaaking statements involve known and unknown risieg could cause our actual results to differ mialtg from
expected results. The most significant known reslesdiscussed in the section entitled “Risk Factdishough we believe the expectations reflectedhie forward-
looking statements are reasonable, we cannot gearéuture results, levels of activity, performanceachievements. We caution you not to place umelignce on any
forward-looking statements.

Our revenues are difficult to predict and depengiemerous factors, including the prevalence andritg\vof influenza in regions for which peramiviafireceived
regulatory approval, seasonality of influenza, angaliscussions with government agencies regarituge RAPIVAB and/or BCX4430 development and spbikg
procurement, as well as entering into, or modifyli@gnsing agreements for our product candiddeghermore, revenues related to our collaboraterelopment
activities are dependent upon the progress towaddre achievement of developmental milestonesshyr wur collaborative partners.

Our operating expenses are also difficult to prteaiicd depend on several factors, including reseandhdevelopment expenses (and whether these egare
reimbursable under government contracts), drug faaturing, and clinical research activities, thgoing requirements of our development programs,taad
availability of capital and direction from regulagaagencies, which are difficult to predict. Managst may be able to control the timing and leveleskarch and
development and general and administrative expehaésany of these expenditures will occur irrespe of our actions due to contractually committetivities
and/or payments.

As a result of these factors, we believe that petdoperiod comparisons are not necessarily me&niagd you should not rely on them as an indicatbfuture
performance. Due to all of the foregoing factatrss possible that our operating results will béobethe expectations of market analysts and investa such event, the
prevailing market price of our common stock coutdnhaterially adversely affected.

Overview

We are a biotechnology company that designs, opgisnand develops novel small molecule drugs tlakikey enzymes involved in the pathogenesis afadiss.
We focus on the treatment of rare diseases in wdigiificant unmet medical needs exist and aligth wur capabilities and expertise. We integratediseiplines of
biology, crystallography, medicinal chemistry amsinputer modeling to discover and develop small swéepharmaceuticals through the process knowtrastsre-
guided drug design.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The accompanying discussion and analysis of oanfiial condition and results of operations are hap®n our consolidated financial statements aaddtated
disclosures, which have been prepared in accordaiticed).S. GAAP. The preparation of these consaéddinancial statements requires us to make etsrend
judgments that affect the reported amounts of askabilities, revenues, expenses and relatedadisce of contingent assets and liabilities. Weleata our estimate
judgments and the policies underlying these eséman a periodic basis, as situations change,andarly discuss financial events, policies, asdés with members
our audit committee and our independent registptiadic accounting firm. We routinely evaluate ostimates and policies regarding revenue recognition
administration, inventory and manufacturing, taxstsck-based compensation, research and developeooaisulting and other expenses and any assodiabédies.

Recent Corporate Highlights
RAPIVAB(peramivir injection)

RAPIVAB was approved by the FDA on December 19 £2fuit the treatment of acute uncomplicated infleeimzadult patients who have been symptomatic dor n
more than two days. We supplied RAPIVAB to our spieg distributors and made it available to patieoh December 26, 2014. We have elected the “Sebuigh”
revenue recognition and recognized approximate8;&® of RAPIVAB product sales in 2014. With theegval and commercial availability of RAPIVAB, wesanow
moving our focus to obtaining a stock-piling prasment contract with the U.S. Government to reaheestrategic value of this program. The $234.8ionil
development contract from BARDA/HHS in which peraimivas being developed expired on June 30, 20bh @pmpletion of all our responsibilities under the
contract.

HAE Program
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BCX4161

On December 18, 2014, we announced the dosingedfrgt patient in OPuS-2 (Oral ProphylaxiS-2) liaded, randomized, placebo-controlled clinicahitiof
orally-administered BCX4161 in patients with HAEP@5-2 is a 12-week, three-arm, parallel cohortgatessial to evaluate the efficacy and safety of theses of
BCX4161, 300 mg and 500 mg, administered threegidadly compared with placebo. This trial is becegpducted in the U.S. and select European couraridss
expected to enroll approximately 100 HAE patiefitse primary efficacy endpoint for the trial will blee mean angioedema attack rate for each BCX4&8& group
compared to placebo. In December 2014 and Jan®4#, 2he FDA granted BCX4161 Orphan Drug designagiod Fast Track designation for the treatmentAEHN
addition, the COMP of the EMA issued a positiveniqm on the application for orphan drug designat@mrBCX4161 for the treatment of patients with HARd the
European Commission recently affirmed this designat

BCX7353 and other 2nd generation HAE compounds

In January 2015, we selected BCX7353, one of twaaced-stage preclinical optimized plasma kallikiehibitors, to advance into Phase 1 developmsiat a
once-daily, oral prophylactic HAE treatment. BXC335 structurally different from BCX4161, but hasimilar mechanism of action. BCX7353 has completiéd
toxicology requirements necessary for testing ialthg human volunteers and we expect it to ent@asPH clinical development in 2015. In additioB@X7353, we
continue to work on multiple other second generatimlecules that are at an earlier stage of piieelidevelopment.

BCX4430

On December 15, 2014, we announced the dosingedfrt subject in a randomized, placebo-controR&ase 1 clinical trial to evaluate i.m. administraof
BCX4430 in healthy volunteers. The main goals & finst-in-human study are to evaluate the safitigrability and pharmacokinetics of escalatingetof BCX4430
administered via i.m. injection in healthy subjects

On December 23, 2014, we announced results frame@essful proof-of-concept study of BCX4430 for treatment of experimental Ebola virus infection in
Rhesus macaques, conducted at USAMRIID. The primgaay of the study was to assess the effect of Bf3R4reatment on survival through Day 41 in aniniafiscted
with Ebola virus. Dosing of placebo or BCX4430 by.iinjection was initiated 30-120 minutes afteusichallenge and continued twice a day for 14 dalye overall
survival rate for BCX4430 treated animals at dayvés 10 of 12 (83%, p < 0.001 compared to contr&lsliminary evaluation of the quantity of virusthe blood
showed an approximate 3-log reduction in Ebolas/RINA copies/mL of plasma, compared with contraireais. This Rhesus macaques study was conducteaving
the completion, in November 2014, of a dose-rangingy of BCX4430 for the treatment of cynomolguscagues infected with Ebola virus. The cynomolgasaques
study was designed to evaluate whether BCX4430 sti@ameaningful benefit for survival in Ebola vilBIP disease models. In this study, BCX4430 dematest a
statistically significant prolongation of surviviar the animals at the highest dose regimen tebtgtcho animals survived beyond 21 days.

On February 12, 2015, NIAID/HHS exercised an addai option under our BCX4430 development contwdath provides an additional $2.7 million to us far.
development and submission of an IND. Exerciséuisfaption yields $25.0 million of obligated optikmding under the $29.1 million contact.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to 2013

Total 2014 revenues decreased to $13.6 millioroagared to 2013 revenues of $17.3 million. The 2@l4nue consisted of $3.0 million of royalty reverirom
Shionogi and Green Cross associated with salesrahgvir in Japan and Korea, $9.4 million of reimrg@ment of collaborative expenses from BARDA/HHE an
NIAID/HHS related to the development of peramiwideBCX4430, and $1.2 million associated with callegtive revenue amortization from other corpo
partnerships. In addition, we recorded approxinye$8B3,000 of RAPIVAB revenue under the “Sell-Thrbligevenue recognition methodology. RAPIVAB was
available for commercial sale on December 26, 20h4.decrease in total revenues was primarily ésalt of the June 2014 BARDA/HHS peramivir contragpiration
associated with completion of development actigitiader this contract. The 2013 revenue considgt®d.6 million of royalty revenue from Shionogi aGdeen Cross
associated with sales of peramivir in Japan ane&d$13.5 million of reimbursement of collaboratx@enses from BARDA/HHS related to the developnoént
peramivir and $1.2 million associated with colladtore revenue amortization from other corporatéraships. With the expiration of BARDA/HHS peraimieontract,
unless we enter into new government contractsjgtificant and future reimbursement of collabamatgxpenses will be under the NIAID/HHS BCX4430 elepment
contract. In addition, we expect RAPIVAB produdesato increase in future years when the produataslable prior to the beginning of the influersesason and for a
longer period of time within a fiscal year. Howeveur RAPIVAB product revenue will be difficult faredict because of volatility in prevalence, timamg severity of
influenza season to season in the United Statebecalise we will not incur substantial commercaion expenses to promote it.

Research and Development (“R&D") expenses increts881.8 million in 2014 from $41.9 million in 2812014 R&D expenses, compared with 2013, reflect
increased spending on our HAE and BCX4430 prognahish were partially offset by the wind-down of ganivir development activities and the expiratiortraf
BARDA/HHS development contract. In addition, oul2Cequity compensation expense allocated to R&Peesed due to the vesting of two underlying milesto
under previously issued performance-based stod&rapfor the successful outcome of OPuS-1 and RABI¥pproval in the U.S. In 2013, we recognized
approximately $5.0 million of R&D costs relatedetovrite-off of deferred collaboration costs asstmavith our PNP licensing agreement with AECOM/IRis
write-off, and related R&D expenses, was allocatethe ulodesine program and represents the majafr2013 ulodesine expense represented in the tadbw.
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The following table summarizes our R&D expensegHerperiods indicated (amounts are in thousands).

2014 2013 2012
R&D expenses by prograr
BCX4161 $ 19,00¢ $ 15,44; $ 8,931
Peramivir 2,89¢ 13,62} 12,79¢
Ulodesine 36 5,86¢ 9,72¢
BCX4430 13,06( 3,31¢ 1,24¢
BCX5191 — 44¢ 8,22¢
Forodesine — 12 2,14¢
2nd generation HAE compoun 11,68: — —
Other research, preclinical and development costs 5,11¢ 3,23( 6,07¢
Total R&D expenses $ 51,79¢ $ 41,94:  $ 49,16(

R&D expenses include all direct and indirect exjsrend are allocated to specific programs at the pbdevelopment of a lead product candidatee€&lir
expenses are charged directly to the program tohwthiey relate and indirect expenses are allodzdsdd upon internal direct labor hours dedicatezhtd respective
program. Direct expenses consist of compensatioR&D personnel and costs of outside parties talachlaboratory studies, develop manufacturing gsees,
manufacture the product candidates, conduct anégeadinical trials, as well as other costs relatedur clinical and preclinical studies. Indiré&D expenses consist
of lab supplies and services, facility expenseprelgation of development equipment and other aeamliof our research and development efforts. R&erges vary
according to the number of programs in clinical@lepment and the stage of development of our @lmpcograms. Later stage clinical programs tencbst more than
earlier stage programs due to the longer lengthma of the clinical trials and the higher numbépatients enrolled in these clinical trials.

General and administrative (“G&A") expenses incexh $7.5 million in 2014 compared to $6.0 millior2013. The increase of $1.5 million is primalye to
RAPIVAB distribution expenses and unrestricted tgawarded to the U.S. and International HAE pageivocacy groups. Although we do not have plansdor
substantial commercial expenses to promote RAPINfABie U.S. in the future, we do expect our futB&A expenses to increase associated with RAPIVAB
distribution expenses and other increases in adirétive expenses associated with corporate griowtheparation for future NDA and other regulatéiliyngs and for
product commercialization.

Interest expense, related to the non-recourse ssiesd in conjunction with the peramivir royaltpmetization transaction in March 2011, increasgghgy to
$5.0 million in 2014 as compared to $4.8 millior2id13. In addition, a mark to market gain of $5i8iom was recognized in 2014 related to the fonedgirrency hedge
entered into in conjunction with the royalty momation transaction, compared to a mark to markiet @fe$5.3 million in 2013, both resulting from afges in the U.S.
dollar/Japanese yen exchange rate during the riégpgears. We entered into a foreign Currency Hetigreement to hedge changes in the value of fhendse yen
relative to the U.S. dollar. The currency hedgesduat qualify for hedge accounting treatment ardetfore mark to market adjustments are recognizedii
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive LossoAdth we cannot predict the future yen/dollar exdearate, the applicable foreign currency rates moueh that
we currently have no collateral posted; howevas ftossible that collateral will be required inl80r the future. We are unable to predict futiranges in the
yen/dollar exchange rate or increases/decreasrg inedge loss associated with the Currency Hedgeenent.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to 2012

Total 2013 revenues decreased to $17.3 millioroagared to 2012 revenues of $26.3 million. The 2@1@nue consisted of $2.6 million of royalty reverirom
Shionogi and Green Cross associated with salesrahgvir in Japan and Korea, $13.5 million of reimgement of collaborative expenses from BARDA/HIdBted to
the development of i.v. peramivir and $1.2 milliassociated with collaborative revenue amortizafiom other corporate partnerships. The decreasepvirsirily due
to the recognition of $7.8 million of previouslyfdered forodesineelated revenue during the first quarter of 20112 Temaining 2012 revenues consisted of $3.3 m
of royalty revenue from Shionogi sales of RAPIACT44.0 million of reimbursement of collaborativeperses from BARDA/HHS related to the developmenivof
peramivir and $1.2 million associated with colladtore revenue amortization from other corporatérngaships.

R&D expenses decreased to $41.9 million in 2016 f#$219.2 million in the prior year. The 2013 R&D exses, compared with 2012, reflect decreased spendi
on our ulodesine and BCX5191 programs and redu&dd iRfrastructure costs, partially offset by incsea expenditures for our BCX4161 and BCX4430 pnogtdn
connection with the Amended and Restated LicendeDmvelopment Agreement with Mundipharma and thewdedge Transfer that was completed in the firgtrtpr
of 2012, we recognized $1.9 million of deferred exge in 2012. With this amendment, we did not imeany forodesine-related costs in 2013 and do xyeet to incur
any significant forodesine costs in the future.tkemmore, we do not expect to incur significantdglsine expenses in the future becausealo not plan to initiate Phasi
development of ulodesine without a partner. In 208 recognized approximately $5.0 million of R&Dsts related to a write-off of deferred collabaratcosts
associated with our PNP licensing agreement witCAKI/IRL.

G&A expenses decreased to $6.0 million in 2013 cmexbto $9.1 million in the prior year. The deceea$3.1 million is primarily due to the Decemi2€x12
restructuring that reduced our cost structure gradations.
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Interest expense increased slightly to $4.8 miliio8013 as compared to $4.7 million in 2012. Iditidn, a mark to market gain of $5.3 million wasognized in
2013 related to the foreign currency hedge compredmark to market loss of $0.7 million in thépiyear, both resulting from changes in the U Slad/Japanese yen
exchange rate during the respective years.

Restructuring

In December 2012, we announced that we had regtagtbur operations during the fourth quarter df2@® significantly reduce the size and operatimingur
Company in order to extend our existing cash runWég eliminated approximately 50% of our workfoes®l decreased other costs, which significantlyefesad our
2013 operating expenses and operating cash ublizats compared to 2012 levels. In connection thiéhrestructuring, we recorded restructuring cesuaf
approximately $1.8 million for the year ended Deben31, 2012, which was reported in a separateténe in our Consolidated Statements of Comprekerisoss.
Significant components of the restructuring chamgee termination benefits for employees impactethieyrestructuring and losses associated with delakeand office
space that became underutilized. We do not expentur any additional restructuring changes assalt of our December 2012 restructuring and tik&® no
restructuring accrual remaining at December 313201

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash expenditures have exceeded revenues sinageption and we expect our 2015 operating expetosesceed our 2015 revenues. Our operations have
principally been funded through public offeringslgrivate placements of equity securities; castnfoollaborative and other research and developagmeements,
including U.S. Government contracts for peramivid 8CX4430; and to a lesser extent, the PhaRMA dfitancing. To date, we have been awarded a BARIDI&
peramivir development contract totaling $234.8 ianil] which expired on June 30, 2014, and a NIAID&IBCX4430 development contract totaling $29.1 onill{as of
February 12, 2015), which is ongoing. The total amaf NIAID/HHS funding obligated under awardediops (as of February 12, 2015) in the contract is
$25.0 million. Most recently, we completed a susé@spublic offering in June 2014 of 11.5 milliohaes of common stock at a price of $10.00 perestuiowing the
release of our OPuS-1 clinical trial results, whichvided net proceeds to us of approximately $.@dllion. This financing provides us liquidity twmgh the middle of
2016. We retain the ability to offer for sale appnoately $10.0 million of securities, including camn stock, preferred stock, debt securities, dégysshares and
warrants from an effective shelf registration staeat, which we filed with the SEC on November 6120n addition to the above, we have receivedifumérom other
sources, including other collaborative and othseaech and development agreements; governmensgeaputipment lease financing; facility leases; aeste grants; and
interest income on our investments.

As of December 31, 2014, we had net working capit&§31.7 million, an increase of approximately8rillion from $26.9 million at December 31, 20The
increase in working capital was principally dues®6.6 million in net proceeds derived from ourel@014 public offering, largely offset by our notrogerating
expenses associated with the development of odiuptaandidates and the reclassification of ourme@ourse notes payable to current liabilities. @rimcipal sources
of liquidity at December 31, 2014 were approxima®&34.7 million in cash and cash equivalents; apiprately $59.3 million in investments considereaitable-for-
sale; approximately $2.8 million in U.S. Governmegtteivables; and approximately $5.6 million ofaigebles from product sales of RAPIVAB. We anti¢gaur cash
and investments will fund our operations throughitiiddle of fiscal 2016.

We intend to contain costs and reduce cash flowiregients by closely managing our third party casid headcount, leasing scientific equipment aaititfas,
contracting with other parties to conduct certasearch and development projects and using contili#e expect to incur additional expenses, puatintesulting in
significant losses, as we continue to pursue aeakh and development activities, primarily reldteour clinical trial activity. We may incur adidnal expenses
related to the filing, prosecution, maintenancdéedse and enforcement of patent and other inteliégiroperty claims and additional regulatory cest®ur clinical
programs advance through later stages of developiike objective of our investment policy is to eresthe safety and preservation of invested fuaslsyell as
maintaining liquidity sufficient to meet cash floequirements. We place our excess cash with higlitoquality financial institutions, commercial cpanies, and
government agencies in order to limit the amourdwfcredit exposure. We have not realized anyifsignt losses on our investments.

We extended or executed additional lease obligaiio2015 for our Birmingham, Alabama operationsohtincreases the obligation by $5.1 million andvidnich
these new obligations extend out through 2026. lopgrating lease obligations encompass futuralrebtigations of our Birmingham operating facéi

We plan to finance our needs principally from tbkofving:
¢ lease or loan financing and future public or pivaguity financing
e our existing capital resources and interest eaomeithat capital
e payments under existing and executing new contreitisthe U.S. Government; al

«  payments under collaborative and licensing agre&sneith corporate partner
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As our programs continue to advance, our costsimgtiease. Our current and planned clinical triplss the related development, manufacturing, egey
approval process requirements and additional peedersources and testing required for the contgpdievelopment of our product candidates will comssignificant
capital resources and will increase our expensesegpenses, revenues and cash utilization ratel eany significantly depending on many factorsliding our ability
to raise additional capital, the development prsgief our collaborative agreements for our prodacdidates, the amount and timing of funding weikecfrom
existing U.S. Government contracts for peramivid &CX4430, the amount of funding or assistancenif, we receive from new U.S. Government contractther
new partnerships with third parties for the develept and or commercialization of our product caatdd, the progress and results of our current esgbped clinical
trials for our most advanced product candidatesptiogress made in the manufacturing of our leadymt candidates and the progression of our ottograms.

With the funds available at December 31, 2014, aleebe these resources will be sufficient to fund operations through the middle of fiscal 2016r @iture
liquidity needs, and ability to address those neetlslargely be determined by the success ofgnaduct candidates and key development and regulat@nts in the
future. In order to continue our operations suligfiy beyond the middle of fiscal 2016, we willegtto: (1) successfully secure, or increase U.SeBwnent funding ¢
our programs, including procurement contractsp(&}license rights to certain of our product caatkd, pursuant to which we would receive cash toites; (3) raise
additional capital through equity or debt finanaragy from other sources; (4) obtain product cartdidegulatory approvals, which would generate raeeand cash flov
(5) reduce spending on one or more research arelagfewent programs; and/or (6) restructure operatiddditionally, we retain the ability to offer faale
approximately $10.0 million of securities, incluginommon stock, preferred stock, debt securitieppditary shares and securities warrants fromfaotefe shelf
registration statement, which we filed with the S&ECNovember 6, 2013.

Our long-term capital requirements and the adeqoéoyr available funds will depend upon many festincluding:

¢ our ability to perform under our government contsand receive reimbursement, and receive stookprocurement contract
¢ the magnitude of work under our government congti

« the progress and magnitude of our research, deagpdéry and development prograr

¢ changes in existing collaborative relationshipg@rernment contract

« our ability to establish additional collaborativdationships with academic institutions, biotecloggl or pharmaceutical companies and governmi
agencies or other third partie

« the extent to which our partners, including goveental agencies, will share in the costs associaittdthe development of our programs or run
development programs themselv

« our ability to negotiate favorable development aratketing strategic alliances for certain prodwstdidates or a decision to build or expand inte
development and commercial capabiliti

*  successful commercialization of marketed produgtsither us or a partne

« the scope and results of preclinical studies ammicel trials to identify and develop product cathates;

« our ability to engage sites and enroll subjectsunclinical trials;

« the scope of manufacturing of our product cand&ldesupport our preclinical research and clinigals;

¢ increases in personnel and related costs to sufiodevelopment and commercialization of our pevdandidates
« the scope of manufacturing of our drug substandepanduct candidates required for future NDA fin

« competitive and technological advanc

« the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatpyprovals;

«  pos-approval commitments for RAPIVAB and other produbtst receive regulatory approval; &

« the costs involved in all aspects of intellectuagerty strategy and protection including the castslved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maiiniag,
defending and enforcing patent clair

38




We expect that we will be required to raise addaiccapital to complete the development and comialéation of our current product candidates andway see
to raise capital in the near future. Additionaldimg, whether through additional sales of equitglelt securities, collaborative or other arrangemesth corporate
partners or from other sources, including goverraleagencies in general and existing governmertracts specifically, may not be available when reeeor on terms
acceptable to us. The issuance of preferred or aomstock or convertible securities, with terms prides significantly more favorable than thosehef turrently
outstanding common stock, could have the effedilafing or adversely affecting the holdings orhtig of our existing stockholders. In addition, abbrative
arrangements may require us to transfer certaienhtights to such corporate partners. Insuffitie@nds may require us to delay, scale back amiekite certain of our
research and development programs. Our future wgrkapital requirements, including the need foritaafthl working capital, will be largely determinéy the
advancement of our portfolio of product candidagsvell as rate of reimbursement by U.S. Governragencies of our peramivir and BCX4430 expensesagd
future decisions regarding the future of the pevamaind BCX4430 programs, including those relatmgtockpiling procurement. More specifically, aunrking capital
requirements will be dependent on the number, niad@j scope and timing of our development prograewjlatory approval of our product candidatesaivtihg
funding from collaborative partners; the cost, tijmand outcome of regulatory reviews, regulatomegtigations, and changes in regulatory requiresyéiné costs of
obtaining patent protection for our product cantéidathe timing and terms of business developmentities; the rate of technological advances ratéxto our
operations; the efficiency of manufacturing proesssdeveloped on our behalf by third parties; aedekel of required administrative support for daily operations.

Financial Outlook for 2015

Based upon our development plans, expected opesatiod our awarded government contracts, we e20d& operating cash usage to be in the range ofdb65
$80 million, and expect our total 2015 operatingenses to be in the range of $75 to $95 milliorr. @nerating expense range excludes equity-basegdewsation
expense due to the difficulty in accurately prajggthis expense as it is significantly impactedtoy volatility and price of the Company’s stock,veell as vesting of
the Company’s outstanding performance-based stptins. Our operating cash forecast excludes apgaatnof our royalty monetization, hedge collat@adted or
returned, and any other non-routine cash outflowaftows. Our ability to remain within our openagj expense and operating cash target ranges scstwbjmultiple
factors, including unanticipated or additional gaheevelopment and administrative costs and ddwors described under the Risk Factors locategldiere in this
report.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2014, we are not involved in angonsolidated entities or off-balance sheet gearents.

Contractual Obligations

In the table below, we set forth our enforceable lagally binding obligations and future commitneand obligations related to all contracts thaawveelikely to
continue regardless of the fact that they are dahlzas of December 31, 2014. Some of the amaumisclude in this table are based on managemestimates and
assumptions about these obligations, including thaiation, the possibility of renewal, anticipateztions by third parties, and other factors. Beedbese estimates and
assumptions are necessarily subjective, the oligmtve will actually pay in future periods may yémom those reflected in the table.

Payments Due by Perioc
(In thousands)

Less Than More Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
Operating lease obligatiol $ 2,411 $ 73¢ $ 767 $ 72z $ 18€
Purchase obligations( 31,54¢ 31,54¢ — — —
Contingent license obligatiol 6,42 BE 1,15( 1,15( 3,55(
Non-recourse notes payable(2) 60,87¢ 10,22¢ 8,40( 8,40(C 33,85(
Total $ 101,26« $ 43,08¢ $ 10,317 $ 10,27: $ 37,58¢

(1) Purchase obligations include commitments relatedimical development, manufacturing and reseapdrations and other purchase commitme
(2) Assumes the PhaRMA Notes will be repaid at matumitgt the related interest costs will accrue anpdié annually through maturity. This assumptiobased o1
the unpredictable nature of the royalty paymemmfShionogi, which are designated for both prinicgral interest payments on the PhaRMA Nc

Under the Currency Hedge Agreement, we have tin tigpurchase dollars and sell yen at a rate 0fyEh per dollar for which we may be required tg pa
premium in each year from 2015 through 2020, predithe Currency Hedge Agreement is still in effAghayment of $2.0 million will be required if, dog the
relevant year, the dollar is worth less than 10@ yes of December 31, 2014, we have no hedge eddlatBecause the posting of additional collateral payment of
annual premiums is contingent on the value of grenglative to the dollar and other factors, sueynpents have been excluded from the foregoing .table

In addition to the above, we have committed to maitential future “sublicense” payments to thirdtjgs as part of in-licensing and development protg.
Payments under these agreements generally becarandipayable only upon achievement of certainldpweental, regulatory and/or commercial milestofBecause
the achievement of these milestones is neithergilelnor reasonably estimable, such contingeneies hot been recorded on our balance sheet.

Critical Accounting Policies

We have established various accounting policiesgbeern the application of accounting principlenegrally accepted in the U.S., which were utilirethe
preparation of our consolidated financial stateme@ertain accounting policies involve significirdgments and assumptions by management that hanegeaial
impact on the carrying value of certain assetsliahdities. Management considers such accountwigigs to be critical accounting policies. Thegatents and
assumptions used by management are based ondasxperience and other factors, which are beliéwde reasonable under the circumstances. Becétise nature
of the judgments and assumptions made by manageawual results could differ from these judgmentd estimates, which could have a material impat¢he
carrying values of assets and liabilities and #seilts of operations.
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While our significant accounting policies are mauly described in Note 1 to our consolidated fioih statements included in this Annual Report omfr10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2014, we belieatetlie following accounting policies are the matgtaal to aid you in fully understanding and evating our reported
financial results and affect the more significamgments and estimates that we use in the prepamaitiour financial statements.

Inventory

Our inventories consist of RAPIVAB finished goodslavork in process, which are valued at the lowerost or market using the first-in, first-out (i.&IFO)
method. Cost includes materials, labor, overheaigping and handling costs. Our inventories argesutio expiration dating. We regularly evaluate ¢arrying value ¢
our inventories and provide valuation reservesfor estimated obsolete, short-dated or unmarketadstories. In addition, we may experience spgilaf our raw
materials and supplies. Our determination thatlaat@mn reserve might be required, in additionhte guantification of such reserve, requires uditze significant
judgment. In connection with the FDA approval of RWAB in December 2014, the Company began capitajizosts associated with the production of RAPIV
commercial inventories.

Accrued Expense

We enter into contractual agreements with thirdypeendors who provide research and developmentufaaturing, and other services in the ordinaryrsewf
business. Some of these contracts are subjecté¢storie-based invoicing and services are comphetedan extended period of time. We record ligbgiunder these
contractual commitments when an obligation has lreamnred. This accrual process involves reviewopgn contracts and purchase orders, communicafthgowr
applicable personnel to identify services that Hasen performed and estimating the level of sepe@ormed and the associated cost when we hawehbeen
invoiced or otherwise notified of actual cost. Thejority of our service providers invoice us mowtil arrears for services performed. We make eséisaf our
accrued expenses as of each balance sheet datiedoatbee facts and circumstances known to us. Wedgieally confirm the accuracy of our estimateshithe service
providers and make adjustments if necessary. Exasngflestimated accrued expenses include:

« fees paid to Clinical Research Organizatic* CRO¢") in connection with preclinical and toxicology stesliand clinical trials

« fees paid to investigative sites in connection wlthical trials;

« fees paid to contract manufacturers in connectiithh the production of our raw materials, drug sahst and product candidates;
¢ professional fees

We base our expenses related to clinical trialewrestimates of the services received and eféoqpended pursuant to contracts with multiple reeanstitutions
and clinical research organizations that condudtraanage clinical trials on our behalf. The finahtérms of these agreements are subject to négatiaary from
contract to contract and may result in uneven payrfiewvs. Payments under some of these contragtsrdkeon factors such as the successful enrolinfgratents and
the completion of clinical trial milestones. In aging service fees, we estimate the time period aWech services will be performed and the leveéfibrt expended in
each period. If the actual timing of the performaon€ services or the level of effort varies fronr estimate, we will adjust the accrual accordingfiyve do not identify
costs that we have begun to incur or if we undenesé or overestimate the level of these costsaotual expenses could differ from our estimates.

Revenue Recognitio

We recognize revenues from collaborative and atsgarch and development arrangements and pradast Revenue is realized or realizable and eamhed
all of the following criteria are met: (i) persuesievidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) deliveay occurred or services have been renderedhgiiellers price to the
buyer is fixed or determinable; and (iv) collectiypiis reasonably assured.

Collaborative and Other Research and Developmerdagements and Royalties

Revenue from license fees, royalty payments, epayinents, and research and development fees agnieed as revenue when the earnings process igletam
and we have no further continuing performance atltiligns or we have completed the performance oliigatunder the terms of the agreement. Fees retaiveer
licensing agreements that are related to futurtopaance are deferred and recognized over an dstihpeeriod determined by management based onrins tf the
agreement and the products licensed. In the evilggrese agreement contains multiple deliverabesevaluate whether the deliverables are separaientbined units
of accounting. Revisions to revenue or profit eats as a result of changes in the estimated revgegniod are recognized prospectively.

Under certain of our license agreements, we recelyalty payments based upon our licensees’ nessalcovered products. We recognize royalty regsmhen
we can reliably estimate such amounts and colléityais reasonably assured. Royalty revenue pgidhionogi on their product sales is subject tarre.
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Reimbursements received for direct out-of-pockeieases related to research and development cestscarded as revenue in the income statement thtire as
a reduction in expenses. Event payments are rexegjais revenue upon the achievement of specifiedteyf (1) the event is substantive in nature taiedachievement
of the event was not reasonably assured at thetiooeof the agreement and (2) the fees are namdaible and non-creditable. Any event paymentswederior to
satisfying these criteria are recorded as defameenue. Under our contracts with BARDA/HHS and NDAJHS, revenue is recognized as reimbursable tiaed
indirect costs are incurred.

Product Sale:

We recognize revenue for sales of RAPIVAB where tithd substantially all the risks and rewards afenship have transferred to the customer, whicleigeiy
occurs on the date of shipment from our speciaftyridutors, utilizing the Sell-Through revenueagaition methodology. Product sales are recognizeeh there is
persuasive evidence that an arrangement exiséshéis passed, the price was fixed and determinabtecollectability is reasonably assured. Prodafds are
recognized net of estimated allowances, discosatss returns, chargebacks and rebates. In thedU&tates, we sell RAPIVAB to specialty distribgtarho, in turn,
sell to physician offices, hospitals and feder@tesand commercial health care organizations.

Sales deductions consist of statutory rebatesate Medicaid, Medicare and other government ageraid sales discounts (including trade discourds an
distribution service fees). These deductions azerded as reductions to revenue from RAPIVAB inghme period as the related sales with estimatiegwe
utilization derived from historical experience atgd to reflect known changes in the factors timgigict such reserves.

We utilize data from external sources to help estingross-to-net sales adjustments as they reldée trecognition of revenue for RAPIVAB sold. Extal
sourced data includes, but is not limited to, infation obtained from specialty distributors witspect to their inventory levels and sell-througleustomers, and
information from third-party suppliers of marketearch data to the pharmaceutical industry.

The Company has categorized and described moyetfidifollowing significant sales deductions, dllhich involve estimates and judgments, which the
Company considers to be critical accounting esesiand requires it to use information from extesoarces.

Rebates and Chargebacks

Statutory rebates to state Medicaid agencies artiddiee are based on statutory discounts to RAPI\&lling price. As it can take up to nine monthaore fo
information to be received on actual usage of RAB\Mn Medicaid and other governmental programsmentain reserves for amounts payable under thesgagms
relating to RAPIVAB sales.

Chargebacks claimed by specialty distributors aset on the differentials between product acqarsprices paid by the specialty distributors arvdelp
government contract pricing paid by eligible custosncovered under federally qualified programs.

The amount of the reserve for rebates and chargsliebased on multiple qualitative and quanti&factors, including the historical and projectétization
levels, historical payment experience, changesaitu®ry laws and interpretations as well as camdi@ terms, product pricing (both normal sellinges and statutory
or negotiated prices), changes in prescription aehpatterns and utilization of our product throygagilic benefit plans, and the levels of RAPIVAB @émtory in the
distribution channel. We acquire prescription métion data from third-party suppliers of markete@rch data to the pharmaceutical industry. Wetepmla estimates
and assumptions each period and record any negestjastments to reserves. Settlements of rebatkstzargebacks typically occur within nine monttef point of
sale. To the extent actual rebates and chargeldiftdsfrom our estimates, additional reserves ayequired or reserves may need to be revergbedr ef which
would impact current period product revenue.

Discounts and Sales Incentives
Discounts and other sales incentives primarily streg Inventory Management Agreement (“IMA”) Fe®r contractual agreements with our specialty
distributors, we provide an IMA fee based on a getage of their purchases of RAPIVAB. The IMA fages are set forth in our individual contracts. Wéek sales to
our specialty distributors each period and accriigbdity relating to the unpaid portion of thefees by applying contractual rates to such sales.
Product Returns

We do not record a product return allowance asovedl offer the ability to return goods once a Holgashipment has been accepted by a specialtylulisir.
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Research and Development Expen:

Our research and development costs are chargeghémse when incurred. Advance payments for goodsmices that will be used or rendered for futesearch
and development activities are deferred and cagethl Such amounts are recognized as expense Wwhealated goods are delivered or the relatedcs\are
performed. Research and development expenses @cuwbng other items, personnel costs, includitagisa and benefits, manufacturing costs, clinieegulatory, and
toxicology services performed by CROs, materiats supplies, and overhead allocations consistingagbus administrative and facilities related cobtsst of our
manufacturing and clinical and preclinical studies performed by third-party CROs. Costs for stigierformed by CROs are accrued by us over thécegreriods
specified in the contracts and estimates are ajugtrequired, based upon our on-going reviewheflevel of services actually performed.

Additionally, we have license agreements with tigadties, such as AECOM, IRL, and UAB, which reguies related to sublicense agreements or maimtena
fees. We expense sublicense payments as incurkessithey are related to revenues that have bderrel, in which case the expenses are deferredezodnized ove
the related revenue recognition period. We exparaatenance payments as incurred.

Deferred collaboration expenses represent subdepayments paid to our academic partners upoipteteonsideration from various commercial parsp@nd
other consideration to our academic partners fatification to existing license agreements. Thederded expenses would not have been incurred witfemeipt of
such payments or modifications from our commerngéatners and are being expensed in proportionetoetated revenue being recognized. We believethisat
accounting treatment appropriately matches expemglghe associated revenue.

We group our R&D expenses into two major categodesct external expenses and indirect expensiesctiexpenses consist of compensation for R&Dgersl
and costs of outside parties to conduct laborattuglies, develop manufacturing processes and manegahe product candidate, conduct and managealitrials, as
well as other costs related to our clinical anctfinecal studies. These costs are accumulatedraclled by program. Indirect expenses consist oflgdplies and
services, facility expenses, depreciation of dguelent equipment and other overhead of our reseandtdevelopment efforts. These costs apply to war&ur clinical
and preclinical candidates as well as our discovesgarch efforts.

Stock-Based Compensation

All share-based payments, including grants of stiation awards and restricted stock unit awardsyecognized in our Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss based on their fair values kStased compensation cost is estimated at the ded@tbased on the fair value of the award anelcisgnized as
expense on a straight-line basis over the requssitéice period of the award. Determining the appate fair value model and the related assumptionthe model
requires judgment, including estimating the lifeaofaward, the stock price volatility, and the etpé term. We utilize the Black-Scholes option-imgcmodel to value
our awards and recognize compensation expensetaight-line basis over the vesting periods. Téteretion of share-based payment awards that Wtithately vest
requires judgment, and to the extent actual resultgpdated estimates differ from our current eatés, such amounts will be recorded as a cumulatjiestment in the
period estimates are revised. In addition, we lwaistanding performance-based stock options foclhvhd compensation expense is recognized untifépmance” has
occurred. Significant management judgment is asgaired in determining estimates of future stodkeprolatility and forfeitures to be used in théuadion of the
options. Actual results, and future changes imestes, may differ substantially from our currerimaates.

Foreign Currency Hedge

In connection with our issuance of the PhaRMA Notes entered into a foreign Currency Hedge Agredricehedge certain risks associated with changésein
value of the Japanese yen relative to the U.Saddlinder the Currency Hedge Agreement, we havedhéeto purchase dollars and sell yen at a raf6 yen per
dollar for which we may be required to pay a premia each year from 2015 through 2020, providedGbeency Hedge Agreement remains in effect. A paynof
$2.0 million will be required if, on May 18 of threlevant year, the U.S. dollar is worth 100 yetess as determined in accordance with the Curreledge Agreement.
In conjunction with establishing the Currency Hedggeement, we will be required to post collatécathe counterparty, which may cause us to expegi@dditional
quarterly volatility in our financial results. Wallinot be required at any time to post collaterateeding the maximum premium payments remainigglge under the
Currency Hedge Agreements. In establishing the dyedg provided initial funds of approximately $2ndlion to support our potential hedge obligatioAs. of
December 31, 2014, the maximum amount of hedgatecdll we may be required to post is $11.7 million.

The Currency Hedge Agreement does not qualify &afge accounting treatment and therefore mark téehadjustments will be recognized in our Consaéda
Statements of Comprehensive Loss. Cumulative noankarket adjustments for the year ended Decemhe2(@H4 resulted in a $5.5 million gain. Mark to ketr
adjustments are determined by quoted prices in etsithat are not actively traded and for whichisigemt inputs are observable directly or indirgctiepresenting the
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined leperally accepted accounting principles. The Comjimalso required to post collateral in connectioth the mark to
market adjustments based on defined thresholdsf Becember 31, 2014, no collateral was posted uheéeagreement.

Tax

We account for uncertain tax positions in accordamith accounting principles generally acceptetheU.S. Significant management judgment is requime
determining our provision for income taxes, defeétiax assets and liabilities and any valuatiorvedlioce recorded against net deferred tax assethawerecorded a
valuation allowance against all potential tax ass#tie to uncertainties in our ability to utilizeferred tax assets, primarily consisting of certehoperating losses
carried forward, before they expire. The valuatdlowance is based on estimates of taxable incaneach of the jurisdictions in which we operate #reperiod over
which our deferred tax assets will be recoverable.
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Impact of Inflation

We do not believe that our operating results haenbmaterially impacted by inflation during thetghsee years. However, we cannot be assured tiatperatini
results will not be adversely affected by inflatiarthe future. We will continually seek to mitigathe adverse effects of inflation on the servibas we use through
improved operating efficiencies and cost containnmtiatives.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statemermisidted in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 1@iKcusses accounting pronouncements recentlydssue
proposed but not yet required to be adopted.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Interest Rate Ris

We are subject to interest rate risk on our investnportfolio and borrowings under our PhaRMA Notes

We invest in marketable securities in accordandk air investment policy. The primary objectivesoaf investment policy are to preserve capital niaan
proper liquidity to meet operating needs and mazényiields. Our investment policy specifies crediality standards for our investments and limitsah®unt of credit
exposure to any single issue, issuer or type afstment. We place our excess cash with high ogediity financial institutions, commercial compasiand government
agencies in order to limit the amount of credit@syre. Some of the securities we invest in may haasket risk. This means that a change in pregihiterest rates
may cause the principal amount of the investmefittduate.

Our investment exposure to market risk for chanmgésterest rates relates to the increase or dsergethe amount of interest income we can eamuomportfolio,
changes in the market value due to changes irestteates and other market factors as well anttrease or decrease in any realized gains andsld3se investment
portfolio includes only marketable securities amstiuments with active secondary or resale matkétglp ensure portfolio liquidity. A hypothetichDO basis point drc
in interest rates along the entire interest radédyéurve would not significantly affect the failue of our interest sensitive financial instrunseit¥e generally have the
ability to hold our fixed-income investments to ondty and therefore do not expect that our opegatésults, financial position or cash flows will aterially impacted
due to a sudden change in interest rates. Howeuefuture investment income may fall short of estpons due to changes in interest rates, or wesuter losses in
principal if forced to sell securities which havectined in market value due to changes in inteast or other factors, such as changes in ciislitelated to the
securities’ issuers. To minimize this risk, we shile our investments to have maturities that cdmevith our expected cash flow needs, thus avoittiegieed to
redeem an investment prior to its maturity datecakdingly, we do not believe that we have matexiglosure to interest rate risk arising from ouestments.
Generally, our investments are not collateraliz&¥d.have not realized any significant losses fromimeestments.

We do not use interest rate derivative instrumemtaanage exposure to interest rate changes. Wieeetie safety and preservation of invested praidimds by
limiting default risk, market risk and reinvestmeisk. We reduce default risk by investing in intvesnt grade securities.

Foreign Currency Ris

The majority of our transactions occur in U.S. dadland we do not have operating subsidiariesvesiments in foreign countries. Therefore, we atesobject to
significant foreign currency exchange risk in oarmal operations.

In connection with the issuance by Royalty SuthefPhaRMA Notes, we entered into a Currency Hedgedment to hedge certain risks associated withggsa
in the value of the Japanese yen relative to ti$ tbllar. Under the Currency Hedge Agreement, meequired to post collateral based on our pateabligations
under the Currency Hedge Agreement as determingetigdic mark to market adjustments. Provided@herency Hedge Agreement remains in effect, we bey
required to pay an annual premium in the amouf2dd million from May 2015 through May 2020. Sudyment will be required if, in May of the relevamar, the
spot rate of exchange for Japanese yen-U.S. détlatsrmined in accordance with the Currency Hellgreement) is such that the U.S. dollar is wortB $6n or less.

43




ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Investments
Receivables from collaboratio
Receivables from product sal
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Deferred collaboration expen

Total current asse
Investments
Furniture and equipment, n
Deferred collaboration expen
Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS '’ EQUITY

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Interest payabl

Deferred collaboration reveni

Deferred product sales rever

Non-recourse notes payable
Total current liabilities

Deferred collaboration reveni

Non-recourse notes payak

Stockholder’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; shares autlth— 5,000; no shares outstandi
Common stock, $0.01 par value; shares autho— 200,000; shares issued and outstan— 71,955 in 2014 an

59,092 in 201
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) incc
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsients.
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December 31

2014 2013
5454 $ 21,16¢
15C 151
18,23: 16,89:
3,84¢ 2,11¢
5,641 —
682 —
6,17: 1,72¢
76 75
89,34: 42,12:
41,11¢ 2,582
207 30€
177 237
6,031 3,62(
136,87: $ 48,86t
2,84¢ $ 4,17¢
11,72: 5,74z
6,02¢ 3,867
1,481 1,47¢
5,60¢ —
30,00 —
57,68 15,25¢
3,55: 4,73¢
— 30,00

72¢ 591
542,94 420,98t
(130) 4
(467,899 (422,709
75,63t (1,126)
136,87: $ 48,86¢




BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Revenues
Product sales, n $ 33 % — 3 —
Royalty revenut 3,02¢ 2,562 3,317
Collaborative and other research and developi 10,55( 14,76¢ 22,97¢
Total revenue 13,60¢ 17,33 26,29¢

Expenses
Cost of products sol 1 — —
Research and developme 51,79¢ 41,94 49,16(
General and administratiy 7,461 6,007 9,13(
Royalty 121 98 132
Restructuring — — 1,75¢
Total operating expens 59,37¢ 48,04¢ 60,18
Loss from operation (45,777) (30,717 (33,889
Interest and other incon 93 93 22z
Interest expens (4,99¢) (4,77%) (4,66€)
Gain (loss) on foreign currency derivati 5,481 5,29¢ (749
Net loss $ (45,189 $ (30,109 $ (39,08))
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (0.68) $ 0.5%) $ (0.79)
Weighted average shares outstanc 66,77 55,21¢ 49,47
Unrealized loss on available for sale investm $ (1349 $ (23 % (13
Comprehensive los $ (45,32) $ (30,13) $ (39,099

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsients.

45




BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Operating activities:
Net loss $ (45,189 $ (30,109 $ (39,08)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation, amortization, and impairmi 177 304 62€
Loss (gain) on disposal of furniture and equipn 27 47) —
Stocl-based compensation expel 10,173 4,36¢ 4,167
Amortization of debt issuance co: 43¢ 43¢ 43¢
Change in fair value of foreign currency derivat (5,487 (5,299 74¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Receivable: (7,375 2,445 1,26¢
Inventory (6893 — 268
Prepaid expenses and other as (1,949 (620) (629)
Deferred collaboration expen 9 5,132 2,301
Accounts payable and accrued expel 6,81¢ (2,049 2,06¢
Deferred revenue 4,42¢ (1,109 (9,579
Net cash used in operating activities (38,55) (26,53() (37,397
Investing activities:
Acquisition of furniture and equipme (10€) (30 (113
Proceeds from sale of furniture and equipn — 50 —
Change in restricted ca 1 157 317
Purchases of investmer (73,87%) (23,979 (16,157
Sales and maturities of investments 34,00( 20,33( 40,83:
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (39,98() (3,467) 24,88¢
Financing activities:
Sale of common stock, n 106,60( 23,63¢ 17,80¢
Exercise of stock optior 4,997 1,33: 534
Employee stock purchase plan s¢ 31C 124 321
Receipt (payment) of foreign currency derivativéiateral — 5,18( (1,700
Net cash provided by financing activities: 111,90° 30,27( 16,96(
Increase in cash and cash equival 33,37¢ 27¢ 4,447
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 21,164 20,89: 16,44«
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ye: $ 5454( $ 21,16¢ $ 20,89:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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Balance at December 31, 201

Net loss

Other comprehensive lo

Exercise of stock options, 348 shares,
Employee stock purchase plan sales, 110 share
Issuance of common stock, 4,774 shares
Stock-based compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 201

Net loss

Other comprehensive lo

Exercise of stock options, 563 shares,
Employee stock purchase plan sales, 89 share
Issuance of common stock, 7,547 shares
Stock-based compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 201

Net loss

Other comprehensive lo

Exercise of stock options, 1,314 shares,
Employee stock purchase plan sales, 49 share
Issuance of common stock, 11,500 shares
Stock-based compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 201

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Other
Additional Comprehensive Total
Common Paid-In Accumulated  Stockholders’
Stock Capital (Loss) Income Deficit Equity (Deficit)
$ 457 % 367,82¢ $ 40 $ (353,52) $ 14,80¢
— — — (39,08) (39,08)
— — (23) — (23)
3 53€ — — 53¢
1 32C — — 321
48 18,75¢ — — 18,80
— 4,161 — — 4,161
50¢ 391,61: 27 (392,60) (459
— — — (30,109) (30,109)
— — (29 — (29
6 1,32 — — 1,33¢
1 12z — — 124
75 23,55¢ — — 23,63¢
— 4,36¢ — — 4,36¢
591 420,98t 4 (422,709 (1,126
— — — (45,189 (45,189
— — (1349 — (1349
13 4,98¢ — — 4,997
1 30¢ — — 31C
11F 106,48! — — 106,60(
— 10,17% — — 10,17%
$ 72C $ 542,94  $ (130 $ (467,89) $ 75,63t

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Note 1 — Significant Accounting Policies and Concérations of Risk
The Company

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) isi@technology company that designs, optimizesdenelops novel small molecule drugs that block key
enzymes involved in the pathogenesis of diseasesCbmpany focuses on the treatment of rare diséasehich significant unmet medical needs exist align with it
capabilities and expertise. The Company was ingatpd in Delaware in 1986 and its headquarteiscistéd in Durham, North Carolina. The Company irgtegs the
disciplines of biology, crystallography, medicimélemistry and computer modeling to discover anctligvsmall molecule pharmaceuticals through thegss known
as structure-guided drug design. BioCryst has mecllosses and negative cash flows from operatiomt® inception.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company impletadra restructuring plan to significantly redueecibst structure. Based on its current operatiagsplthe
Company expects it has sufficient liquidity, with existing cash and investments of $114,038, mirmae its planned operations through the middI2a#6. The
Company'’s liquidity needs, and ability to addréssse needs, will largely be determined by the ssgoéits product candidates and key developmehtegulatory
events in the future. In order to continue its afiens substantially beyond the middle of 2016iit meed to: (1) successfully secure or increas®. GGovernment
funding of its programs, including procurement caats; (2) out-license rights to certain of itsguwot candidates, pursuant to which the Company dvadeive cash
milestones; (3) raise additional capital throughiggor debt financings or from other sources;d#)ain product candidate regulatory approvals, twiiould generate
revenue and cash flow; (5) reduce spending on oneooe research and development programs; and/oeg6ucture operations. Additionally, the Compagtgains the
ability to offer for sale approximately $10,000s&fcurities, including common stock, preferred stagbt securities, depositary shares and secwiaesnts from its
effective shelf registration statement, whichlidiwith the Securities and Exchange CommissioNovember 6, 2013. The Company will continue to imgperating
losses and negative cash flows until revenues radetel sufficient to support ongoing operations.

Basis of Presentation

Beginning in March 2011, the consolidated finanstatements include the accounts of the Companytamcolly-owned subsidiary, JPR Royalty Sub LLC
(“Royalty Sub”). Royalty Sub was formed in connentivith a $30,000 financing transaction the Compaommpleted on March 9, 2011. See Note 3, Royalty
Monetization, for a further description of thisrisaction. All intercompany transactions and balamave been eliminated.

The Company'’s consolidated financial statement feen prepared in accordance with accountingiplescgenerally accepted in the United States. Such
consolidated financial statements reflect all amjiesits that are, in management’s opinion, necessgsesent fairly, in all material respects, tt@r@any’s
consolidated financial position, results of openasi, and cash flows. There were no adjustments tithe normal recurring adjustments.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company generally considers cash equivalerts &l cash held in commercial checking accountsjey market accounts or investments in debt instnis
with maturities of three months or less at the tohpurchase. The carrying value of cash and cgslvalents approximates fair value due to the stesrh nature of
these items.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2014 and Deee3p2013 includes $150 that the Company is requio maintain in an interest bearing certificdtdeposit
to serve as collateral for a corporate credit gaogram. At December 31, 2013, there is also $tdgalty receipts received from Shionogi & Co. L{tEhionogi”)
designated for interest on the PhaRMA Notes (sde Bp

Investments

The Company invests in high credit quality investisen accordance with its investment policy, whigklesigned to minimize the possibility of loskeTobjectivi
of the Company’s investment policy is to ensureséiety and preservation of invested funds, as agethaintaining liquidity sufficient to meet casbw requirements.
The Company places its excess cash with high cgeditity financial institutions, commercial compasii and government agencies in order to limit theumt of its
credit exposure. In accordance with its policy, @mnpany is able to invest in marketable debt séesithat may consist of U.S. Government and guvent agency
securities, money market and mutual fund investsjentnicipal and corporate notes and bonds, comah@aper and asset or mortgage-backed secudesng
others. The Company'’s investment policy requirés fiurchase high-quality marketable securitiefaimaximum individual maturity of three years aequires an
average portfolio maturity of no more than 18 men®ome of the securities the Company invests inhlmae market risk. This means that a change vgineg
interest rates may cause the principal amounteofrthestment to fluctuate. To minimize this rigke ICompany schedules its investments with matsritiat coincide
with expected cash flow needs, thus avoiding tleglrie redeem an investment prior to its maturity dAccordingly, the Company does not believe & &anaterial
exposure to interest rate risk arising from itseistments. Generally, the Company’s investmentaatreollateralized. The Company has not realizgdsignificant
losses from its investments.
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BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

The Company classifies all of its investments aslable-for-sale. Unrealized gains and losses vaestments are recognized in comprehensive lossssiain
unrealized loss is considered to be other than eeanp, in which case the unrealized loss is chatgexperations. The Company periodically reviewsnvestments for
other than temporary declines in fair value belostdasis and whenever events or changes in citanges indicate that the carrying amount of antasag not be
recoverable. The Company believes the individuatalized losses represent temporary declines pfimasulting from interest rate changes. Realigaihs and losses
are reflected in interest and other income in tbag@lidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss andedermined using the specific identification noetthvith
transactions recorded on a settlement date basisstiments with original maturities at date of piase beyond three months and which mature at®tHas 12 months
from the balance sheet date are classified asrtutrvestments with a maturity beyond 12 montbstfithe balance sheet date are classified as long-f&

December 31, 2014, the Company believes that thts od its investments are recoverable in all nitezspects.

The following tables summarize the fair value & @ompany’s investments by type. The estimated/&dire of the Company’s fixed income investmenés ar
classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarckydafined in U.S. GAAP. These valuations are baseobservable direct and indirect inputs, primagilyted prices of
similar, but not identical, instruments in activankets or quoted prices for identical or similastimments in markets that are not active. Thesevédiles are obtained
from independent pricing services which utilize ee2 inputs.

December 31, 201.

Gross Gross
Amortized Accrued Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Interest Gains Losses Fair Value
Obligations of U.S. Government and its agen $ 20,307 $ 22 % — 3 23 % 20,30¢
Corporate debt securiti 27,15z 151 5 (47) 27,26:
Certificates of depos 11,83¢ 6 — (63) 11,78
Total investment $ 59,297 $ 17¢ % 5 % (133 $ 59,34¢

December 31, 201

Gross Gross

Amortized Accrued Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Interest Gains Losses Fair Value
Obligations of U.S. Government and its agen $ 4,89¢ $ 1 $ 1 $ — 3 4,901
Corporate debt securitit 8,52¢ 47 2 1) 8,57¢
Commercial pape 5,99/ — 2 — 5,99¢
Total investment $ 19,42. % 48 $ 5 % @ $ 19,47

The following table summarizes the scheduled migtfor the Company’s investments at December 3142ihd 2013.
2014 2013

Maturing in one year or le: $ 18,23: $ 16,89:
Maturing after one year through two ye 25,45¢ 2,582
Maturing after two years 15,657 —
Total investment $ 59,34¢ $ 19,47
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Receivable from Collaboration

Receivables from collaborations are recorded foouats due to the Company related to reimbursalskareh and development costs from the U.S. Depattoie
Health and Human Services or royalty receivablesfShionogi & Co. Ltd. These receivables are evatlito determine if any reserve or allowance shbeld
established at each reporting date. At Decembe2@®14 and 2013, the Company had the following xed#es.

December 31, 201.

Billed Unbilled Total
U.S. Department of Health and Human Serv $ — 3 2,77¢ % 2,77¢
Shionogi & Co. Ltd 1,071 — 1,071
Total receivable $ 1,077 $ 2,77¢  $ 3,84¢

December 31, 201

Billed Unbilled Total
U.S. Department of Health and Human Serv $ 90 $ 1,57 $ 1,66:
Shionogi & Co. Ltd 452 — 452
Total receivable $ 542 $ 157 $ 2,11¢

Monthly invoices are submitted to the U.S. Departta# Health and Human Services related to reimdhlesresearch and development costs. The Compatso
entitled to monthly reimbursement of indirect cdsased on rates stipulated in the underlying contiidne Company’s calculations of its indirect a@ges are subject to
audit by the U.S. Government.

Receivables from Product Sales

Receivables from product sales are recorded fouatsalue to the Company related to sales of RAPIVRire receivables are evaluated to determineyif a
reserve or allowance should be established at regaditing date.

Inventory

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company’s irorgrdonsisted of RAPIVAB finished goods inventorydavork in process. Inventory is stated at the loofe
cost, determined under the first-in, first-out (F&1") method, or market. The Company expenses cektted to the production of inventories as redeard
development expenses in the period incurred umth dime it is believed that future economic berisfexpected to be recognized, which generaltgliant upon receiy
of regulatory approval. Upon regulatory approviaé €ompany will capitalize subsequent costs reltatede production of inventories.

During 2014, in connection with the FDA approvaRAPIVAB, the Company began capitalizing costs esged with the production of RAPIVAB inventories.

The Company'’s inventory consisted of the following:

As of December 31
2014 2013
Supplies $ — 3 262
Work in proces: 267 —
Finished good 41€ 3,98(
Reserve for finished goods and supp — (4,249
Net inventories $ 683 $ —
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Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment are recorded at cost. Reiien is computed using the straight-line methdith estimated useful lives of five and seven years
Laboratory equipment, office equipment, and sofenane depreciated over a life of five years. Fureiand fixtures are depreciated over a life obserears. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over their estimate€lubees or the remaining lease term, whichevdegs.

In accordance with generally accepted accountiimgiples, the Company periodically reviews its fiture and equipment for impairment when eventshanges
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amafisuch assets may not be recoverable. Determmaficecoverability is based on an estimate of scalinted future
cash flows resulting from the use of the assetisneientual disposition. In the event that sucthdéows are not expected to be sufficient to recdlie carrying amoul

of the assets, the assets are written down toélsémated fair values. Furniture and equipmeietaisposed of are reported at the lower of cagrgmount or fair valu
less cost to sell.

Patents and Licenses

The Company seeks patent protection on all intBrideiveloped processes and products. All pateataelcosts are expensed to general and administrati
expenses when incurred as recoverability of suglemditures is uncertain.

Accrued Expenses

The Company generally enters into contractual ages¢s with thirdparty vendors who provide research and developmaamufacturing, and other services in
ordinary course of business. Some of these costeaetsubject to milestone-based invoicing andsesare completed over an extended period of fithe.Company
records liabilities under these contractual comraitta when it determines an obligation has beeniieduregardless of the timing of the invoice. Titnigcess involves
reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, canimating with applicable Company personnel to idgrservices that have been performed on its bedvadf
estimating the level of service performed and #soeiated cost incurred for the service when the@2my has not yet been invoiced or otherwise ratiéif actual cost.
The majority of service providers invoice the Companonthly in arrears for services performed. TloenBany makes estimates of accrued expenses astobakance
sheet date in its financial statements based ofatite and circumstances. The Company periodicalhfirms the accuracy of its estimates with theiserproviders and
makes adjustments if necessary. Examples of estiheaicrued expenses include:

« fees paid to Clinical Research Organizatic* CRO¢") in connection with preclinical and toxicology stesliand clinical trials
« fees paid to investigative sites in connection wlthical trials;
« fees paid to contract manufacturers in connectiitih the production of our raw materials, drug sahse and drug products; a

¢ professional fees

The Company bases its expenses related to climiakdl on its estimates of the services receivetiefforts expended pursuant to contracts with ipleltiesearch
institutions and CROs that conduct and managecdlintiials on the Company'’s behalf. The finanodaihis of these agreements are subject to negotiatoyn from
contract to contract and may result in uneven payril@vs. Payments under some of these contragtsrdeon factors such as the successful enrolinfgrdt@nts and
the completion of clinical trial milestones. In aging service fees, the Company estimates the pien@d over which services will be performed arel lgvel of effort

expended in each period. If the actual timing efplerformance of services or the level of efforiesfrom the estimate, the Company will adjustaherual
accordingly.

Accrued expenses were comprised of the following:

December 31

2014 2013

Compensation and benef $ 2,108 $ 1,52
Development cost 4,232 2,21(
Inventory 397 -
Professional fee 23¢ 48
Duties and taxe 75 a0
Other 4,67¢ 1,867

$ 11,72.  $ 5,74z

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the carryingevafuaccrued expenses approximates their fair vdeeto their short-term settlement.
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Income Taxes

The liability method is used in the Compasigccounting for income taxes. Under this methetkrded tax assets and liabilities are determireestt on differenc
between financial reporting and tax bases of assetdiabilities and are measured using the endatethtes and laws that are expected to be icteffeen the
differences are expected to reverse.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income isprsed of unrealized gains and losses on invegsvamilable-for-sale and is disclosed as a separat
component of stockholders’ equity.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues from collaborativkother research and development arrangemenfsadidct sales when realized or realizable andegiarn
Revenue is realized or realizable and earned when the following criteria are met: (i) persuasievidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery occurred or
services have been rendered; (iii) the sellersepid the buyer is fixed or determinable; and ¢m)ectability is reasonably assured.

Collaborative and Other Research and Developmeragements and Royalties

Revenue from license fees, royalty payments, epaynents, and research and development fees agnieed as revenue when the earnings process igletem
and the Company has no further continuing perfocearbligations or the Company has completed thimeance obligations under the terms of the agre¢nfees
received under licensing agreements that are cetatRiture performance are deferred and recogrozed an estimated period determined by managebas®d on the
terms of the agreement and the products licengetielevent a license agreement contains multigligetables, the Company evaluates whether theetalbles are
separate or combined units of accounting. Revisiomevenue or profit estimates as a result of gharin the estimated revenue period are recogpizespectively.

Under certain of our license agreements, the Cognpegeives royalty payments based upon our licensext sales of covered products. The Company rézeg
royalty revenues when it can reliably estimate sarmlounts and collectability is reasonably assured.

Royalty revenue paid by Shionogi on their prodad¢s is subject to returns. Prior to the third tgraof 2012, the Company did not have sufficiestdrical
experience to reasonably estimate product returdsheerefore could not reasonably record the ugtherirevenue. Up to the second quarter of 2012Civapany
deferred recognition of all RAPIACTA® royalty reves from Shionogi sales. During the third quarte2@f2, and after the completion of the 2011/20GZéason in
Japan, the Company obtained sufficient historicfarimation to reasonably estimate product retuntsracognized royalty revenue of $2,848, net adliowance for
estimated returns. During the fourth quarter of2Qhe Company recognized royalty revenue of $#6% total of $3,317 in 2012.

Reimbursements received for direct out-of-pock@ieeses related to research and development cestscarded as revenue in the Consolidated Stateroént
Comprehensive Loss rather than as a reductionpgarees. Event payments are recognized as reveponghgachievement of specified events if (1) teneis
substantive in nature and the achievement of teatevas not reasonably assured at the inceptitimeaigreement and (2) the fees are non-refundabl@@nereditable
Any event payments received prior to satisfyingtheriteria are recorded as deferred revenue. UhdgEompany’s contracts with BARDA/HHS and NIAIDAS,
revenue is recognized as reimbursable direct aticeitt costs are incurred.

Product Sales

The Company recognizes revenue for sales of RAPIVABN title and substantially all the risks andaeds of ownership have transferred to the custowigch
generally occurs on the date of shipment from pecslty distributors, utilizing the Sell-Througévenue recognition methodology. Product salesea@gnized when
there is persuasive evidence that an arrangemts et¢tle has passed, the price was fixed andrdehable, and collectability is reasonably assuRedduct sales are
recognized net of estimated allowances, discosatss returns, chargebacks and rebates. In thedUgtates, the Company sells RAPIVAB to speciakjridutors, whe
in turn, sell to physician offices, hospitals arddral, state and commercial health care orgaoimti

Sales deductions consist of statutory rebatesate Medicaid, Medicare and other government ageraid sales discounts (including trade discourds an

distribution service fees). These deductions azerded as reductions to revenue from RAPIVAB ingame period as the related sales with estimatiegwe
utilization derived from historical experience atpd to reflect known changes in the factors timgiaict such reserves.
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The Company utilizes data from external sourcdeetp it estimate gross-to-net sales adjustmerntisegsrelate to the recognition of revenue for RARB/sold.
External sourced data includes, but is not limttednformation obtained from specialty distribigavith respect to their inventory levels and tiseit-through to
customers, as well as information from third-pappliers of market research data to the pharmaedirdustry.

The Company accounts for these sales deducticascordance with authoritative guidance on reveraegnition when consideration is given by a verida
customer.

The Company has categorized and described moyetfidifollowing significant sales deductions, dllnhich involve estimates and judgments, which the
Company considers to be critical accounting estsyand requires it to use information from extesoarces.

Rebates and Chargebacks

Statutory rebates to state Medicaid agencies ardiddee are based on statutory discounts to RAPI\&A#’lling price. As it can take up to nine monthmore fo
information to be received on actual usage of RAB\Mn Medicaid and other governmental programs,Gloenpany maintains reserves for amounts payablerthdse
programs relating to RAPIVAB sales.

Chargebacks claimed by specialty distributors aset on the differentials between product acqaisprices paid by the specialty distributors avielo
government contract pricing paid by eligible custosncovered under federally qualified programs.

The amount of the reserve for rebates and chargeli@based on multiple qualitative and quantigfactors, including the historical and projectétization
levels, historical payment experience, changesaitu®ry laws and interpretations as well as camdi@ terms, product pricing (both normal sellinges and statutory
or negotiated prices), changes in prescription e¢ehpatterns and utilization of the Company’s pradhrmough public benefit plans, and the levels 6FRVAB
inventory in the distribution channel. The Compawyuires prescription utilization data from thpdrty suppliers of market research data to therpaeeutical industry
The Company updates its estimates and assumptichsperiod and records any necessary adjustmeitssréserves. Settlements of rebates and chargebggically
occur within nine months from point of sale. To théent actual rebates and chargebacks differ fren€Company’s estimates, additional reserves magdpgred or
reserves may need to be reversed, either of whizhdimpact current period product revenue.

Discounts and Sales Incentives
Discounts and other sales incentives primarily o Inventory Management Agreement (“IMA”) Fe®®r contractual agreements with the Company’s
specialty distributors, the Company provides an IfdA based on a percentage of their purchases Bf\R¥B. The IMA fee rates are set forth in individwantracts.
The Company tracks sales to these distributors pabd and accrues a liability relating to the aidpportion of these fees by applying the contralatates to such
product sales.
Product Returns

The Company does not record a product return ahoeas it does not offer the ability to return goodce a bonafide shipment has been acceptediscaby
distributor.

Advertising

The Company engages in very limited distributiod divect-response advertising when promoting RAPBVAdvertising and promotional costs are expensed a
the costs are incurred. Advertising and productqmiion expenses were $290 for the year ended Dezredih 2014.

The Company recorded the following revenues foryers ended December 31:

2014 2013 2012

Product sales, ni $ 33 $ — % —
Royalty revenur 3,02¢ 2,562 3,317
Collaborative and other research and developmeethres

U.S. Department of Health and Human Serv 9,36¢ 13,58t 14,02¢

Shionogi (Japar 1,18¢ 1,18¢ 1,18¢

Mundipharma (United Kingdom) — — 7,76¢€
Total collaborative and other research and devessppmevenue 10,55( 14,76¢ 22,97¢
Total revenue $ 13,60¢ $ 17,33:  $ 26,29¢
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Research and Development Expenses

The Company'’s research and development costs argexhto expense when incurred. Research and gewefd expenses include all direct and indirect
development costs related to the development o€timapany’s portfolio of product candidates. Advapegments for goods or services that will be usegedered for
future research and development activities arerdefeand capitalized. Such amounts are recognizeaense when the related goods are deliverdtoelated
services are performed. Research and developmpahses include, among other items, personnel donstsding salaries and benefits, manufacturings;adinical,
regulatory, and toxicology services performed bydBRmaterials and supplies, and overhead allocationsisting of various administrative and fa@htrelated costs.
Most of the Company’s manufacturing and clinicadl gmeclinical studies are performed by third-p@&Os. Costs for studies performed by CROs are addy the
Company over the service periods specified in theracts and estimates are adjusted, if requir@sked upon the Company’s on-going review of thellef/services
actually performed.

Additionally, the Company has license agreementis third parties, such as Albert Einstein Collefi®edicine of Yeshiva University (‘AECOM”), Indusél
Research, Ltd. (“IRL"), and the University of Alaba at Birmingham (“UAB”), which require fees reldt® sublicense agreements or maintenance fee<adimpany
expenses sublicense payments as incurred unlgsariaeelated to revenues that have been defemredich case the expenses are deferred and remamhover the
related revenue recognition period. The Compangeses maintenance payments as incurred.

Deferred collaboration expenses represent subdéeepayments, paid to the Company’s academic partqem receipt of consideration from various conuiaér
partners, and other consideration paid to our anadpartners for modification to existing licenggeements. These deferred expenses would not fegveibcurred
without receipt of such payments or modificatioref the Compang commercial partners and are being expensed popion to the related revenue being recogni
The Company believes that this accounting treatmpptopriately matches expenses with the assoadiatethue.

Stock-Based Compensation

All share-based payments, including grants of sttion awards and restricted stock unit awardsyecognized in the Company’s Consolidated Staté&sdn
Comprehensive Loss based on their fair values.fain@alue of stock option awards is estimated gigire Black-Scholes option pricing model. The failue of
restricted stock unit awards is based on the gtare closing price of the common stock. Stock-basedpensation cost is recognized as expense gaiglgtline basis
over the requisite service period of the award.

Interest Expense and Deferred Financing Costs

Interest expense for the years ended Decembei034, 2013 and 2012 was $4,998, $4,778 and $4,66pectively, and relates to the issuance of th&RiAa
Notes. Costs directly associated with the issuafitee PhaRMA Notes have been capitalized andretaded in other nc-current assets on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. These costs are being amortized to inexpshse over the term of the PhaRMA Notes usiegffective interest rate method. Amortization efedred
financing costs included in interest expense wa&9$dr each of the years ended December 31, 2@8 2nd 2012.

Currency Hedge Agreement

In connection with the issuance by Royalty SuthefPhaRMA Notes, the Company entered into a Cuyreledge Agreement to hedge certain risks associated
with changes in the value of the Japanese yerivelat the U.S. dollar. The Currency Hedge Agreendees not qualify for hedge accounting treatméngrefore mark
to market adjustments are recognized in the Comp&gnsolidated Statements of Comprehensive Logsulative mark to market adjustments for the yeacded
December 31, 2014 and 2013 resulted in gains d8%5and $5,294, respectively. Cumulative mark toketeadjustments for the year ended December 32 28sulted
in a loss of $749. Mark to market adjustments aterthined by a third party pricing model which ugaeted prices in markets that are not activelgeidaand for which
significant inputs are observable directly or iedity, representing Level 2 in the fair value hiehy as defined by generally accepted accountimgiptes. The
Company is also required to post collateral in @mtion with the mark to market adjustments basedeafimed thresholds. As of December 31, 2014 armebwer 31,
2013, no hedge collateral was posted under theeaget.

Restructuring Activities

During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company amued a restructuring plan in response to sethiadks development programs.
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The following table sets forth activity in the nestturing liability for the years ended Decembey 3113 and 2012.

Employee Facilities
separation related
costs charges Total
Balance at December 31, 2C $ — 3 — 3 -
Accruals 1,66z 97 1,75¢
Payment: (58 = (58
Balance at December 31, 2C 1,604 97 1,701
Accruals — 97) 97)
Payment: (1,609 — (1,609
Balance at December 31, 2C $ — 3 — 3 =

Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per share is based upon the weighted gezaamber of common shares outstanding duringehiegh Diluted loss per share is equivalent tobast loss
per share for all periods presented herein beazarsenon equivalent shares from unexercised stodékroptoutstanding warrants, and common shares ®gézbe
issued under the Company’'s employee stock purghlasewvere anti-dilutive. The calculation of dilutedrnings per share for the years ended Decemb@034, 2013,
and 2012 does not include 5,279, 2,109 and 1,03%tively, of potential common shares as theimichpvould be anti-dilutive.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethiea United States (“U.S. GAAP”) requires the Compto
make estimates and assumptions that affect themtsiceported in the financial statements. Actusiliits could differ from those estimates.

Significant Customers and Other Risks

Significant Customers

The Company relies primarily on three specialtyriiators to purchase and supply the majority ofFRAAB. These three pharmaceutical specialty distobs
accounted for greater than 90% of all RAPIVAB prodseles in the year ended December 31, 2014 amdiaied for predominantly all of the Company’s tansling
receivables from product sales as of December@®4.2The loss of one or more of these specialtyibiigors as a customer could negatively impact the
commercialization of RAPIVAB.

The Company'’s primary source of revenue that hasaerlying cash flow stream is the reimbursemépeoamivir and BCX4430 development expenses, which
was earned under a cost-plus-fixed-fee contradts BARDA/HHS and NIAID/HHS, respectively. The Commparelies on BARDA/HHS and NIAID/HHS to reimburse
predominantly all of the development costs fopisamivir and BCX4430 programs. Accordingly, reimdament of these expenses represents a significaiiin of the
Company'’s collaborative and other research andldpreent revenues. The completion, as with the 3n014 BARDA/HHS peramivir development contract,
termination of the NIAID/HHS BCX4430 programs/cditaration could negatively impact the Company’s fetGonsolidated Statements of Comprehensive La$s an
Cash Flows. In addition, the Company also recogniagalty revenue from the net sales of RAPIACTé&wkver, the underlying cash flow from these royaklyments
goes directly to pay the interest, and then theggal, on the Company’s non-recourse notes pay&algment of the interest and the ultimate repaymeprincipal of
these notes will be entirely funded by future royalayments derived from net sales of RAPIACTA. Twmpany's drug development activities are perfatiog a
limited group of third party vendors. If any of #eevendors were unable to perform their servites could significantly impact the Company’s akilib complete its
drug development activities.

Risks from Third Party Manufacturing and Distribrti Concentration

The Company relies on single source manufactuogr8®l and finished product manufacturing of RAPIB'AAdditionally, the Company relies upon a sindled
party to provide warehousing and distribution sggsifor RAPIVAB. Delays in the manufacture or disition of any product could adversely impact tbenmercial
revenue and future procurement stockpiling of RARBY/

Credit Risk

Cash equivalents and investments are financiaiumgnts which potentially subject the Company toecemtration of risk to the extent recorded on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company depasis® cash with major financial institutions in theited States. Balances may exceed the amounsofance
provided on such deposits. The Company believeasitestablished guidelines for investment of itesg cash relative to diversification and matwitieat maintain
safety and liquidity. To minimize the exposure doadverse shifts in interest rates, the Compariptaias a portfolio of investments with an averaggturity of
approximately 18 months or less. Other than prodalet receivables discussed above, the majorityso€ompany’s receivables from collaborations ame fitom the
U.S. Government, for which there is no assumeditcrieé.
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Note 2 — Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment consisted of the follondm@december 31:

2014 2013

Furniture and fixture $ 54z $ 60C
Office equipmen 1,11¢ 1,26¢
Software 1,42 1,44¢
Laboratory equipmer 5,78¢ 5,721
Leased equipmel 63 63
Leasehold improvemen 5,30¢ 5,31¢€

14,23: 14,41
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (14,029 (14,1094
Furniture and equipment, net $ 207 $ 30€

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $384,ahd $628, respectively.

Note 3— Royalty Monetization
Overview

On March 9, 2011, the Company completed a $30,@@M¢ing transaction to monetize certain futureaftyyand milestone payments under the Shionogi
Agreement, pursuant to which Shionogi licensed ftbenCompany the rights to market RAPIACTA in Japad, if approved for commercial sale, Taiwan. The
Company received net proceeds of $22,691 fromrémesaction after transaction costs of $4,309 aae#tablishment of a $3,000 interest reserve attyuRoyalty
Sub, available to help cover interest shortfallthm future. All of the interest reserve accourg baen fully utilized with the September 2012 ies¢payment.

As part of the transaction, the Company enteremlanturchase and sale agreement dated as of Ma2€i1® with Royalty Sub, whereby the Company tramstl
to Royalty Sub, among other things, (i) its riglitseceive certain royalty and milestone paymemsifShionogi arising under the Shionogi Agreemant (ii) the right
to receive payments under a Japanese yen/US fwikagn currency hedge arrangement (as furtherrtesstbelow, the “Currency Hedge Agreement”) ptid iplace by
the Company in connection with the transaction. aiyypayments will be paid by Shionogi in Japangseand milestone payments will paid in U.S. dsllathe
Company'’s collaboration with Shionogi was not intedcas a result of this transaction.

Nor-Recourse Notes Payable

On March 9, 2011, Royalty Sub completed a privédegment to institutional investors of $30,000 ggegate principal amount of its PhaRMA Senior $edu
14.0% Notes due 2020 (the “PhaRMA Notes”). The PHhARotes were issued by Royalty Sub under an Ingentdated as of March 9, 2011 (the “Indenturey)abd
between Royalty Sub and U.S. Bank National Assmriats Trustee. Principal and interest on the RiaRlotes issued are payable from, and are secwethé rights
to royalty and milestone payments under the ShibAggeement transferred by the Company to Royaltly 8nd payments, if any, made to Royalty Sub utider
Currency Hedge Agreement. The PhaRMA Notes beardst at 14% per annum, payable annually in ar@a&eptember 1st of each year (the “Payment Dal&g
Company remains entitled to receive any royaltiesrailestone payments related to sales of peramwBhionogi following repayment of the PhaRMA Note

Royalty Sub’s obligations to pay principal and et on the PhaRMA Notes are obligations solelR@yalty Sub and are without recourse to any otkesqn,
including the Company, except to the extent of@eenpany’s pledge of its equity interests in Roy&tp in support of the PhaRMA Notes. The Company, ihat is
not obligated to, make capital contributions tapital account that may be used to redeem, or do ope occasion pay any interest shortfall onRthaRMA Notes.
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In September 2013, Royalty Sub paid $1,844 of @steon the PhaRMA Notes from royalty payments kexbfrom RAPIACTA ® sales from the preceding four
calendar quarters. This payment resulted in aryatitin shortfall of approximately $2,356 associatgith accrued interest due September 3, 2013. iaslated under
the PhaRMA Notes Indenture, if the amount availdbtgpayment on any Payment Date is insufficierpag all of the interest due on a Payment Dateslivetfall in
interest will accrue interest at the interest egiplicable to the PhaRMA Notes compounded annuatigordingly, commencing in September 2013, the gamy began
accruing interest at 14% per annum on the intestesttfall of $2,356. In March, June and August @12, Royalty Sub paid additional interest of $486882 and $70,
respectively, bringing the 2013 shortfall down 23 as of September 30, 2014. Under the termsedhitienture, Royalty Sub’s inability to pay thd fhount of
interest payable in September 2013 by the nextesating Payment Date for the PhaRMA Notes, whichSegstember 1, 2014, constituted an event of default
Accordingly, the PhaRMA Notes and related accrmerest have been classified as current liabildieshe December 31, 2014 balance sheet. As & m#ghk event of
default under the PhaRMA Notes, the holders ofhaRMA Notes may pursue acceleration of the PhaRid#es, may foreclose on the collateral securingPh@RMZA
Notes and the equity interest in Royalty Sub aret@ge other remedies available to them underritieriture in respect of the PhaRMA Notes. In suamg\the
Company may not realize the benefit of future royphyments that might otherwise accrue to it folfoy repayment of the PhaRMA Notes and it migheottise be
adversely affected. Due to the non-recourse natiuttee PhaRMA Notes, in the event of any poterg@eleration or foreclosure, the primary impadh® Company
would be the loss of future royalty payments fronio8ogi and legal costs associated with retirirggPfnaRMA Notes. In addition, the Company may ireosts
associated with liquidating the related CurrencgdgteAgreement, which would no longer be requireth@event of foreclosure, or if the PhaRMA Notease to be
outstanding. As the PhaRMA Notes are the obligatiobRoyalty Sub and norecourse to the Company, the event of default@fthaRMA Notes is not expected to F
a significant impact on the Company’s future resoftoperations or cash flows. In addition to tB&2interest shortfall, Royalty Sub was unable &ketthe 2014
interest payment of $4,200 on the September 1, P@i4nent Date.

The Indenture does not contain any financial comena he Indenture includes customary represemtatind warranties of Royalty Sub, affirmative ardative
covenants of Royalty Sub, Events of Default andtesl remedies, and provisions regarding the dafi¢ee Trustee, indemnification of the Trustee, atiter matters
typical for indentures used in structured finansiogthis type.

As of December 31, 2014, the aggregate fair valubeoPhaRMA Notes was estimated to be approxim&i@¥s of its carrying value of $30,000. The estimafail
value of the PhaRMA Notes is classified as Leviel the fair value hierarchy as defined in U.S. GAAP

The PhaRMA Notes are redeemable at the option gaRoSub at any time at a redemption price equéhé outstanding principal balance of the PhaRMx#eN
being redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interesighrthe redemption date on the PhaRMA Notes heidgemed.

Foreign Currency Hedg

In connection with the issuance by Royalty SuthefPhaRMA Notes, the Company entered into a Cuyreledge Agreement to hedge certain risks associated
with changes in the value of the Japanese yernvelat the U.S. dollar. Under the Currency Hedgeetment, the Company has the right to purchasardahd sell ye
at a rate of 100 yen per dollar for which the Comypmmay be required to pay a premium in each yeen 2015 through 2020, provided the Currency Hedgeeément
remains in effect. A payment of $1,950 will be regd if, on May 18 of the relevant year, the U.8llat is worth 100 yen or less as determined iroed@nce with the
Currency Hedge Agreement.

The Currency Hedge Agreement does not qualify éatge accounting treatment; therefore mark to mardtipistments are recognized in the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. Gatimalmark to market adjustments in 2014, 2013204 resulted in a gain of $5,487, $5,294 and 2d6$749,
respectively. The Company is also required to poBateral in connection with the mark to markejuatiments based on defined thresholds. As of Deee®b, 2014
and 2013, no collateral was posted under the Ceyreledge Agreement. The Company will not be reguaeany time to post collateral exceeding the maxn
premium payments remaining payable under the Coyreledge Agreement. As of December 31, 2014, therman amount of hedge collateral the Company may be
required to post is $11.7 million.

Note 4 — Lease Obligations and Other Contingencies
The Company has the following minimum payments ugerating lease obligations that existed at Déegr31, 2014:

2015 $ 73¢
2016 38:
2017 384
2018 35€
2019 36€
Thereafter 18€
Total minimum payments $ 2,41
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The obligations in the preceding table are pringaslated to the Company’s leases for buildingBirmingham, Alabama and Durham, North Carolina. THase
for the Company’s headquarters in Durham, Northoliiza expires June 30, 2020. The lease for thdiagifacility in Alabama expires June 30, 2016; lewer, in
October 2015, the Company will lease an additiapairoximate 35 square feet in Birmingham to hotsseeéw research facilities. The Company expectgetpn
construction on its new research facility in 2018l ¢his lease obligates the Company for $5,148u§id2026. Rent expense for operating leases w& $626, and
$629 in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

Note 5 — Stockholders’ Equity

Sales of Common Stock

On November 6, 2013, the Company filed a $125,0@0f segistration statement on Forn8Svith the SEC. This shelf registration statemeas weclared effecti
in November 2013 and allows us to sell securitieduding common stock, preferred stock, deposisrgres, stock purchase contracts, warrants aig] tmim time to
time at prices and on terms to be determined dirtreeof sale. On June 3, 2014, the Company is&aggD0 shares of common stock for gross proceefi 1,000
under this $125,000 shelf registration statemeat.g¥oceeds were approximately $106,600 after dedponderwriting discounts and offering expenses.

In August 2013, the Company completed a publicroféeof 4,600 shares of its common stock at a pofc®4.40 per share, which included the undervsitever-
allotment allocation of an additional 600 sharest proceeds were approximately $18,500 after dedpanderwriting discounts and offering expensémr8s of
common stock in this offering were sold under tfi8,800 shelf registration statement declared effeét July 2011.

In June 2011, the Company entered into an At Mddeetance Sales Agreement (the “ATM Agreement”hwicNicoll, Lewis & Vlak (“MLV”) pursuant to whic
the Company was able to sell $70,000 in sharets @bimmon stock at current market prices undemrmf® 3 registration statement with MLV acting as sales agent.
During 2012, the Company sold an aggregate of 4sha6es of common stock at an average per shaeegfr$4.08 pursuant to the ATM Agreement for metpeds of
$17,805. During 2013, the Company sold an aggregfa2e383 shares of common stock at an averagshage price of $1.85 pursuant to the Agreememéoproceeds
of $5,218.

Annual Incentive Award Paid in Stock

On March 15, 2012, the Company issued 193 shanmesstifcted common stock in lieu of a cash payneeimployees as payment for their annual inceratward
earned in 2011. The number of shares issued wasl loesthe total value of the annual incentive eain011 of $1,542, less $535 in withholding tagag in cash on
the employees’ behalf, divided by the closing commstock price on March 15, 2012 of $5.23 per share.

Note 6 — Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Incentive Plan

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had two staded employee compensation plans, the Stock imed?ian (“Incentive Plan”) and the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), both which were amendedestidted in March 2014 and approved by the Compatgckholders in May 2014. Stock-based compemsati
expense of $10,177 ($9,963 of expense relatecettnttentive Plan, $214 of expense related to tHeFESvas recognized during 2014, while $4,368 (&#%®xpense
related to the Incentive Plan, $115 of expenseegelm the ESPP) was recognized during 2013, aridb®4$4,010 of expense related to the Incentiae, 157 of
expense related to the ESPP) was recognized d20itg.

The Company accounts for stock-based compensatiaccordance with FASB authoritative guidance réigarshare-based payments. Total stock-based
compensation was allocated as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Research and developme $ 8,90¢ $ 3,66 $ 3,511
General and administrati\ 1,271 704 65€
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 10,177 $ 4,36¢ $ 4,167

The Company grants stock option awards and restirgtiock unit awards to its employees, directord,@nsultants under the Incentive Plan. Undefribentive
Plan, stock option awards are granted with an ésesprice equal to the market price of the Compastock at the date of grant. Commencing Marctd112stock
option awards granted to employees generally V&#t @ach year until fully vested after four yeansJanuary 2013, the Company made retention gréasteck option
awards and restricted stock units. These award$508s each year until fully vested after two yedmsAugust 2013 and December 2014, the Compangisd032 and
1,250 performance-based stock options, respectiVllyse awards vest upon successful completiopedfific development milestones. As of December2B14, 50%
of the August 2013 grants have vested based ugoewsnent of two milestones (1) successful commhetif the OPuS-1 clinical trial for which vestingooirred in the
second quarter of 2014, and 2) FDA approval of RA® for which vesting occurred in the fourth quarté 2014.) Thus, as of December 31, 2014, 50%eftugust
2013 performance-based grants and 100% of the Dexre®014 performance-based grants remain unvested@compensation expense has been recognizéueie
portions of the previously issued performance-bagadts. Stock option awards granted to rawployee directors of the Company generally vestthip over one yea
All stock option awards have contractual terms & 20 years. The vesting exercise provisionslaaérds granted under the Incentive Plan are stifyeacceleration
in the event of certain stockholder-approved tratigas, or upon the occurrence of a change in obag defined in the Incentive Plan.
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Related activity under the Incentive Plan is akofos:

Weighted

Average

Awards Options Exercise

Available Outstanding Price

Balance at December 31, 2C 2,00¢ 7,85¢ $ 6.21
Plan amendmet 1,70C — —
Restricted stock awards gran (415 — —
Restricted stock awards cancel 86 — —
Stock option awards grant (1,617% 1,617 4.6t
Stock option awards exercis — (350 1.5¢
Stock option awards cancell 1,052 (1,052 6.2€
Balance at December 31, 2C 2,81t 8,072 6.0¢
Restricted stock awards grant (310) — —
Restricted stock awards cancel 53 — —
Stock option awards grant (3,27%) 3,271 3.0
Stock option awards exercis — (56%) 2.37
Stock option awards cancelled 1,801 (1,807 7.22
Balance at December 31, 2C 1,08 8,98¢ 4.9¢
Plan amendmet 3,75( — —
Restricted stock awards grant (599 — —
Restricted stock awards cancel — — —
Stock option awards grant (1,965 1,96t 10.9¢
Stock option awards exercis — (1,25¢) 4.7¢
Stock option awards cancelled 88 (88) 8.8:
Balance at December 31, 2014 2,362 9,60 g 6.21

For stock option awards granted under the InceiiRlaa during 2014, 2013 and 2012, the fair value estimated on the date of grant using a Blackeles optiol
pricing model and the assumptions noted in theethblow. The weighted average grant date fair vefiubkese awards granted during 2014, 2013 and 2@2$8.02,
$1.28, and $3.24, respectively. The fair valuehefsdtock option awards is amortized to expense theevesting periods using a straight-line expetséution method.
The following explanations describe the assumptisedl by the Company to value the stock option dsvgranted during 2014, 2013, and 2012. The exgdifees
based on the average of the assumption that allamding stock option awards will be exerciseditiviesting and the assumption that all outstanditegk option
awards will be exercised at the midpoint of theeatr date (if already vested) or at full vestifght yet vested) and the full contractual terme Bxpected volatility
represents the volatility over the most recentqeedorresponding with the expected life. The Conydaas assumed no expected dividend yield, as didglbave never
been paid to stockholders and will not be for thhe$eeable future. The weighted average risk-friegdst rate is the implied yield currently avaiabn zero-coupon

government issues with a remaining term equaléaettpected term.

Weighted Average Assumptions for Stock Option Award Granted under the Incentive Plan

2014 2013 2012
Expected Life 5.5 4.7 5.4
Expected Volatility 87% 84% 87%
Expected Dividend Yiel 0.(% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-Free Interest Ra 1.€% 0.7% 0.€%
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The total intrinsic value of stock option awardeeised under the Incentive Plan was $8,522 d@figt, $738 during 2013, $877 and during 2012. filénbic
value represents the total proceeds (fair marlketevat the date of exercise, less the exercise pitoes the number of stock option awards exat¥iseived by all
individuals who exercised stock option awards dythe period.

The following table summarizes, at December 31420 price range: (1) for stock option awards tantding under the Incentive Plan, the number afkstption
awards outstanding, their weighted average remgiifimand their weighted average exercise prioe; @) for stock option awards exercisable undemtan, the
number of stock option awards exercisable and theighted average exercise price:

Outstanding Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Remaining Exercise Exercise

Range Number Life Price Number Price

$ 0 to 3 2,23¢ 72 % 1.52 1,148 $ 1.5¢
3 to 6 3,21¢ 6.8 4.5¢ 1,95¢ 4.3t
6 to 9 1,38( 5.2 7.12 1,197 7.11
9 to 12 2,31t 7.6 11.1¢€ 554 11.62
12 to 15 45€ 3.2 12.6¢ 36E 12.5:
15 to 18 4 1.C 15.4¢ 4 15.4¢
$ 0 to 18 9,60¢ 6.6 $ 6.21 522 g 5.7¢

The weighted average remaining contractual lifsto€k option awards exercisable under the Inceiftlae at December 31, 2014 was 5.2 years.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock option awandtstanding and exercisable under the Incentae & December 31, 2014 was $33,698. The aggregate
intrinsic value represents the value (the periatbsing market price, less the exercise price, sithe number of in-theroney stock option awards) that would have t
received by all stock option award holders underltitentive Plan had they exercised their stoclongwards at the end of the year.

The total fair value of the stock option awardstedsunder the Incentive Plan was $2,844 during 263483 during 2013, and $3,373 during 2012.

As of December 31, 2014, the number of stock opioards vested and expected to vest under thetimedtian is 8,580. The weighted average exeraise pf
these stock option awards is $6.27 and their wetjaterage remaining contractual life is 6.6 years.

The following table summarizes the changes in timalver and weighted-average grant-date fair valu®pfvested stock option awards during 2014:

Non-Vested Weighted Average
Stock Option Grant-Date Fair
Awards Value

Balance December 31, 20 420¢ $ 1.5C
Stock option awards grant 1,96t 7.7¢€
Stock option awards vest (1,789 1.5¢
Stock option awards forfeite — —
Balance December 31, 20 438 ¢ 4.27

As of December 31, 2014, there was approximatel98iof total unrecognized compensation cost rélatenon-vested employee stock option awards and
restricted stock units granted by the Company. That is expected to be recognized as follows:@4id 2015, $2,968 in 2016, $2,502 in 2017, ands$412018.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has reserved a total of 1,475 sharesnefnon stock to be purchased under the ESPP,iohwB8 shares remain available for purchase at
December 31, 2014. Eligible employees may authanz® 15% of their salary to purchase common s&idke lower of 85% of the beginning or 85% of ¢émeling
price during six-month purchase intervals. No ntben 3 shares may be purchased by any one empbyiee six-month purchase dates and no employeeporahase
stock having a fair market value at the commence¢miate of $25 or more in any one calendar year.

There were 49, 89 and 110 shares of common stackased under the ESPP in 2014, 2013, and 201k ateeely, at a weighted average price per shaf6d#9,
$1.39, and $2.93, respectively. Expense of $2185%4nd $157, related to the ESPP was recognizénigd2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. Compensakpense
for shares purchased under the ESPP related futichase discount and the “look-back” option westedmined using a Black-Scholes option pricing nhotlee
weighted average grant date fair values of shawested under the ESPP during 2014, 2013, and 204r2 $4.41, $1.27, and $1.48, respectively.

Note 7 — Income Taxes

The Company has incurred net losses since inceptidnconsequently, has not recorded any U.S. &kaled state income tax expense or benefit. THerdifces
between the Company’s effective tax rate and thteitgiry tax rate in 2014, 2013, and 2012 are dgviist

2014 2013 2012
Income tax benefit at federal statutory rate (3! $ (15,816 $ (10,539 $ (13,679
State and local income taxes net of federal taxetit (1,286 (839 (1,470
Permanent item 25¢ 73¢ 754
Rate chang 22 1,897 1,147
Expiration of attribute carryforwarc 373 242 5,13¢
Research and development tax cre (74¥) (1,206 82¢
Other (11%) 1,14« 281
Change in valuation allowan: 17,31: 8,56 7,002
Income tax expense $ — 3 — 3 —

The Company recognizes the impact of a tax positiots financial statements if it is more likelyan not that the position will be sustained on gbased on the
technical merits of the position. The Company fasctuded that it has an uncertain tax positiongbeirig to its research and development credit éanmards. The
Company has established these credits based amaiion and calculations it believes are approeréatd the best estimate of the underlying crediy ¢hanges to the
Company’s unrecognized tax benefits are offsetrbgdjustment to the valuation allowance and thereldvbe no impact on the Company'’s financial staets. The
Company does not expect its unrecognized tax ksrtefchange significantly over the next 12 months.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amaoaintinrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

2014 2013
Balance at January $ 284 $ =
Additions to current year tax positio 17¢€ 43
Additions to tax positions of prior yea 12 241
Reductions for tax provisions of prior yei — —
Balance at December 2 $ 47z $ 284

Additionally, utilization of the Compang’net operating loss carryforwards could be sultfeatsubstantial annual limitation due to ownerstiiange limitations ¢
described in Section 382 of the Internal RevenugeGmd similar state provisions. The Company he®mpeed an analysis as of December 31, 2014, asdiégrmine
that it has incurred changes in control as defungdker Section 382. These ownership changes maytlimamount of net operating losses that canibeegt annually to
offset future taxable income and tax.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets and liabilities are as follows:

2014 2013

Deferred tax asset

Net federal and state operating los $ 135,92: $ 119,94(

Research and development cre 38,09¢ 37,34¢

Fixed asset 1,07: 1,11¢

Reserve for inventorie — 1,612

Deferred revenu 3,79¢ 2,151

Stocl-based compensatic 7,08¢ 5,282

Other 1,17¢ 311
Total deferred tax asse 187,15: 167,76:
Deferred tax liabilities

Foreign currency derivativ (2,285 (207)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (2,28%) (207)
Valuation allowanct (184,869 (167,55¢)
Net deferred tax asse $ — % —

The majority of the Company’s deferred tax asselege to net operating loss and research and dawelat carryforwards that can only be realizedéf @ompany
is profitable in future periods. It is uncertainether the Company will realize any tax benefittedao these carryforwards. Accordingly, the Conyplaas provided a
full valuation allowance against the net deferi@dassets due to uncertainties as to their ultimegtization. The valuation allowance will rematrttze full amount of
the deferred tax assets until it is more likelyntimat that the related tax benefits will be realiZEhe Company'’s valuation allowance increasedi®®12 in 2014,
$8,567 in 2013, and $7,002 in 2012.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had federtating loss carryforwards of $356,686, state dpegdoss carryforwards of $361,572, and reseanth a
development credit carryforwards of $38,096, whidh expire at various dates from 2015 through 20Bde federal losses begin to expire in 2018, tatedosses begin
to expire in 2015 and the research and developomitacts begin to expire in 2018.

The Companys federal and state operating loss carryforwardsidte $7,890 of excess tax benefits related tadact®n from the exercise of stock options. The
benefit of these deductions has not been recogiizeeferred tax assets. If utilized, the bendfiten these deductions will be recorded as adjustsnenadditional paid-
in capital.

Tax years 2011-2013 remain open to examinatioméyrtajor taxing jurisdictions to which the Compasgubject. Additionally, years prior to 2011 algoaopen
to examination to the extent of loss and creditydarwards from those years. The Company recognittesest and penalties accrued related to unrépeditax benefit
as components of its income tax provision. Howetheate were no provisions or accruals for inteagst penalties in 2014, 2013, and 2012.

Note 8 — Employee 401(k) Plan

In January 1991, the Company adopted an employeement plan (“401(k) Plan”) under Section 401¢kthe Internal Revenue Code covering all employees
Employee contributions may be made to the 401 Rb to limits established by the Internal ReveBervice. Company matching contributions may beeradhe
discretion of the Board of Directors. The Compargda matching contributions of $361, $313, and $#18014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

Note 9 — Collaborative and Other Research and Devgbment Contracts

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“BARIHS”). In January 2007, the U.S. Department of Healthtdmehan Services (‘BARDA/HHS awardec
the Company a $102,661, four-year contract foratiheanced development of peramivir for the treatroémifluenza. During 2009, peramivir clinical désement
shifted to focus on intravenous delivery and tleatiment of hospitalized patients. To support thisi§, a September 2009 contract modification wasded to extend
the i.v. peramivir program and to increase fundigg77,191. On February 24, 2011, the Company armsexlithat BARDA/HHS had awarded it a $55,000 cattra
modification, intended to fund completion of theaB& 3 development of i.v. peramivir for the treathw# patients hospitalized with influenza. Thahtact modificatio
brought the total contract award from BARDA/HHS$234,852 and provided funding to support the filaigs NDA to seek regulatory approval for i.v. parair in the
U.S. In December 2013, BioCryst submitted an NDidifor i.v. peramivir to the FDA and the NDA wapproved in December 2014. The BARDA/HHS contract
expired on June 30, 2014 upon completion of appeesibilities under the contract.
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National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseag"NIAID/HHS"). In September 2013, NIAID/HHS contracted with the@any for the development of
BCX4430 as a treatment for Marburg virus diseas8IDNHHS, part of the National Institutes of Healtinade an initial award of $5,000 to the Comparhe otal
funding under this contract as of December 31, 2@14d be up to $28,717, if all contract options exercised by NIAID/HHS, over a five year peridtie goals of thi
contract are to file IND applications for intraversa.v. and i.m. BCX4430 for the treatment of Maxpuirus disease, and to conduct an initial Phalseran clinical
trial. The aggregate $28,717 contract and optioifug supports the appropriate IND-enabling progean the initial clinical trial. As of December 2014, a total of
$22,302 has been awarded under exercised optithihe contract. BCX4430 is the lead compounth@xCompany’s BSAV research program.

The contracts with BARDA/HHS and NIAID/HHS are cgdtis-fixed-fee contracts. That is, the Compangnistled to receive reimbursement for all costsiimed
in accordance with the contracts provisions thatralated to the development of peramivir and BC30glus a fixed fee, or profit. BARDA/HHS and NIAIBHS will
make periodic assessments of progress and thengatitin of the contract is based on the Compamsrffopmance, the timeliness and quality of delivégaband other
factors. The government has rights under certamtraot clauses to terminate these contracts. Tée#eacts are terminable by the government at iamy for breach or
without cause.

Shionogi & Co., Ltd. (“Shionogi”)In February 2007, the Company entered into an sk@uicense agreement with Shionogi to developa@mmercialize
peramivir in Japan for the treatment of seasonadlpemtentially life-threatening human influenza. @nthe terms of the agreement, Shionogi obtairgttsito injectable
formulations of peramivir in Japan. The Companyedeped peramivir under a license from UAB and wille sublicense payments to them on any future toites
payments and/or royalties received by the Compeoy Shionogi. In October 2008, the Company and8lgoamended the license agreement to expandiiterg
covered by the agreement to include Taiwan anddeige rights for Shionogi to perform a Phase 8icél trial in Hong Kong. Shionogi has commerciddynched
peramivir under the commercial name RAPIACTA inalap

Green Cross Corporation (“Green Cross'h June 2006, the Company entered into an agreemitmGreen Cross to develop and commercializerptiain
Korea. Under the terms of the agreement, Greens@vikbe responsible for all development, regutat@and commercialization costs in Korea. The Camypaceived .
onetime license fee of $250. The license also provtdasthe Company will share in profits resultingri the sale of peramivir in Korea, including tladesof peramivi
to the Korean government for stockpiling purposesthermore, Green Cross will pay the Company enpm over its cost to supply peramivir for develaprhand an
future marketing of peramivir products in Korea.

Mundipharma International Holdings Limited (“Mundiprma”). In February 2006, the Company entered into an sk@yroyalty bearing right and license
agreement with Mundipharma for the development@mdmercialization of forodesine, a Purine Nucleedthosphorylase (“PNP”) inhibitor, for use in oragy (the
“Original Agreement”). Under the terms of the Onigi Agreement, Mundipharma obtained rights to feside in markets across Europe, Asia, and Ausigaitas
exchange for a $10,000 up-front payment.

The Company deferred revenue recognition of theGRDup-front payment that was received from Muhdima in February 2006 because the Company was
involved in the continued development of forodesimortization of this revenue commenced in Febyr@806 and was initially scheduled to end in Octdt#l 7,
which is the date of expiration for the last-to-e&patent covered by the agreement. The Compauaydaferred revenue recognition of a $5,000 paymemeived from
Mundipharma in connection with the initiation otlanical trial in 2007. Amortization of this defed revenue commenced in 2007 and was initiallycialee to end in
October 2017. Under its agreement with AECOM/IRie €Company paid sublicense payments related te tgfsont cash payments received from Mundipharma.
Expense recognition of these sublicense paymerdsieferred and recognized under the same terneasltted deferred revenue.

On November 11, 2011, the Company entered inté\thended and Restated License and Development Agmetime “Amended and Restated Agreement”) with
Mundipharma, amending and restating the Originale&gent. Under the terms of the Amended and Restafeeement, Mundipharma obtained worldwide rigbts
forodesine. Commencing on November 11, 2011, Muratipa controls the development and commercialimaifdorodesine and assumes all future developruett
commercialization costs. The Amended and Restatgdeinent provides for the possibility of future miveayments totaling $15,000 for achieving spedifiegulatory
events for certain indications and tiered royalta@sying from mid to high single-digit percentagéset product sales in each country where forodess sold by
Mundipharma. These royalties are subject to dowdwaadjustments based on the then-existing patergrage and/or the availability of generic compoundsach
country.

The Amended and Restated Agreement is a multiplaemt arrangement for accounting purposes, in whiglCompany is required to deliver to Mundipharma
both the worldwide rights to forodesine in thedief oncology and the transfer of product datalarmv-how to permit Mundipharma to develop and comuiadize
forodesine (the “Knowledge Transfer”). The Compangounted for these elements as a combined uadaafunting as they do not have stand-alone value to
Mundipharma. The worldwide license rights were ggdrto Mundipharma on November 11, 2011 and thenenige Transfer was completed during the first tpraof
2012. Completion of the Knowledge Transfer conctuttee Company’s obligations under the Amended agstd®ed Agreement and resulted in the recogniticheo
unamortized deferred revenue and expense of $276&1,864, respectively, in the Consolidated 8tates of Comprehensive Loss for the year endedrbDieee31,
2012.
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Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva @néity and Industrial Research, Ltd. (“AECOM” andRL" respectively)In June 2000, the Company license
series of potent inhibitors of PNP from AECOM aRl ] (collectively, the “Licensors”). The lead pradicandidates from this collaboration are forodesind
ulodesine. The Company has obtained worldwide sikairights to develop and ultimately distributegl, or any other, product candidates that migée érom
research on these inhibitors. The Company hasptieroto expand the Agreement to include othermtieas in the field made by the investigators optyees of the
Licensors. The Company agreed to use commerciediganable efforts to develop these drugs. In atdithe Company has agreed to pay certain milegtayments fc
each licensed product (which range in the aggregate $1,400 to almost $4,000 per indication) fatufe development of these inhibitors, single digjalties on net
sales of any resulting product made by the Compamy to share approximately one quarter of futaygnents received from other third-party partndrany. In
addition, the Company has agreed to pay annualdecéees, which can range from $150 to $500, tieatreditable against actual royalties and othgmets due to the
Licensors. This agreement may be terminated by tirapany at any time by giving 60 days advance edaiidn the event of material uncured breach byLtbensors.

In May 2010, the Company amended the licensee mgnetethrough which the Company obtained worldwixidwesive rights to develop and ultimately distribut
any product candidates that might arise from re$ean a series of PNP inhibitors, including foradesaind ulodesine. Under the terms of the amendrttenticensors
agreed to accept a reduction of one-half in theqregage of future payments received from tlpiagty sub licensees of the licensed PNP inhibitoss must be paid to tl
Licensors. This reduction does not apply to (i) anilestone payments the Company may receive ifutioee under its license agreement dated Februa2@d6 with
Mundipharma and (ii) royalties received from it $igensees in connection with the sale of licermediucts, for which the original payment rate wélinain in effect.
The rate of royalty payments to the Licensors basedet sales of any resulting product made byCimpany remains unchanged.

In consideration for these modifications in 20H& €ompany issued to the Licensors shares of iitsrmmn stock with an aggregate value of $5,911 arditha
Licensors $90 in cash. Additionally, at the Comparsple option and subject to certain agreed upamitions, any future non-royalty payments dued@hid by it to
the Licensors under the license agreement may ble either in cash, in shares of its common stocky a combination of cash and shares.

On November 17, 2011, the Company further amentdegbreements with the Licensors whereby the Lmanagreed to accept a reduction of one-half in the
percentage of Net Proceeds (as defined) receiveéldebompany under its Amended and Restated Agmetemith Mundipharma that will be paid to AECOM/IRL.

On June 19, 2012, the Company further amendedjiieeeents with AECOM/IRL whereby the patrties cladfthe definition of the field with respect to PNP
inhibition and AECOM/IRL agreed to exclusive worlidi® license of BCX4430 to BioCryst for any antivisse.

At its sole option and subject to certain agreeshugonditions, any future non-royalty payments tube paid by the Company to AECOM/IRL under tloetise
agreement may be made either in cash, in shatbs @ompany’s common stock, or in a combinatiooash and shares.

The University of Alabama at Birmingham (“UAB™he Company currently has agreements with UABHfluenza neuraminidase and complement inhibitors.
Under the terms of these agreements, UAB perforspedific research for the Company in return foeaesh payments and license fees. UAB has granee@dmpany
certain rights to any discoveries in these aresdting from research developed by UAB or jointgvedloped with the Company. The Company has agrepdyt single
digit royalties on sales of any resulting produad ¢o share in future payments received from dthied-party partners. The Company has completedebkearch under
the UAB agreements. These two agreements haval iBfiiyear terms, are automatically renewableif@-year terms throughout the life of the last pasnd are
terminable by the Company upon three months naticeby UAB under certain circumstances. Upon teatiom both parties shall cease using the othergsart
proprietary and confidential information and matks; the parties shall jointly own joint inventiomsd UAB shall resume full ownership of all UABditsed products.
There is currently no activity between the Compangt UAB on these agreements, but when the Comja@amsks this technology, such as in the case @himnogi
and Green Cross agreements, or commercializes geolated to these programs, the Company will swi#icense fees or royalties on amounts it reseive

Note 10 — Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
2014 Quarters
Revenue: $ 3,45¢ $ 1,466 $ 3,23t $ 5,44¢
Net Loss (10,13 (14,649 (8,73)) (11,677)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh (0.17) (0.29) (0.12) (0.1¢)
2013 Quarters
Revenue: $ 3,55¢ % 821 $ 2,38¢ % 10,56
Net Loss (4,50¢) (12,177) (8,007 (5,429
Basic and diluted net loss per sh (0.09 (0.29) (0.149) (0.09
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BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Note 11 — Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standddard (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2014-15Rfesentation of Financial Statements - Going Cong¢&ubtopic
205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an BrisitAbility to Continue as a Going Concewhich defines managemestesponsibility to evaluate, at each annua
interim reporting period, whether there are coodsior events that raise substantial doubt aboahtty’s ability to continue as a going concern within gear after th
date the financial statements are issued and toderoelated footnote disclosures in certain cirstances. In connection with each annual and intpdriod,
management must assess if there is substantiat dbobt the company’s ability to continue as a ga@ancern within one year after the issuance daieclosures are
required if conditions give rise to substantial biouThis standard is effective for all companieshie first annual period ending after December203,6, and interim
periods thereafter, with early adoption permitfBde Company is currently evaluating the impactefadoption of this standard on its financial stegets and
disclosures.

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standardade ("ASU") 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customengich provides a single, comprehensive
revenue recognition model for all contracts witlstomers. The core principal of this ASU is thatatity should recognize revenue when it transfessnised goods or
services to customers in an amount that refleetsdmsideration to which the entity expects toriéled in exchange for those goods or servicess A$U also require
additional disclosure about the nature, amouninginand uncertainty of revenue and cash flowsrgifiom customer contracts, including significardgments and
changes in judgments and assets recognized fromm ioosirred to obtain or fulfill a contract. ThisSN is effective for annual periods, and interimipes within those
annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2848y adoption is not permitted and companies camsttion to the new standard under the full reteative method
or the modified retrospective method. The Comparguirently evaluating the impact this ASU will leaan its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-X2ompensation — Stock Compensation: AccountingifaresBased Payments When the Terms of an Awardderov
That a Performance Target Could be Achieved afteiRequisite Service Periaghich provides explicit guidance for the accountireatment for these types of awards.
The ASU requires that a performance target thactgfvesting and that could be achieved afterdhaisite service period be treated as a performemgition. As
such, the performance target should not be refldctestimating the grant-date fair value of theaev This update is effective for annual periods iaterim periods
within those annual periods beginning after Decamibe 2014. Early adoption is permitted. The Conypdoes not expect this ASU will have a material aetpon its
consolidated financial statements.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the consolidated balance she®®®@fyst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 8142nd 2013, and the related consolidated statsroén
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and dastsffor each of the three years in the period dridlecember 31, 2014. These financial statementhare
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these faiahstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamigUnited States). Those standards require thailan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout whether the financial statements are fregaterial misstatement. An audit includes exangnon a test basi
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuréifinancial statements. An audit also includegssing the accounting principles used and sigmifiestimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbfiaeancial statement presentation. We believe tha audits provide a reasonable basis for ouniopi

In our opinion, the financial statements referrealove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of BioCryst Rhaceuticals, Inc.

at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidesedts of its operations and its cash flows fmteof the three years in the period ended DeceBihe2014, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfingciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stadsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Beter 31, 2014, based on criteria establishédtérnal Control-Integrated Framewotksued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis§0i3 Framework) and our report dated March 2520dpressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 2, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inctariral control over financial reporting as of Det®m31, 2014, based on criteria establishddternal
Control-Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrise Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) (teSO criteria). BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s management is responsible&intaining effective internal control over fir@al reporting, and for its assessment of thecéffeness of internal
control over financial reporting included in theeampanying Management's Report on Internal Corinvér Financial Reporting. Our responsibility iseipress an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over fingl reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightr8d@nited States). Those standards require thatlare
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable asserabout whether effective internal control overfinial reporting was maintained in all materiapegs. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internalta@rover financial reporting, assessing the risktta material weakness exists, testing and evadptite design and
operating effectiveness of internal control basedhe assessed risk, and performing such otheegues as we considered necessary in the circucestaWe believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis foopimion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesssuregarding the reliability of financial repogtand the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples. A company’s internal control oferancial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(it) pertain to the maintenance of records thagasonable detail, accurately and fairly refteettransactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) igexeasonable assurance that transactions aneleecas necessary to permit preparation of findstaégements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies; and that receipts and expenditures of tinepemy are being made only in accordance with aizifitbons of
management and directors of the company; and (Bjiger reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usegdisposition
of the company’s assets that could have a matffidt on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of any evatuetf
effectiveness to future periods are subject taidiethat controls may become inadequate becauskeasfges in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. niaiimed, in all material respects, effective intégtntrol over financial reporting as of Decembér 3014, based
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@snited States), the consolidated balance shéets
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 8142nd 2013, and the related consolidated statsroénomprehensive loss, stockholdeguity, and cash flows f
each of the three years in the period ended DeaeBih@014 of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andreport dated March 2, 2015 expressed an ungeeldpinion
thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 2, 2015
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and promesithat are designed to ensure that informaélating to BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. requiete
disclosed in our periodic filings under the SedesitExchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchawg®, is recorded, processed, summarized andrtegan a
timely manner under the Exchange Act of 1934. Wedex out an evaluation as required by paragrapbf(Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 under the Exchakgeunder
the supervision and with the participation of maragnt, including our Chief Executive Officer andi€lrinancial Officer, of the effectiveness of tihesign and
operation of our disclosure controls and proced(asslefined in Rule 13a-15(¢e) or Rule 15d-15 utidetExchange Act). Based upon that evaluationCtiief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer comded that, as of December 31, 2014, our disclosem&rols and procedures are effective. We belibaedur
disclosure controls and procedures will ensureittfiatmation required to be disclosed in the repdited or submitted by us under the Exchange #cécorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pieneds specified in the rules and forms of theuises and Exchange Commission, and include cétsénad
procedures designed to ensure that informationined)to be disclosed by us in such reports is actat®ed and communicated to our management, inciuolim
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Ririal Officer, as appropriate to allow timely déors regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Management of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ipaasible for establishing and maintaining adeqirdggnal control over financial reporting and fbet
assessment of the effectiveness of internal contret financial reporting. As defined by the Settesiand Exchange Commission, internal control éwancial
reporting is a process designed by, or under thersision of our principal executive and princifiakncial officers and effected by our Board of &itors, management
and other personnel, to provide reasonable assuragarding the reliability of financial reportiagd the preparation of the financial statemengcoordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Our internal control over financial reporting ipported by written policies and procedures thapgt}ain to the maintenance of records that, isgeable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect our transactions digpositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonasdeirance that transactions are recorded as nsctsgarmit
preparation of the financial statements in accardamith generally accepted accounting principles, that our receipts and expenditures are beingeroaly in
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshtd&ectors; and (3) provide reasonable assuragarding prevention or timely detection of unauithent
acquisition, use or disposition of our assets tbatd have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of any evatueadf
effectiveness to future periods are subject taiglethat controls may become inadequate becauskasfges in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of our annuaéficial statements, management has undertakersessagent of the effectiveness of our internal cbotrer
financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, basedriteria established in Internal Control — Intetgd Framework issued by the Committee of Spongori
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 Emaark) (the COSO Framework). Management's asseddnmuded an evaluation of the design of our inéér
control over financial reporting and testing of terational effectiveness of those controls.

Based on this assessment, management has conthaded of December 31, 2014, our internal comvel financial reporting was effective. Management
believes our internal control over financial repugtwill provide reasonable assurance regardingehability of financial reporting and the preptioa of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancelWwihgenerally accepted accounting principles.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered puhticounting firm that audited our financial stagens included in this report, has issued an attesteeport
on the Company’s internal control over financigloging, a copy of which appears on page 67 ofahisual report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal cooweal financial reporting that occurred during theader ended December 31, 2014 that have mateatiéigted,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, @ternal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

68




PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNXCE

The information required by this item is set fantider the caption$tems to be Voted on — 1. Election of DirectorExecutive Officers,” “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complia” and“Corporate Governance’ln our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2015 AahMeeting of Stockholders and
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is set fautider the caption€Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Summaryn@eensation Table,” “Grants of Plan-
Based Awards in 201" “Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 20142014 Option Exercises and Stock Vested,” “PotehBayments Upon Termination or
Change in Control,” “2014 Director Compensation,'Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Egdition” and“Compensation Committee Repoiiti our
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Megf Stockholders and incorporated herein byresfee.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is set fautider the caption$Equity Compensation Plan Informatiorénd “ Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Managemeniti our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2015 AahMeeting of Stockholders and incorporated hebgimeference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is set fautider the captior€Certain Relationships and Related Transactiomsid “ Corporate Governanceih our
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Megf Stockholders and incorporated herein byresfee.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is set fautider the captiof2. Ratification of Appointment of Independent Reégried Public Accountantsh our definitive
Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Bbhatders and incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Financial Statements

The following financial statements appear in Itemwf &is Form 10-K:

Page in
Form 10-K
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2QiL2C48 44
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Los$iéyéears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 45
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yevatled December 31, 2014, 2013 and - 46
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2014, 20032012 47
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 48
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimpn on Consolidated Financial Stateme 65
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimg on Internal Contrc 66

No financial statement schedules are included tsecthe information is either provided in the cortded financial statements or is not required utige related
instructions or is inapplicable and such schediliesefore have been omitted.

(b) Exhibits.See Index of Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i{(tH)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report to be signedsopehbalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on Mar&@015.

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Jon P. Stonehouse
Jon P. Stonehout
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblptine following persons on behalf of the registrand in th
capacities indicated on March 2, 2015:

Signature Title(s)
/sl Jon P. Stonehouse President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Jon P. Stonehous (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl Thomas R. Staab Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer ¢
(Thomas R. Staab II) Treasurer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

/s/ George B. Abercrombie Director
(George B. Abercrombie

/sl Fred E. Cohe Director
(Fred E. Cohen, M.D., D. Phi

/sl Stanley C. Erc Director
(Stanley C. Erck

/sl Nancy Hutson Director
(Nancy Hutson, Ph.D

/sl Peder K. Jense Director
(Peder K. Jensen, M.C

/sl Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. Director
(Kenneth B. Lee, Jr

/sl Charles A. Sande Director
(Charles A. Sanders, M.C
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Number Description

3.1
3.2

3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7
4.3

10.1&
10.2&
10.3&
10.4&

10.5
10.6&

(10.7)&
(10.8)&
10.9&

10.10&
10.11&

10.12&
10.13&

10.14&
10.15&
(10.16)
&

Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Regint. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1thewCompan’'s Form K filed December 22, 20C

Certificate of Amendment to the Third RestaBettificate of Incorporation of Registrant. Incorated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Compargsn 8K
filed July 24, 2007

Certificate of Amendment to the Third RestaBattificate of Incorporation of Registrant. Incorated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Compargsn 8K
filed May 8, 2014

Certificate of Increase of Authorized Number of &saof Series B Junior Participating Preferred IStdncorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Compan'’s Form {-K filed November 4, 200¢

Certificate of Increase of Authorized Number of &saof Series B Junior Participating Preferred IStdocorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
Compan'’s Form K filed May 8, 2014

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant @fee©ctober 29, 2008. Incorporated by referencExbibit 3.2 to the Company’s Formk8filed Novembe
4,2008.

Indenture, dated as of March 9, 2011 by and betwB&Royalty Sub LLC and U.S. Bank National Asstimig as trustee. Incorporated by reference to it
4.3 of the Compar’s Form 1+-Q filed May 6, 2011

Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan datedhvid, 2012. Incorporated by reference to Exhibifi bf the Compar’'s Form &K, filed May 25, 2012
Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan datediv&r2014. Incorporated by reference to Exhibifl 10 the Compar's Form K filed May 5, 2014
Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase &ed March 29, 2012. Incorporated by referenceedompan’s Form K, filed May 25, 201:

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase &ed March 8, 2014. Incorporated by reference tuitiix10.2 to the Compar's Form K filed May 5.
2014.

Form of Notice of Grant of Nc-Employee Director Automatic Stock Option and St@jition Agreement. Incorporated by reference to ExHi0.4 of thi
Compan'’s Form 1K filed March 4, 2008

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stogtion Agreement. Incorporated by reference to ExHiB.5 of the Compar's Form 1-K filed March 4
2008.

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stoghtion Agreemen

Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit &t and Restricted Stock Unit Agreem

Annual Incentive Plan. Incorporated by referencExhibit 10.1 of the Compar’'s Form &K filed March 12, 201:
Executive Relocation Policy. Incorporated by refieeto Exhibit 10.2 of the Compé’'s Form 1-K filed March 4, 200¢

Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreemeatidgebruary 14, 2007, by and between the Compaaghyyen P. Stonehouse. Incorporated by refe
to Exhibit 10.12 to the Compa’s Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, filed Marth2007

Employment Letter Agreement between BioCryst Phaguticals, Inc. and Thomas R. Staab Il, dated M&By2R11. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
of the Compan’s Form K filed May 25, 2011

Employment Letter Agreement between BioCryst Phaguticals, Inc. and William P. Sheridan dated JuRe2008. Incorporated by reference to Exl
10.27 of the Compar's Form 1+-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Employment Letter Agreement between BioCryst Phaguticals, Inc. and Yarlagadda S. Babu dated 22012
Employment Letter Agreement between BioCryst Phagugcals, Inc. and Alane P. Barnes dated Augu2083

Employment Letter Agreement between BioCryst Phagutcals, Inc. and Lynne Powell dated Decembe805
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10.17#

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28
10.29

10.30#

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

Agreement dated January 3, 2007, between BioChyatrRaceuticals, Inc. and the Department of Heaith lduman Services, as amended by Amend
number 1 dated January 3, 2007 and Amendment nutnbated May 11, 2007. Incorporated by referendéxtuibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form Dfiled
August 9, 2007. (Portions omitted pursuant to regter confidential treatment

Amendment #3 to the Agreement between BioCryst iRaeguticals, Inc. and the Department of Health Hodhan Services, dated October 2, 2
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of therpany's Form 1+K filed March 4, 2008

Amendment #4 to the Agreement between BioCrystiiRaeeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtdmhan Services dated April 3, 2008. Incorpor
by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Amendment #5 to the Agreement between BioCrystRheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtdachan Services dated July 2, 2008. Incorpol
by reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Amendment #6 to the Agreement between BioCryst Rheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Health Huoehan Services dated August 18, 2
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of therpany's Form K filed November 7, 200¢

Amendment #7 to the Agreement between BioCryst iRheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Health Hodhan Services dated November 17, 2
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of therpanys Form 1-K filed March 6, 2009

Amendment #8 to the Agreement between BioCryst Rheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Health Hiodhan Services dated March 13, 2(
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of tlwpanys Form 1K filed March 9, 2010

Amendment #9 to the Agreement between BioCryst iRaeeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Health lHodhan Services dated September 18, 2
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of therpany's Form 1+-Q filed November 6, 200¢

Amendment #10 to the Agreement between the Compadythe U.S. Department of Health & Human Servidesed October 15, 2009. Incorporatec
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed November 6, 200!

Amendment #11 to the Agreement between the Compadythe U.S. Department of Health & Human Servidesed February 23, 2011. Incorporatet
reference to Exhibit 10.25 of the Comp’s Form 1K filed March 15, 2011

Stop-Work Order from U.S. Department of Health and Hun®ewvices, dated March 26, 2013, relating to Agemndated January 3, 2007 betweer
Company and the U.S. Department of Health and HuBgamices. Incorporated by reference to Exhibifi ¥.the Compar’s Form 1+Q filed May 9, 2013

Amendment #13 to the Agreement between the Comaadythe U.S. Department of Health & Human Servidated February 15, 20:

Amendment #14 to the Agreement between the Compadythe U.S. Department of Health & Human Servidated June 4, 2013. Incorporated by refer
to Exhibit 10.1 of the Compa’s Form 1+-Q filed June 5, 201%

Amendment #15 to the Agreement between the Compadythe U.S. Department of Health & Human Servidased September 5, 2013. Incorporate
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed November 8, 2013. (Portions omitted pursuamequest for confidential treatmer

Amendment #16 to the Agreement between the Compadythe U.S. Department of Health & Human Servidesed December 17, 2013. Incorporate
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Comp’s Form K filed December 23, 201:

Amendment #17 to the Agreement between the Compadythe U.S. Department of Health & Human Servidesed February 21, 2014. Incorporatet
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Comp’s Form &K filed February 26, 201«

Order for Supplies or Services from the U.S. Deparit of Health & Human Services, dated Novemb&089. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
the Compan’s Form 1-K filed March 9, 2010

Amendment #18 to the Agreement between BioCrystrRaeeuticals, Inc. and the U.S. Department of Heaftd Human Services, dated March 28, z
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thenPany s Form K filed April 3, 2014.

Amendment #19 to the Agreement between BioCrystrRaeeuticals, Inc. and the U.S. Department of Heaitd Human Services, dated April 29, 2
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thenPany s Form K filed May 2, 2014

Amendment #20 to the Agreement to the Agreementdest BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the U.Sallenent of Health and Human Services, ¢
May 30, 2014. . Incorporated by reference to ExHibil to the Compar's Form &K filed June 5, 2014
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10.37# License, Development and Commercialization Agredrdated as of February 28, 2007, by and betwee@tmepany and Shionogi & Co., Ltd. Incorpore
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed May 10, 2007. (Portions omitted pursuanteaquest for confidential treatmer

10.38# First Amendment to License, Development and Comialezation Agreement, effective as of September288, between the Company and Shionogi &
Ltd. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19the Company’s Form 1B-filed March 6, 2009. (Portions omitted pursuamtréquest for confidenti
treatment.’

10.39 Riverchase Business Park Warehouse Lease dated12ul000 between RBP, LLC an Alabama Limited LUigbiCompany and the Registrant
office/warehouse space. Incorporated by refereadexhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form @Dfor the second quarter ending June 30, 2000 fledust 8
2000.

10.40 Third Amendment to Lease Agreement dated Augu200y, by and between Riverchase Capital LLC, aidolimited liability company, Stow Rivercha
LLC, a Florida limited liability company, as sucses landlord to RBP, LLC and the Company. Incorpenteby reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’
Form 1(-Q filed August 9, 2007

10.41  Fourth Amendment to the Lease Agreement dated Beprly, 2012, by and between Riverchase Capital LAGlorida limited liability company, Stc
Riverchase, LLC, a Florida limited liability compgras successor landlord to RBP, LLC and the Complacorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 &
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Exhibit 10.7

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STANDARD STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
WITNESSETH:

RECITALS

A. The Board of Directors of the Company has adbpie Company’s Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plaiof)the purpose of attracting and retaining thevisee
of selected key employees (including officers aimvéators), noremployee Board members and consultants and otdepémdent contractors who contribute to
financial success of the Company or its parentibsigliary corporations.

B. Optionee is an individual who is to render valeaservices to the Company or its parent or sidogicdorporations, and this Agreement is executagyan
to, and is intended to carry out the purposeshefRlan in connection with the Company’s grant sfoek option to Optionee.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows:

1. Grant of Ogtlon Subject to and upon the terms and conditions s#t fio this Agreement, the Company hereby gran@ptionee, as of the gr:
date (the “_Grant Dat8 specified in the accompanying Notice of GrantStbck Option (the “ Grant Notic®, a stock option to purchase up to that number ofesha
the Company’s Common Stock (the “ Optioned Shéyespecified in the Grant Notice. The Optioned Shatesl be purchasable from time to time during theom
term at the option price per share (the “ Optioied™) specified in the Grant Notice.

2. Option Term . This option shall expire at the close of businesshe Expiration Date specified in the Grant Nqtigeless sooner terminatec
accordance with Paragraph 5, 6 or 19 of this Agesgm

3. Limited Transferability . During the lifetime of the Optionee, this optiondether with its tandem stock appreciation rigsiiall be exercisat
only by the Optionee and shall not be assignableamsferable by the Optionee except for a transfewill or by the laws of descent and distributifmiowing the
Optionee’s death. Notwithstanding the foregoings tption may, to the extent it is a non-statutetyck option, in connection with the Optiongeeistate plan, |
assigned in whole or in part during the during Opie’s lifetime either as (i) as a gift to one asrenmembers of Optioneeimmediate family, to a trust in whi
Optionee and/or one or more such family memberd huaire than fifty percent (50%) of the beneficigkrest or an entity in which more than fifty percé&0%) of th
voting interests are owned by Optionee and/or armaare such family members, or (ii) pursuant tooandstic relations order. The assigned portion diekxercisab
only by the person or persons who acquire a prigggienterest in the option pursuant to such assimt. The terms applicable to the assigned posdfiall be the san
as those in effect for this option immediately ptiw such assignment and shall be set forth in slecluments issued to the assignee as the Plan Astraior may dee
appropriate.




4. Exercisability . This option shall become exercisable for the OmtibGhares in installments as is specified in thenGNotice. As the optic
becomes exercisable for one or more installmehesjristallments shall accumulate and the optiotl sh@ain exercisable for the accumulated instafitaeuntil the
Expiration Date or the sooner termination of théapterm under this Agreement.

5. Acceleration; Termination . The option term specified in Paragraph 2 shall teate (and this option shall cease to be exer@3giior to th:
Expiration Date should one of the following prowiss become applicable:

(i) Except to the extent otherwise provided in subpanziys (ii) through (v) below, should optionee cefmseemain in Service at any til
during the option term, then the period for exéngjghis option shall be reduced to a threern@®pnth period commencing with the date of such dessai
Service, but in no event shall this option be eisaefile at any time after the Expiration Date. Ugloa expiration of such three (3) month period beérlier,
upon the Expiration Date, this option shall ternenand cease to be outstanding. However, shoult@g die during the three (8)enth period following hi
or her cessation of Service, the personal repraseatof the Optioneeg’ estate or the person or persons to whom thi®myisi transferred pursuant to
Optionee’s will or in accordance with the laws ekdent or distribution shall have a twelve (12)-thgreriod following the date of the Optionseleath durin
which to exercise this Option.

(i) Should Optionee, after completing five (5) full ygaf Service, die while in Service, then the ebsadoility of each of his or h
outstanding options shall automatically accelesat¢hat each such option shall become fully exabtéswith respect to the total number of Optionbdr8s ¢
the time subject to such option and may be exatdiseall or any portion of such shares. The peatoepresentative of the Optioneestate or the person
persons to whom this option is transferred purst@nbe Optionee’s will or in accordance with tlevé of descent and distribution shall have a twéhg-
month period following the date of the Optioreedeath during which to exercise this option, buté event shall this option be exercisable attamg after th
Expiration Date.

(iii) Should Optionee die while in Service prior to coetjplg five (5) full years of Service, then the perifor which each outstanding ves
option held by the Optionee at the time of deatlldie exercisable by the Optioneestate or the person or persons to whom therojgtimansferred pursue
to the Optionee’s will shall be limited to the twel(12)-month period following the date of the @p&e5s death, but in no event shall this option be agabde
at any time after the Expiration Date.

(iv) Should Optionee become permanently disabled (asedein Section 22(e)(3) of the Internal Revenueé&and cease by reason there
remain in Service at any time during the optiomtethen the period for exercising this option shallreduced to a twelve (18)enth period commencing w
the date of such cessation of Service, but in remeshall this option be exercisable at any timerghe Expiration Date. Upon the expiration oftstwelve
(12)-month period or (if earlier) upon the ExpicatiDate, this option shall terminate and ceasetoutstanding.




(v) Should (A) the OptioneeService be terminated for misconduct (includimg, not limited to, any act of dishonesty, willfuisconduc
fraud or embezzlement) or (B) the Optionee makewarauthorized use or disclosure of confidentiabinfation or trade secrets of the Company or itenqtao
subsidiary corporations, then in any such evestdption (vested and unvested) shall terminate idiaely and cease to be exercisable.

(vi) During the limited period of exercisability applila in accordance with subparagraphs (i) through gbove, this option may not
exercised for more than the number of the OpticBledres (if any) for which this option is, at theagi of the Optionee’ cessation of Service, exercisabl
accordance with the exercise provisions specifietthis Agreement and the Grant Notice.

(vii) For purposes of this Paragrapm8 #or all other purposes under this AgreementfaHewing definitional provisions shall be in etfe

A. The Optionee shall be deemed to remain in Serfac so long as the Optionee continues to rendeogic services to the Company or
parent or subsidiary corporation, whether as anl&yeg, a non-employee member of the Company’s BoBBirectors or an independent consultant or aavis

B. The Optionee shall be deemed to be an Emplogdet@ continue in the Comparsyemploy for so long as the Optionee remains il
employ of the Company or one or more of its pamnsubsidiary corporations, subject to the consmd direction of the employer entity as to both werk to be
performed and the manner and method of performance.

C. A corporation shall be considered to be a sudagiccorporation of the Company if it is a membéra unbroken chain of corporatic
beginning with the Company, provided each suchaaton in the chain (other than the last corporgtiowns, at the time of determination, stock pssisg 50%
more of the total combined voting power of all skas of stock in one of the other corporations ohsthain.

D. A corporation shall be considered to be a pacemporation of the Company if it is a member of labroken chain ending with t
Company, provided each such corporation in thencf@ther than the Company) owns, at the time oémeination, stock possessing 50% or more of the tmtmbine:
voting power of all classes of stock in one of ¢ifeer corporations in such chain.

6. Corporate Transaction .

(a) In the event of one or more of the followingrsactions (a “Corporate Transaction”):

(i) a merger or consolidation in which the Compasynot the surviving entity, except for a transactibe principal purpose of which is
change the State of the Company’s incorporation,

(ii) the sale, transfer or other disposition ofa@llsubstantially all of the assets of the Comparliguidation or dissolution of the Company, or




(iii) any reverse merger in which the Company is surviving entity but in which securities possegsinore than fifty percent (50%) of -
total combined voting power of the Companygutstanding securities are transferred to holdéferent from those who held such securities irdiately prior to suc
merger,

then the exercisability of this option (if outstamglat the time) shall automatically acceleratéhst such option shall, immediately prior to thedfied effective date fi
the Corporate Transaction, become fully exercistdiall of the Optioned Shares and may be exeddiseall or any portion of such shares. No suatetaration of thi
option, however, shall occur if and to the extéitthe option is, in connection with the Corpordi@nsaction, either to be assumed by the successporation ¢
parent thereof or be replaced with a comparabl®wopb purchase shares of the capital stock ofstiezessor corporation or parent thereof or (ii)dpgon is to b
replaced by a comparable cash incentive progratheofuccessor corporation based on the option diftea excess of the fair market value of the shafeCommo
Stock at the time subject to the option over théiddpPrice payable for such shares) at the timén@fCorporate Transaction. The determination of gamewbility unde
clause (i) or (ii) of the preceding sentence sbalmade by the Plan Administrator and its detertiinashall be final, binding and conclusive.

(b) This option, to the extent not previously exsed, shall terminate upon the consummation ofbporate Transaction and cease to be exerci
unless it is expressly assumed by the successppradion or parent thereof. The Plan Administragball have complete discretion to provide, on sterims an
conditions as it sees fit, for a cash payment tanbde to Optionee on account of such terminatiathiefoption, in an amount equal to the excesar(yf) of (A) the Fa
Market Value (as defined below) of the Optionedr8haubject to this option as of the date of thep@ate Transaction, over (B) the Option Pricesiach shares.

(c) In the event of a Change in Control (as defimethe Plan), the exercisability of this optiohdutstanding at the time) shall automatically e
so that such option shall, immediately prior to specified effective date for the Change in Contoelcome fully exercisable for all of the Optior&ldares and may
exercised for all or any portion of such shares.

(d) This Agreement shall not in any way affect tight of the Company to adjust, reclassify, reoigaror otherwise make changes in its capit
business structure or to merge, consolidate, dissbtjuidate or sell or transfer all or any pdrite business or assets.

7. Adjustment in Optioned Shares.

(a) In the event any change is made to the ComniookSssuable under the Plan by reason of any ssptik stock dividend, recapitalizatic
combination of shares, exchange of shares, or athange affecting the outstanding Common Stock atass without receipt of consideration, then appate
adjustments shall be made to (i) the total numbefa class of Optioned Shares subject to thisoapdind (ii) the Option Price payable per shareriteoto reflect suc
change and thereby preclude a dilution or enlargéwiebenefits hereunder.




(b) If this option is to be assumed or is othervitseemain outstanding after a Corporate Transagctieen this option shall be appropriately adjust
apply and pertain to the number and class of sgsishich would have been issuable to the Optiomélee consummation of such Corporate Transadtazhthe optio
been exercised immediately prior to such Corpofasmnsaction, and appropriate adjustments shall lsésmade to the Option Price payable per shareidedthe
aggregate Option Price payable hereunder shalliretim@ same.

8. Privilege of Stock Ownership. The holder of this option shall not have any shalder rights with respect to the Optioned Shargg suct
individual shall have exercised the option and pa&Option Price.

9. Manner of Exercising Option.

(a) In order to exercise this option with respecall or any part of the Optioned Shares for whidk option is at the time exercisable, Optioneeirf
the case of exercise after Optionee’s death, th@®@ge’s executor, administrator, heir or legateethe case may be) must take the following actions

(i) Provide the Plan Administrator (or its designedth written notice of the option exercise (tHexércise Notice”specifying the number
Optioned Shares for which the option is being esert

(ii) Pay the aggregate Option Price for the puredashares in one of the following alternative farms
1. full payment in cash or check payable to the gamy’s order; or

2. full payment in shares of Common Stock held Ipti@hee for the requisite period necessary to agodtharge to the Compay’
reported earnings and valued at Fair Market Valuéhe Exercise Date; or

3. full payment in a combination of shares of Comnftock held for the requisite period necessaravoid a charge to tl
Company'’s earnings and valued at Fair Market Valu¢he Exercise Date and cash or check drawn tGd¢mepany’s order; or

4. If the Companys outstanding Common Stock is registered undeid@®et®(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 193lamende
(the “1934 Act”), at the time this option is exeil, then payment of the Option Price may alsoffeeted through a broketealer sale and remittar
procedure pursuant to which Optionee (i) shall mevirrevocable written instructions to a desigdabeokerage firm to effect the immediate sale @
purchased shares and remit to the Company, obedfadle proceeds available on the settlement slaffegient funds to cover the aggregate Optiondpayabl
for the purchased shares plus all applicable Fédadstate income and employment taxes requirde twithheld by the Company by reason of such @ast
and (ii) shall provide written directives to ther@pany to deliver the certificates for the purchasieares directly to such brokerage firm in ordezdmplete th
sale.




(i) Furnish to the Company appropriate documeatathat the person or persons exercising the otfmther than Optionee) have the ri
to exercise this option.

(b) For purposes of subparagraph (a) above andlffather valuation purposes under this Agreemtm,Fair Market Value per share of Comr
Stock on any relevant date shall be determineddnralance with the following provisions:

(i) If the Common Stock is not at the time listedadmitted to trading on any national securitieshexge but is traded in the over-tminte
market, the Fair Market Value shall be the meamwéen the highest bid and lowest asked prices f(sudh information is available, the closing sejliprice
per share of Common Stock on the date in questicthe over-thesounter market, as such prices are reported bil#tienal Association of Securities Dea
through the Nasdaq system or any successor sytdmre are no reported bid and asked prices|{mirg selling price) for the Common Stock on tlaedir
question, then the mean between the highest bie jamnd lowest asked price (or the closing sellingep on the last preceding date for which suchtafimn:
exist shall be determinative of Fair Market Value.

(ii) If the Common Stock is at the time listed ainaitted to trading on any national securities ergjea then the Fair Market Value shall be
closing sellingprice per share of Common Stock on the date intguesn the securities exchange determined by the Rdministrator to be the prime
market for the Common Stock, as such price is iafficquoted in the composite tape of transactionsuch exchange. If there is no reported saleoofir@or
Stock on such exchange on the date in question,titeeFair Market Value shall be the closing sgliimice on the exchange on the last precedingfdatehich
such quotation exists.

(iii) If the Common Stock is on the date in questiteither listed or admitted to trading on any ktegchange nor traded in the over-the-
counter market, then the fair market value shaldégrmined by the Plan Administrator after takinip account such factors as the Plan Administrata
deem appropriate.

(c) The Exercise Date shall be the date on whiehBxkercise Notice is delivered to the Plan Admiaistr. Except to the extent the sale and remiti
procedure specified above is utilized for the eiserof the option, payment of the Option Pricetfar purchased shares must accompany such notice.

(d) As soon as practical after the Exercise Déte,Gompany shall issue to or on behalf of Optigeeether person or persons exercising this of
the Purchased Options Shares via electronic meahsaugh delivery of a certificate or certificatepresenting the purchased Optioned Shares.




(e) In no event may this option be exercised fgr famctional share.

10. Compliance with Laws and Regulations

(a) The exercise of this option (or of its tandeotk appreciation right) and the issuance of Com&tmreck hereunder shall be subject to compliant
the Company and the Optionee with all applicablpirements of law relating thereto and with all liggble regulations of any stock exchange or other-t
counter market on which shares of the Company’si@omStock may be listed or traded at the time ohsxercise and issuance.

(b) In connection with the exercise of this opti@n its tandem stock appreciation right), Optiorséall execute and deliver to the Company
representations in writing as may be requestedi&®yCompany in order for it to comply with the appble requirements of federal and state secutities.

11. Successors and AssignsEExcept to the extent otherwise provided in Pardgi&pr 6, the provisions of this Agreement shalréto the benefit ¢
and be binding upon, the successors, administratens, legal representatives and assigns of Ogti@nd the successors and assigns of the Company.

12. Liability of Company .

A. If the Optioned Shares covered by this Agreemented, as of the Grant Date, the number of shar&oafmon Stock which may withc
shareholder approval be issued under the Plan,tthewoption shall be void with respect to suchesscshares unless shareholder approval of an areehdofficientl
increasing the number of shares of Common Stociaide under the Plan is obtained in accordancetitlprovisions of the Plan.

B. The inability of the Company to obtain approvalnfrany regulatory body having authority deemed ley@ompany to be necessary to the la
issuance and sale of any Common Stock pursuahigcAgreement shall relieve the Company of anyilitgbwith respect to the norssuance or sale of the Comn
Stock as to which such approval shall not have loé¢ained. The Company, however, shall use its dfémstts to obtain all such approvals.

13. No Employment or Service Contract. Nothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shall @nipon the Optionee any right to continue in thevige
of the Company (or any parent or subsidiary coriameof the Company employing or retaining Optionfee any period of time or interfere with or othése restrict il
any way the rights of the Company (or any parergulisidiary corporation of the Company employingetaining Optionee) or the Optionee, which righits hereb
expressly reserved by each, to terminate the OgisrService at any time for any reason whatsoevithr,or without cause.




14. Notices. Any notice required to be given or delivered to @@mpany under the terms of this Agreement shalhberiting and addressed to
Company in care of the Corporate Secretary atiteipal corporate offices. Any notice requiredo® given or delivered to Optionee shall be in wgtand addressed
Optionee at the address indicated below Optiansignature line on the Grant Notice. All notickalsbe deemed to have been given or delivered pposonal delivel
or upon deposit in the U.S. mail, postage prepa@dmoperly addressed to the party to be notified

15. Construction . This Agreement and the option evidenced herebyrerge and granted pursuant to the Plan and aré iesplects limited by ai
subject to the express terms and provisions ofPflam. All decisions of the Plan Administrator witkspect to any question or issue arising underPthe or thi
Agreement shall be conclusive and binding on atb@es having an interest in this option.

16. Governing Law. The interpretation, performance, and enforcemerthisf Agreement shall be governed by the laws ef $ttiate of Delawa
without resort to that State’s conflict-of-lawsesl

17. Additional Terms Applicable to an Incentive Stock Qption . In the event this option is designated as an imeestock option in the Grant Noti
the following terms and conditions shall also applyhe grant:

A. This option shall cease to qualify for favorable teeatment as an incentive stock option undefeéleral tax laws if (and to the extent) this op
is exercised for one or more Optioned Shares: @)enthan three (3) months after the date the Opéiareases to be an Employee for any reason otlerdiath ¢
permanent disability (as defined in Paragraph Fjijomore than one (1) year after the date thed@ee ceases to be an Employee by reason of peningisability.

B. No installment under this option (whether annuain@nthly) shall qualify for favorable tax treatmexst an incentive stock option under the Fe:
tax laws if (and to the extent) the aggregate rfaarket value (determined at the Grant Date) of@Gbemmon Stock for which such installment first beesnexercisab
hereunder will, when added to the aggregate fanketavalue (determined as of the respective datates of grant) of any earlier installments of @uon Stock fo
which this option or one or more other incentivecktoptions granted to the Optionee prior to thanBDate (whether under the Plan or any other ogilan of th
Company or any Parent or Subsidiary corporatioins) become exercisable during the same calenda, ygceed One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,i000)e
aggregate.

C. Should the exercisability of this option be accafed upon a Corporate Transaction or a Change mir@pthen this option shall quality 1
favorable tax treatment as an incentive stock optinder the Federal tax laws onIy to the extentatigregate Fair Market Value (determined at thenGiate) of th
Common Stock for which this option first becomesreisable in the calendar year in which the Congofaansaction or Change in Control occurs doeswinén adde
to the aggregate Fair Market Value (determinedfabeorespective date or dates of grant) of anjiezanstallments of Common Stock for which thistiop or one ¢
more other incentive stock options granted to tiptidBee prior to the Grant Date (whether underRken or any other option plan of the Company or Bayent c
Subsidiary corporations) first become exercisabigng the same calendar year, exceed One Hundredsa@hd Dollars ($100,000) in the aggregate.




D. To the extent this option should fail to qualify &s incentive stock option under the Federal tass]ahe Optionee will recognize compense
income in connection with the acquisition of onenwore Optioned Shares hereunder, and the Optiones¢ make appropriate arrangements for the satisfaof all
Federal, State or local income tax withholding iegraents and Federal social security employeedguirements applicable to such compensation income.

18. Additional Terms Applicable to a Non-Statutory Stock Option . In the event this option is designated as a statitory stock option in the Gri
Notice, Optionee hereby agrees to make appropaiatengements with the Company or parent or subgidiarporation employing Optionee for the satisfatiof any
federal, state or local income tax withholding riegments and federal social security employeeéaxirements applicable to the exercise of thisoopti

19. Restrictions on Optioned Shares The Company may impose such restrictions, conditionlimitations as it determines appropriate asht
timing and manner of any resales by Optionee oeroslnbsequent transfers by Optionee of any Opti@fedes, including without limitation (a) restr@ts under &
insider trading policy, (b) restrictions designedielay and/or coordinate the timing and mannesatés by Optionee and other optionees and (c)atstis as to the u
of a specified brokerage firm for such resalestbeotransfers.

20. Conflict with Plan . In the event of a conflict between the terms amld®ns of this Agreement and the Plan, the Ptamtrols.
21. Electronic Delivery . Optionee hereby consents to the delivery of infarmma(including, without limitation, information qeiired to be delivered

Recipient pursuant to applicable securities lavegjarding the Company and its subsidiaries andiaéd, the Plan, and the option via Company web aitothe
electronic delivery.

22. Headings. The headings preceding the text of the sectiensdi are inserted solely for convenience of refeee and shall not constitute a pai
this Agreement, nor shall they affect its meanoanstruction or effect.







Exhibit 10.8
BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

NOTICE OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD

Notice is hereby given that BioCryst Pharmaceusiciac. (the‘Company”) has selected you to receive an awargstficted stock units with respect to the Company’
Common Stock (such award referred to herein asRB&Js” or “Award”) as described below and grantedgmant to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Stockntive
Plan (the “Plan”) and the accompanying RestrictediSUnit Agreement (the “Agreement”):

Name of Recipient:
Number of shares with respect

which RSUs awarded:

Grant Date:

Vesting: 25% Per Year from Date of Grant

Recipient understands that the Award is grantegestito and in accordance with the express terrdscanditions of the Plan and agrees to be bourehlyconform to
the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Plangemss, this Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Awaadd the accompanying Agreement. Recipient ackriyele that
copies of the Plan, the Plan Prospectus, and theefgent have been made available to Recipient.

Nothing in this Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Awlathe accompanying Agreement, or the Plan sballer upon the Recipient the right to continuehia $ervice o
employment of the Company for any period of spedfiration or otherwise restrict in any way théntsgof the Company or the Recipient, which righestzereby
expressly reserved by each, to terminate Recigieet'vice or employment at any time for any reagloaitsoever, with or without cause.

By my signature below, | hereby acknowledge receiihe Award granted to me on the Grant Date $igelcabove and issued to me pursuant to the temigandition:
of the Plan and the attached Agreement.

Agreed and Accepted: BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
By: By:
Recipient
Name:
Address:
Title:

Dated:




BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

WITNESSETH:
RECITALS
A. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Bfahas adopted the Company’s Stock Incentive Rla@ “Plan”)for the purpose of attracting and retair
the services of selected key employees (includffigevs and directors), noemployee Board members and consultants and ottiep@mdent contractors who contrik
to the financial success of the Company or itstaoe subsidiary corporations.

B. Recipient is an individual who has rendered Bnitd render valuable services to the Companysopdrent or subsidiary corporations, and this Amesd i
executed pursuant to, and is intended to carryheupurposes of, the Plan in connection with then@any’s grant of the Restricted Stock Unit AwardRicipient.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows:

The terms and conditions of the Award of restricteztk units with respect to Common Stock of thenPany (the “RSUs”) made to the Recipient, as sgi fo
in the accompanying Notice of Restricted Stock Wmitard (the* Award Noticé) , are as follows:

1. Issuance of RSUs

(@) The RSUs are hereby grantedissukd to the Recipient, effective as of the GEate set forth in the accompanying Award Notice, i
consideration of the employment services rendened@be rendered by the Recipient to the Compamgcordance with Article Three of the Plan. Ea8lURepresen
the right to receive one share of Common Stockjestibo the terms and conditions hereof. This Awianthade subject to and awarded upon the termsamditions set
forth in this Agreement and the Plan.

(b) As promptly as practicable feliag the vesting of the RSUs pursuant to Secti¢an@ in all events no later than March 15 of tharye
following the year of vesting (unless earlier detiyis required by Section 409A of the Code ondslj is deferred pursuant to a nonqualified detkoempensation pl:
in accordance with the requirements of Section 46Bthe Code)), the Company shall issue one or roeréficates in the name of the Recipient for tlienber of share
of Common Stock that have vested.

(c) The Recipient agrees that the RSUIs shall be sutgjehe forfeiture provisions set forth in Sect®of this Agreement and the restrictic
on transfer set forth in Section 4 of this Agreetmen

2. General Vesting Terms; Lapgh&Restrictions




@) Vesting Schedul8ubject to Recipient’s continuous employment witlservice to the Company from the Grant Dateuthhoeach
applicable Vesting Date, the RSUs shall vest anlbnger be subject to forfeiture with respect temiy-five percent (25%) of the RSUs on each offitisé four (4)
anniversaries of the Grant Date (each such anrimees“Vesting Date”).

(b) Acceleration of Vestindgxcept as provided in the case of certain “Caafeof ransactions” specified in Section 2(c) belowtberwise
expressly provided in this Agreement, any accetamaif vesting with respect to the RSUs shall b&tkd to such provisions of the Plan.

(c) Accelerated Vesting Upon Cosgier Transactions In the event of one or more of the following saations ( each aCorporat

Transaction”):

(1) a merger or consolidation in which the Compayat the surviving entity, except for a transattioe principal purpose of which is
change the State of the Company’s incorporation,

(2) the sale, transfer or other disposition obalsubstantially all of the assets of the Companijguidation or dissolution of the Company, or

(3) any reverse merger in which the Company isstiwiving entity but in which securities possessingre than fifty percent (50%) of t
total combined voting power of the Compasygutstanding securities are transferred to holdifarent from those who held such securities irdiately prior to suc
merger,

the unvested RSUs shall vest in full and no longersubject to forfeiture immediately prior to theesified effective date for the Corporate TransectiNo suc
accelerated vesting, however, shall occur if antheoextent: (i) the Award is, in connection wittetCorporate Transaction, either to be assumeddysiliccess
corporation or parent thereof or be replaced witomparable award of restricted shares of the aagibck of the successor corporation or parenetfeor (ii) the
Award is to be replaced by a comparable cash ineptogram of the successor corporation baseth@ifeir market value of the shares of Common Sswidfect to th
RSUs at the time of the Corporate Transaction. @éermination of comparability under clauses (i)(idr of the preceding sentence shall be made ey Rhai
Administrator and its determination shall be fir@ihding and conclusive. Furthermore, in the exd#ra Change in Control (as defined in the Plarg, RSUs shall ve
and no longer be subject to forfeiture immediapaipr to the specified effective date of such CraimgControl. This Agreement shall not in any wéfget the right o
the Company to adjust, reclassify, reorganize bemtise make changes in its capital or businesstsite or to merge, consolidate, dissolve, liqedaell or transfer ¢
or any part of its business or assets.




(d) Continuous Employment and SexviEor purposes of this Agreement, Recipient shalliéemed to remain in continuous service witl
Company for so long as the Recipient continuestaer periodic services to the Company or any paresubsidiary corporation, whether as an emplpgeson-
employee member of the Company’s Board of Directoran independent consultant or advisor. The Remishall be deemed to be an “employaeti to continue |
the Companys employ for so long as Recipient remains in th@leynof the Company or one or more of its parensuvsidiary corporations subject to the control
direction of the employer entity as to both the kvtr be performed and the manner and method obpeénce. For purposes of this Agreement, a corpporahall b
considered to be a subsidiary corporation of then@amy if it is a member of an unbroken chain ofpooations beginning with the Company, provided esictt
corporation in the chain (other than the last ctapon) owns, at the time of determination, stodsgessing 50% or more of the total combined vopoger of al
classes of stock in one of the other corporatiarsich chain. Similarly, for purposes of this Agneat, a corporation shall be considered to be enpaorporation of tt
Company if it is @ member of an unbroken chain egdvith the Company, provided each such corporatiaihe chain (other than the Company) owns, atithe o
determination, stock possessing 50% or more ofdtat combined voting power of all classes of stockne of the other corporations in such chain.

3. Forfeiture of Unvested RSUsb e mployment Termination

In the event that the Recipient ceases to be aomiisly employed by or continuously in service ® @ompany for any reason or no reason, with oromith
cause, except as otherwise expressly provideddtidBe2 above, all of the RSUs that are unvesteaf &se time of such employment termination shelférfeited
immediately and automatically to the Company andheres of Common Stock shall be issued with réspereto, without the payment of any consideratmthe
Recipient, effective as of such termination of emgptent or separation from service. The Recipieat! $tave no further rights with respect to any R$tig are so
forfeited. If the Recipient is employed by a suleig of the Company, any references in this Agregrn®employment with the Company shall insteadi®emed to
refer to employment with such subsidiary.

4, Restrictions on Transfer

The Recipient shall not sell, assign, transferdgée hypothecate or otherwise dispose of, by ojperaf law or otherwise (collectively “transfer’yg RSUs, or
any interest therein (but may transfer Common S#dtge its issuance pursuant to Section 1(b) abdveiwithstanding the foregoing to the extent pétexi by
applicable law, the RSUs may be assigned in whiopgad during the Recipient’s lifetime pursuanatdomestic relations order; provided, howetkeat such RSUs shall
in all cases remain subject to this Agreement (idiclg, without limitation, the forfeiture provisierset forth in Section 3 and the restrictions angfer set forth in this
Section 4) and such permitted transferee sha#l, @dition to such transfer, deliver to the Conypamvritten instrument confirming that such tramséeshall be bound
by all of the terms and conditions of this Agreemd@ine Company shall not be required: (i) to transin its books any of the RSUs (or issue shar€oafmon Stock
with respect thereto) which have been transfemedadlation of any of the provisions of this Agreemt or (i) to treat as owner of such RSUs to aapgferee to whom
such RSUs have been transferred in violation ofadrifze provisions of this Agreement.

5. Rights as a Shareholder




The Recipient shall have no rights as a shareheliterrespect to the RSUs until such times as shaf€ommon Stock are issued in settlement thereof;
provided, however, that if any dividends and dittions with respect to the shares of Common Stoclerlying the RSUs are paid in cash or sharespusist of a
dividend or distribution to holders of Common Statker than an ordinary cash dividend, the shageesh or other property will be credited to a naticaccount on
behalf of the Recipient subject to the same rdgiris on transferability and forfeitability as tredated RSUs.

6. Tax Matters

(&) Acknowledgment3he Recipient acknowledges that Recipient isaesible for obtaining the advice of the Recipieltegn tax advisors
with respect to the acquisition and vesting of R8s and that Recipient is relying solely on sutVisors and not on any statements or represensatibtihe Company
or any of its agents with respect to the tax consages relating to the RSUs. The Recipient undaistthat the Recipient (and not the Company) $leatesponsible fc
any and all of Recipient’s tax liabilities that magse in connection with the acquisition, vestmgl/or settlement of the RSUs.

(b) Withholding Unless the Plan Administrator expressly authartherwise, the Recipient shall satisfy all tathiwolding obligations
arising in connection with the vesting of RSUs lyoanatically having withheld or otherwise transiiegrto the Company, effective as of each VestingePsuch numb
of shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUswubsat on such Vesting Date as have a fair markefev@alculated in accordance with the Plan) equti¢ amount
of the applicable tax withholding obligations ime@ction with the vesting and settlement of suci® S he Recipient further acknowledges and agitesshe
Company has the right to deduct from payments pfkémd otherwise due to the Recipient any otheefal state, local or other taxes of any kind regfiby law to be
withheld with respect to the vesting and settlenoéthe RSUs in the event the withholding of shaeS§ommon Stock authorized above is insufficiensatisfy all tax
withholding obligations. If requested by the Plagir#inistrator, the Recipient agrees to satisfy gaghwithholding obligations by making a cash paytrerthe
Company on the date of vesting of the RSUs, in sumbunt as the Company determines is necessaayisfysts withholding obligations in connectionttvithe vesting
and settlement of such RSUs.

7. Miscellaneous.
(@) Authority of the Plan Adminstor. In making any decisions or taking any actiondwiéspect to the matters covered by this Agreement,

the Plan Administrator shall have full authoritydadiscretion, and shall be subject to all of thetgetions provided for in the Plan. All decisiomslactions by the Plan
Administrator with respect to this Agreement sl@lmade in the Plan Administrator’s sole discretiod shall be final and binding on all.




(b) No Employment or Service Contrathe Recipient acknowledges and agrees that, tisti@nding the fact that vesting and settlement of
the RSUs is contingent upon Recipient’s continuagleyment with, or service to, the Company, thisement does not constitute an express or impliechige of
continued employment or service and nothing hesein the Plan shall confer upon the Recipient aglyts to continue in the employment or servicéhef Company (c
any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Compamyploying or retaining Recipient) for any periddime or interfere with or otherwise restrict inyaway the rights
of the Company (or any parent or subsidiary cormmeof the Company employing or retaining Recipjenr Recipient, which rights are hereby expressserved by
each, to terminate Recipient’s service or employraéany time for any reason whatsoever, with dheut cause.

(c) NoticesAny notice required to be given or deliveredite Company under the terms of this Agreement bleaith writing and addressed
to the Company in care of the Corporate Secretaitg principal corporate offices. Any notice reqd to be given or delivered to Recipient shalirberiting and
addressed to the Recipient at the address indibated Recipient’s signature line of the Award Netor such address as Recipient may provide fo€tdmpany to
keep on file as updated from time to time. All oes shall be deemed to have been given or delivgred personal delivery or upon deposit in the UM8il, postage
prepaid and properly addressed to the party tootifed.

(d) Construction; AmendmentThe Recipient acknowledges that Recipient had tks Agreement, has received and read the Prai
understands the terms and conditions of this Ageserand the Plan. This Agreement and the RSUs esdkhereby are made and granted pursuant to dneaRH ar
in all respects limited by and subject to the egprierms and provisions of the Plan. All decisiohthe Plan Administrator with respect to any qiggsbr issue arisir
under the Plan or this Agreement shall be conatuaivd binding on all persons having or claimingraerest in the RSUs. This Agreement may only berashad by
writing executed by the parties hereto expresahyiging for amendment of this Agreement except thatPlan Administrator may unilaterally make anreedts that d
not adversely affect Recipient’s rights hereundewiged timely notice of such amendments is prodiBecipient.

(e) Successors and Assigixcept to the extent otherwise expressly provideckin, the provisions of this Agreement shallrénto the
benefit of, and be binding upon, the successomjrastrators, heirs, legal representatives andjassif Recipient and the successors and assighs @ompany.

® Liability of the Company If the RSUs exceed, as of the Grant Date, thebeunof shares of Common Stock which may witl
shareholder approval be issued under the Plan titfieAward shall be void with respect to such escghares unless shareholder approval of an amenhduoféciently
increasing the number of shares of Common Stociaids under the Plan is obtained in accordance tétprovisions of this Plan and all applicabledawhe inabilit
of the Company to obtain approval from any regulatiody having authority deemed by the Companyemécessary to the lawful issuance and sale ofCamymor
Stock pursuant to this Agreement shall relieveGbenpany of any liability with respect to the nissuance or sale of the Common Stock as to which approval she
not have been obtained. The Company, however, sbalits best efforts to obtain all such approvals.

Compliance with Laws and Redolag . The award of RSUs hereunder and the settlemenédh is subject to compliance by
Company and Recipient with all applicable requirataef law relating thereto and all applicable dagjans of any stock exchange or over-twemter market on whi
such shares may be listed or traded at the timsudh exercise and issuance. In connection withsétdement of RSUs, Recipient shall execute anivefeto the
Company such representations in writing as mayebeeasted by the Company in order for it to compithwhe applicable requirements of federal andess&icuritie
laws.




(h) Capitalized Terms/ConflicCapitalized terms not specifically defined herg@ive the meaning specified in the Plan. In thereska
conflict between the terms and conditions of thigsgement and the Plan, the Plan controls.

(i) Electronic DeliveryRecipient hereby consents to the delivery ofrimiation (including, without limitation, informatiorequired to be
delivered to Recipient pursuant to applicable séearlaws) regarding the Company and its subseBaand affiliates, the Plan, and the RSUs via Gomwpveb site or
other electronic delivery.

HeadingsThe headings preceding the text of the sectiensdi are inserted solely for convenience of refezgand shall not constituti
part of this Agreement, nor shall they affect itsaming, construction or effect.

(9] Governing LawThe interpretation, performance, and enforceréthis Agreement shall be governed by the intelaak of the Sta
of Delaware without resort to that state’s confbédaws rules.
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PHARMACEUTICALS INC

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS. INC.
4505 EMPEROR BOULEVARD. SUITE 200

DURHAM, NC 27703
919-859-1302 919-851-1416 FAX

www . biocryst.com

December 30, 2014

Mrs. Lynne Powell
185 Biddulph Road,
Wayne, PA 19087

Dear Mrs, Powell:

On behalf of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“BioCryst” or the
“Company™), we are very excited to offer you the position of Senior Vice President and Chief
Commercial Officer. We, along with the other members of the Company’s Board of Directors
(the “Board”), and the Company’s management team, are all very impressed with you and what
you will bring to the Company. We believe that with your background, you will make significant
contributions to the success of the Company.

This letter agreement (the “Agreement”) will serve to confirm our agreement with respect to
the terms and conditions of your employment.

1. Term of Employment. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, BioCryst
hereby employs Lynne Powell (the “Employee™), effective January 26, 2015, as Senior Vice
President and Chief Commercial Officer of BioCryst, and Employee hereby accepts such
employment. Employee shall commence employment at the Company’s Durham, North Carolina
office. The Employee shall not, during the term of her employment, engage in any other business
activity that would interfere with, or prevent him from carrying out, her duties and responsibilitics
under this Agreement. BioCryst hereby agrees and acknowledges that any compensation which the
Employee receives from participation in such allowable other business activities shall be outside the
scope of this Agreement and in addition to any compensation received hereunder, The term of
employment of Employee under this Agreement shall commence as of January 26, 2015, and shall
terminate on January 26, 2019, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the provisions of
paragraph 5 hereof. In the event Employee is retained by the Company as Senior Vice President and
Chief Commercial Officer past January 26, 2019, the terms of her employment shall continue to be
governed by this Agreement unless otherwise provided by the Board.

At will employment — Employee’s employment with the Company shall be on an at-will basis.
2. Basic Full-Time Compensation and Benefits.

(a) As basic compensation for services rendered under this Agreement, Employee
shall be entitled to receive from BioCryst, a salary of $29,166.66 per month ($350,000 per
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Mrs. Lynne Powell
December 29, 2014

Page 2

annum) payable in bi-monthly payments for each calendar month during the term of this
Agreement, beginning January 26, 2015. This salary will be reviewed annually by the Board
of Directors and may be raised at the discretion of the Board.

(b)  Inaddition to the basic compensation set forth in (a) above, Employee shall be
eligible to earn a cash bonus, payable as soon as reasonably practicable in the calendar year
following each calendar year during the term of this Agreement, based on the Company’s
achievement of performance related goals proposed by management and approved by the
Board for the Company’s applicable fiscal year (the “Fiscal Year”). The bonus actually
earned, if any, shall be based on a target amount equal to 35% of the base compensation
earned by executive during such Fiscal Year (the “Target Amount™), and shall be pro-rated
based on the degree to which the performance goals have been achieved, subject to a
minimum level of achievement proposed by management and approved by the Board. The
Target Amount for the 2015 Fiscal Year shall be prorated based on Employee’s base
compensation earned during 2015. The Board may, in its discretion, approve a bonus in
excess of the Target Amount if the performance goals have been exceeded. Employee must
be employed through April 1, of the next succeeding Fiscal Year in order to receive the
annual bonus for each Fiscal Year.

(c) In addition to the basic compensation and cash bonus set forth in (a) and (b)
above, Employee shall be entitled to receive such other benefits and perquisites provided to
other executive officers of BioCryst which benefits may include, without limitation,
reasonable vacation (currently 4 weeks), sick leave, medical benefits, life insurance, and
participation in profit sharing or retirement plans.

(d) In addition to the compensation, cash bonus and benefits set forth in
paragraphs 2(a), (b) and (¢) above, the Board of Directors of BioCryst may from time to time,
in its discretion, also grant such other cash or stock bonuses to the Employee either as an
award or as an incentive as it shall deem desirable or appropriate.

Initial Equity Awards. In connection with Employee’s execution of this Agreement,
Employee shall be issued initial equity incentive awards as follows:

(a) The Company shall grant to Employee an option to purchase 190,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock (“Common Stock™), with an exercise price equal to the fair
market value of the Common Stock on the date of the grant, which option shall vest and
become exercisable in accordance with paragraphs 3(b) below. The option will be an
“Iincentive stock option™ up to the maximum number of shares that may be covered under an
incentive stock option pursuant to the tax code.

(b) The award set forth in paragraph 3(a) above will vest, contingent on
Employee’s continued provision of services to the Company on each respective vesting date,
over a period of 4 years as follows: The Option will initially become exercisable for 25% of
the Optioned Shares upon Employee’s completion of twelve (12) months of Service (as
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defined in the Standard Stock Option Agreement) measured from the Grant Date and will
become exercisable for the balance of the Optioned Shares at the rate of 25% of the Optioned
Shares upon Employee’s completion of each additional year of Service measured from the
first anniversary of the Grant Date for the following three years until fully vested on the
fourth anniversary of the grant.

(¢) The Company shall grant to Employee 10,000 restricted shares of the Company’s
Common Stock, as described and granted pursuant to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
Stock Incentive Plan. Subject to Employee’s continuous employment with or service to the
Company from the date of grant thru the Vesting Date (12 months from date of hire), the
transfer restrictions on the restricted shares shall lapse and the restricted shares shall vest and
no longer be subject to forfeiture.

(d)  The Company shall grant to Employee an additional 100,000 performance
based shares of the Company’s common stock (“Common Stock™), with an exercise price
equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of the grant, which option
shall vest and become exercisable in accordance with paragraph 3(e) below. The applicable
performance goals and subsequent vesting terms for these performance based shares are
listed in Exhibit A of this agreement.

(e) The stock option awards set forth in paragraph 3(a, ¢ & d) above shall be
granted under and subject to the terms of the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Stock Incentive
Plan (the “Stock Incentive Plan™). All awards shall be subject to the terms of specific award
agreements between the Employee and the Company, which Employee will be required to
execute as a condition of the grants.

4. Relocation Assistance. In connection with Employee's execution of this Agreement,
Employee shall be provided with the Executive Homeowner relocation assistance program to
assist with the relocation to the North Caroline office and shall include:

(a) Temporary Housing- Temporary housing will be provided to you for up to
6 months within the North Carolina Triangle area. BioCryst will work with
you to locate suitable temporary housing.

(b)  Household Goods - Arrangements with a moving company of BioCryst's
choice will be made to pack, load and unload your household goods from
her Pennsylvania residence to the North Carolina residence. BioCryst will
also include the cost to ship a maximum of one vehicle to North Carolina.

(c) Final Move - Coach air travel to your new location for you and your
family will be provided to you. Should you drive, reasonable and actual
travel expenses such as lodging, meals and mileage will be reimbursed at
the prevailing IRS rate,

It is agreed that the actual relocation to the North Carolina area will not start or become

effective until the end of the current school year, to allow for your children to complete the full
school year. We expect the relocation process to begin in early June, 2015.
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Termination,

(a) [f Employee’s employment is terminated as a result of (i) the expiration of the
stated term of this Agreement, (ii) the Employee’s resignation, (iii) the Employee’s death,
(iv) by the Company for Cause, or (v) by the Company as a result of Disability, Employee
will receive base salary, as well as any accrued but unused vacation (if applicable) and other
compensation, earned through the effective termination date, and no additional
compensation, except as set forth in Section 4(b) below.

For all purposes under this Agreement, a termination for “Cause™ shall mean a
determination by the Board that Employee’s employment be terminated for any of the
following reasons: (i) failure or refusal to comply in any material respect with lawful
policies, standards or regulations of Company; (ii) a violation of a federal or state law or
regulation applicable to the business of the Company; (iii) conviction or plea of no contest to
a felony under the laws of the United States or any State; (iv) fraud or misappropriation of
property belonging to the Company or its affiliates: (v) a breach in any material respect of the
terms of any confidentiality, invention assignment or proprietary information agreement with
the Company or with a former employer, (vi) failure to satisfactorily perform Employee’s
duties after having received written notice of such failure and at least thirty (30) days to cure
such failure, or (vii) misconduct or gross negligence in connection with the performance of
Employee’s duties.

“Disability” shall mean the inability of Employee to perform her duties hereunder by
reason of physical or mental incapacity for ninety (90) days, whether consecutive or not,
during any consecutive twelve (12) month period.

(b)  If the Company terminates Employee’s employment without Cause, it shall
provide written notice of termination to Employee or Employee’s estate, any base salary and
accrued but unused vacation or other compensation earned through the effective termination
date, and, conditioned on Employee (a) signing and not revoking a release of any and all
claims if Employee is still alive, in a form prescribed by the Company, and (b) the return to
the Company all of its property and confidential information that is in Employee’s
possession, Employee or Employee’s estate will receive the following: (i) continuation of
base salary for 1 year beyond the effective termination date, payable in accordance with the
regular payroll practices of the Company; (ii) payment of Employee’s target bonus in effect
for the fiscal year of termination, payable in equal installments over the regularly scheduled
payroll periods of the Company for the one year following the effective date of termination;
and (iii) if Employee elects to continue health insurance coverage under the Consolidated
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA™) following termination
of employment, the Company shall pay the monthly premium under COBRA until the earlier
of (x) 12 months following the effective termination date, or (y) the date upon which
Employee commences employment with an entity other than the Company that offers health
care coverage. Employee will notify the Company in writing within 5 days of her receipt of
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an offer of employment with any entity other than the Company that offers health care
coverage, and will accordingly identify the date upon which Employee will commence
employment in writing.

(c) If, during Employee’s employment with the Company, there is a Change of
Control, all equity awards granted to Employee under paragraph 3 and otherwise shall vest in
full. In addition, if the Company terminates Employee’s employment without Cause or
Employee is Constructively Terminated within 6 months of the Change in Control, then
Employee will be eligible to receive the benefits provided in paragraph 4(b), under the terms
and conditions set forth in that paragraph.

“Change of Control” shall be defined as (i) a merger or consolidation in which the
Company is not the surviving entity, except for a transaction the principal purpose of which
is to change the State of the Company’s incorporation; (ii) the sale, transfer or other
disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company in liquidation or
dissolution of the Company:; (iii) any reverse merger in which the Company is the surviving
entity but in which securities possessing more than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined
voting power of the Company’s outstanding securities are transferred to a person or persons
different from the persons holding those securities immediately prior to such merger; (iv)
any person or related group of persons (other than the Company or a person that directly or
indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Company) directly
or indirectly acquires beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the 1934
Act) of securities possessing more than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting
power of the Company’s outstanding securities pursuant to a tender or exchange offer made
directly to the Company’s stockholders; or (v) a change in the composition of the Board over
a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive months or less such that a majority of the Board
members (rounded up to the next whole number) ceases, by reason of one or more contested
elections for Board membership, to be comprised of individuals who either (A) have been
Board members continuously since the beginning of such period or (B) have been elected or
nominated for election as Board members during such period by at least two-thirds of the
Board members described in clause (A) who were still in office at the time such election or
nomination was approved by the Board.

“Constructive Termination™ shall mean a resignation of employment within 30 days
of the occurrence of any of the following events which occurs within 6 months following a
Change of Control: (i) a material reduction in Employee’s responsibilities, authority or
position; (ii) a material reduction in either Employee’s base salary, unless such reduction is
comparable in percentage to, and is part of, a reduction in the base salary of all executive
officers of the Company or the failure of the Company to provide benefits that are consistent
with those provided generally to other executive officers of the company; or (iii) a relocation
of Employee’s principal office to a location more than 50 miles from the location of
Employee’s principal office immediately preceding a Change of Control.
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(d) If (i) Employee remains an employee of the Company after the expiration of
the three year term of this Agreement; and (ii) within 6 months thereafter, Employee resigns
as aresult of a material and adverse change in the Company’s business, then Employee shall
be entitled to receive the severance benefits on the terms and conditions specified in
paragraph 4(b) above.

(e) In the event (i) any payments described in paragraphs 4(b), (c) or (d) above
would be “deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”); and (ii) Employee is a “specified employee™ (as defined in
Code Section 409A(2)(B)(i)), such payments shall, to the extent required by Code Section
409A, be delayed for the minimum period and in the minimum manner necessary to avoid
the imposition of the tax required by Code Section 409A.

Non-Competition; Proprietary Information and Inventions.
(a) Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement. As a condition precedent

to the employment of Employee by the Company, Employee shall execute the Company’s
standard Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A.

(b)  Non-Competition Agreement. The Employee agrees that for one (1) year
following the termination of this Agreement by reason of the voluntary termination by the
Employee, without cause on the part of BioCryst, the Employee shall not become the Chief
Commercial Officer or become a key executive of another for-profit business enterprise
whose activities are at such time directly competitive with BioCryst.

(c) Equitable Remedies. Employee acknowledges and recognizes that a violation
of this paragraph by Employee may cause irreparable and substantial damage and harm to
BioCryst or its affiliates, could constitute a failure of consideration, and that money damages
will not provide a full remedy for BioCryst for such violations. Employee agrees that in the
event of his breach of this paragraph, BioCryst will be entitled, if it so elects, to institute and
prosecute proceedings at law or in equity to obtain damages with respect to such breach, to
enforce the specific performance of this paragraph by Employee, and to enjoin Employee
from engaging in any activity in violation hereof.

Miscellaneous.

(a) Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the exhibits hereto, constitutes
the entire agreement between the parties relating to the employment of the Employee by
BioCryst and there are no terms relating to such employment other than those contained in
this Agreement. No modification or variation hereof shall be deemed valid unless in writing
and signed by the parties hereto. No waiver by either party of any provision or condition of
this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at
any time.

#L262579 vi
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(b) Assignability. This Agreement may not be assigned without prior written
consent of the parties hereto. To the extent allowable pursuant (o this Agreement, this
Agreement shail be binding upon and shall inure ro the benefit of each of the parties hereto
and their respective executors, administrators, personal representatives, heirs, successors and
assigns.

(c) Notices. Any notice or other communication given or rendered hereunder by
any party hereto shall be in writing and delivered personally or sent by registered or certified
mail, postage prepaid, at the respective addresses of the parties hereto as set forth below.

(d) Captions. The section headings contained herein are inserted only as a matter
of convenience and reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of this
Agreement or the intent of any provision hereof.

{e) Taxes. All umounts to be paid to Employee hercunder are in the nature of
compensation for Employee's employment by BioCryst, and shall be subject to withholding,
income, occupation and payroll taxes and other charges applicable to such compensation,

() ' Goveming Law. This Agreement is made and shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina withoul respect 1o its
conflicts of law principles.

()  Date. This Agreement is dated as of December 30, 2014,

[fthe foregoing correctly sets forth our understanding, please signify your acceptance of such

lerms by executing this Agreement, thereby signifying your assent, as indicated below.,

Yours very truly,

BIOCRYST P i.ﬁﬁjxle\t.'i%l ITICALS, INC.
h“‘\
|

L
|

Byt ____
JenAtongheting -
g ul_mlétd)'hicr Executive Officer

c¢: Robert Stoner, VP Human Resources

ACCEPTED AWD ACGREED:

Name:

AL\ J / k/(/{ :

Ly I‘Pﬂwﬂil

Date: .nrt?,f{ .: L 2 _Jz}j*/ll

E120257T0 wd






Exhibit 10.42

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMEXNT

This Fifth Amendment to Lease Agreement (this "Amendment") is executed as of the Effective Date (as
hereinafter defined) between Fiverchase Capital. LLC. a Flonida himited liability company. and Stow Riverchase.
LLC. a Florida limited liability company. successors in interest to RBP. LLC, (collectively "Landlord"). and
BioCryst Pharmacenticals. Inc.. (“Tenant™) dated July 13, 2000. and amended May 15, 2001. November 14, 2005,
Auvgust 7. 2007 and March 23. 2012, (collectively the "Lease"). for the Premises commonly known as Suite A of
2190 Parkooray Lake Drive, Biverchase Business Park, Birmingham Afabama, 35244,

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

Landlord and Tenant desire to enter into this Amendment for the purpose extending the Term of the Lease,
and for the purposes set forth herein.

AGREEMENTS:

NOW. THEREFORE. in consideration of these premises and other good and valnable consideration. the recespt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged. Landlord and Tenant hereby agree to amend the Lease as follows:

1. Definitions. Unless otherwise defined herein. all capiralized terms used in this Amendment shall have the
meaning ascribed to them in the Lease.
2 Term. Effective July 1. 2015, the Term of the Lease is hereby extended one (1) year. The Expiration Date
of the Lease is amended to June 30, 2016.
3. Fixed Mnimum Bent Payment.
Dates: Rent:
TS — 6/30/16 £36.034.21
4. Ratification. Tenant hereby ratifies and confirms its obligations under the Lease. and represents and

warrants to Landlord that it has no defenses thereto. Additionally. Tenant further confinms and ratifies
that. as of the date hereof. (a) the Lease is and remains in goed standing and in full force and effect. and
(b) Tenant has no claims. counterclaims. set-offs or defenses agamst Landlord arising out of the Lease or
in any way relating thereto or arising ont of any other transaction between Landlord and Tenant. Except
as may be expressly provided in this Amendment. Tenant shall not have any remewal rights_ termination
options, expansion rights, option rights, rights of first offer or refusal, free-rent periods, tenant improvement
rights or allowances. or other similar rights or concessions, if any. contained in the Lease.

L

Binding Effect: Governing Law. Except as modified hereby, the Lease shall remain in full effect and this
Amendment shall be binding vpon Landlord and Tenant. This Amendment shall be governed by the laws
of the State of Alabama. The "Effective Date" shall be the date the last of Landlord and Tenant signs this
Amendment as evidenced by the date below their respective signatures.

6. Conflict. In the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions of this Amendment and the terms and
conditions of the Lease. this Amendment shall control and prevail

Severability and Invalidity. If any provision of this Amendment, or the application of such provision to
any person of circumstance, shall be held invalid, the remainder of the Amendment, or the application of
such provision to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid, shall not be affected
thereby

Landlord Tenant

Form 82.020118-4/0LA € 2007 Page l of 2 Initials Initials




8. Brokers.
transaction. other than Engel Realty Company.

All other terms and covenants of the original Lease agreement shall remain as contained.

IN WITHESS WHEREQOE. the parties hereto have set their hands and seals as of the Effective Date.

Tenant and Landlord acknowledze that there is no broker, agent or finder invelved in this

“TENANT™

Tenant Name: BioCrvst Pharmacenticals. Inc.

Business Type: Corperation

State of Organization: Delaware

Signature:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:

Signed, sealed and deliverad
in my presence as witness to Tenant:

Witness for Tenant

Signature:

Print Name:

“LANDLORD”

Riverchase Capital. LLC.
a Florida Limited Liability Company

Signature:

Bruce D. Burdge, its Manager

Date:

Stow Riverchase, LLC,
a Flonda Limuted Liabality Comxpany

By: Arcis Fealty, LLC. as ifs aftornev-in-fact

Signature:
Bruce D. Burdge, its President

Date:

Signed. sealed and delivered
i my presence as witness to Landlord

Witness for Tandlord

Signature;

Print Name:

Witness 1 for Landlord

Signatare:

Print Name:

Feern 32.080118.4/0LA £ 2007 Page 2of 2

Landlord
initials

Tenant
Initials.




Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Jurisdiction
of
Subsidiary Incorporation
JPR Royalty Sub LL( Delawar¢




Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference infdllewing Registration Statements:

Registration Statements (Forr-8 Nos. 33-120345, 33-39484 and 3:-30751) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceutidals, 1991 Stock Option Pla
as amended and restated as of March 8, 2

Registration Statement (Fornr-8 No. 33:-90582) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceutidals, Employee Stock Purchase Pl

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-13§ p@Btaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Biock Incentive Plan, which amended and restagd th
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 1991 Stock OpticanRis of May 17, 200!

Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-145638) pertaining to the registration of up t048,D000 shares of common sto

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-145627) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceutidals, Stock Incentive Plan as amended and resgdfective
March 2007 and Employment Letter Agreement dated 2p2007 between BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, &md David McCullough

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-153@84the registration of 3,335,408 shares of BigEPharmaceuticals, Inc. common stock and 3,159,89
warrants to purchase common stock of BioCryst Pheaemticals, Inc.

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-152570) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceutical, Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restdfective
February 28, 2008 and the BioCryst Pharmaceutitras Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amendeckataded effective February 28, 20

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-16]§@0taining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Btock Incentive Plan, as amended and restatedigéfec
March 31, 2010 and the BioCryst Pharmaceuticats, Bmployee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended datkrksffective March 31, 201

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-176096) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceutical, Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restdtective
February 17, 2011

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-1921dr7the registration of up to $125 million of Bloyst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. common stock, preferred
stock, depository shares, stock purchase contraatsants or units

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-187193) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceutidals, Stock Incentive Plan and Employee Stock Pase
Plan, each as amended and restated effective N8;c2012

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-195869) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceutidals, Stock Incentive Plan and Employee Stock Pase
Plan, each as amended and restated effective N3agdi4

of our reports dated March 2, 2015 with respethéoconsolidated financial statements of BioCrysdrfhaceuticals, Inc. and the effectiveness of iatiecontrol over
financial reporting of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals;.limcluded in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) obBiryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the year endecebxer 31,

2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 2, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jon P. Stonehouse, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fBioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to make thenséants
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthsstatements were made, not misleading with respebe period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preskint¢his report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as definétkahange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootrel financial reporting (as defined in Exchangg Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registramil have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedartes designed under our supervision, to ensate th
material information relating to the registranglirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtowus by others within those entities, partidylduring the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under our supervjdion
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réjabilfinancial reporting and the preparation wfancial statements for external purposes in acoure with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the effectivereghe
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étiteeriod covered by this report based on swvekuation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtat occurred during the registrant’'s most recesuai quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the cafan annual report) that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, tfegistrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) angave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial reporting, the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registeantiard of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal corvel financial reporting which are reasonably lijke
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to regqutbcess, summarize and report financial inforamtand

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/sl Jon P. Stonehou
Jon P. Stonehout
Chief Executive Office

Date: March 2, 2015



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Thomas R. Staab Il, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fBioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to make thenséants
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthsstatements were made, not misleading with respebe period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preskint¢his report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as definétkahange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootrel financial reporting (as defined in Exchangg Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registramil have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedureaused such disclosure controls and procedartes designed under our supervision, to ensate th
material information relating to the registranglirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtowus by others within those entities, partidylduring the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financigbréing, or caused such internal control over feiahreporting to be designed under our supervigion
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réjabilfinancial reporting and the preparation wfancial statements for external purposes in aeoure with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati§slosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about the effectiverefghe
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étiteeriod covered by this report based on swekuation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtat occurred during the registrant's most recesuli quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the cafan annual report) that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, tfegistrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) angave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial reporting, the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registeantiard of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material wealg®es in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting which are reasonably lijke
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to regqutbcess, summarize and report financial inforamgtand

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/sl Thomas R. Staab

Thomas R. Staab

Chief Financial Officer and Treasul
(Principal Financial Officer

Date: March 2, 2015



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of BioCryst&Rhaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Ktfee period ending December 31, 2014 as filed thieh
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dat®hghe “Report”), I, Jon P. Stonehouse, Chief Exe Officer of the Company, certify, pursuantl®U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sasb@rkey Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knadge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExdeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ Jon P. Stonehou

Jon P. Stonehout
Chief Executive Officer

March 2, 2015

This certification is furnished with this Report Borm 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb&dsy Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the ektequired
by such Act, be deemed filed by the Company foppses of Section 18 of the Securities ExchangeoAt834, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Suchifuation
will not be deemed to be incorporated by referénteany filing under the Securities Act of 1938,aanended, or the Exchange Act, except to the etttanthe
Company specifically incorporates it by reference.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of BioCryst&Rhaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Ktfee period ending December 31, 2014 as filed thieh
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dat®hghe “Report”), |, Thomas R. Staab, Il, Chieh&ncial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuanii8 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sasb@rkey Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knadge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExdeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the Company.
/sl Thomas R. Staab
Thomas R. Staab |

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 2, 2015

This certification is furnished with this Report Borm 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbadsy Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extequired
by such Act, be deemed filed by the Company foppses of Section 18 of the Securities ExchangeoAt834, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Suchfstion
will not be deemed to be incorporated by referént®any filing under the Securities Act of 1938,aanended, or the Exchange Act, except to the etttanthe
Company specifically incorporates it by reference.



